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Highlights
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76.0m

Revenue
2021: £63.1m

9.3m

Adjusted operating profit’
2021: £4.7m

(59)m

Statutory operating loss
2021: £(5.1)m

Statutory loss before tax
2021: £(5.79)m

8.0m

Adjusted profit before tax’
2021: £46.m

Ap

Adjusted earnings per share'
2021: 2.7p

£
£
£
£(7.2)m
£
5
(

6.9)p

Statutory loss per share
2021: (8.5)p

1.

Revenuve increased by £12.2 million (20%) to £76.0 million and
organicolly by £5.7 million (9%}

Adjusted operating profit increased by 98% to £9.3 million

Adjusted operating prefit margin increased by 5 percentage peints
to12%

Acquisitiens in the period contributed revenue of £6.8 million

Statutory operating loss increased by £0.8 million to £5.9 million
(2021: £5.1 million) us a result of the increased level of highlighted
itemsup by £61m

Highlighted iterns include accruals in the period of £7.9 million
towards the contingent consideration for the acquisition of Chgital
Decisions BV of £15.8 million, payable in 2023 (based on its strong
performance in 2021 and 2022}

Net debt of £9.1 million: cash balances of £12.4 million and bank
borrowings of £21.5 million as at 31 December 2022 with undrawn
benk facilities of £8.5 million

Statutory cash flow from operations of £1.2 million
(2027: £8.7 million)

Adjusted cash flow from aperations of £6.2 million
{2021: £13.2 million), representing cash conversion of 67%

In the reporting of financial Information, the Directors have adopted various alternative
performance measures (APMs"). Details of their calculotion are set aut on page 144
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At a glance

Whoe we @are

Ebiquity is the world leader
in media investment analysis

Ebiquity’s purpose is simple

We exist to help brand owners increase returns
from their media investments and so improve
business performance

Corporate governance Financial statements

Our vision

Creating a Better
Media World, Together

Ovur values

%O+ Collaboration.

@I Creativity.

D Clarity.
@ Courage.
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In numbers

One
Ebiquity

Ebiquity operates in 18 markets
globally, representing 80% of the
world's media investments.

This means that we are best
placed to advise multinational
brand owners.

The Company has more than
600 media speciclists. We have
the largest pool of dedicated
media professionals outside
the agency groups.

10

markets analysed
annually

Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements

US$100bn | 80%

of global advertising
market covered

media spend and
contract value
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Chair's

(1]
statement

The Group is reporting

a strong performance with revenue,
adjusted operating profit and
adjusted profit margins all increasing

During 2022, we have szen the benefits
resulting from our strategy of refocusing
the business and of the transformation
programme under way in our products,
management, operational processes and
technology platform. As a result, the
Group is reporting a strong performance
with revenue, adjusted operating profit
and adjusted profit margins all increasing
significantly compared to 2021,

This reflects good organic revenue growth
of 9% as well as the contribution from the
three acquisitions made in the year.

significantly compared to 2021."

This performance has been achieved despite evident
challenges in the political and economic environment
affecting our clients, many of whose businesses operate
gtobally, including the impact of the war in Ukraine and the
recent rapid increase in inflation in most economies.

The Group's statutory operating loss increased to £5.9 miflion.
This is impocted by highlighted items of £15.2 million, a
number of which will not recur in future periads.

We are also announcing today that Alan Newman, our

Chief Financial and Operating Officer, will be retiring at the
end of June, Our search for his replacement is well advonzed
and we will provide an update on this in due course. | should
like to take the opportunity, on behalf of myself and the
Board, to thank Alan for his hard work and commitment to
the Group over the past four veors. He has made a significant
contribution to the successful development and repesiticning
of aur business during that time. We wish him all the best for
the future.

On behalf of the Board, | would also like to thank all of cur
employees for their hard work, creativity and commitment
this year. In recogniticn of the cost of living challenges faced
by our staff, the Group was pleased to make a one-off
payment in October to support those who were more in need.
Although the impect of the Covid pandemic generally reduced
this year, we note that aur staff and business in China
continued to experience disruptions.

Itis pleasing to report that Digital Decisions, which we
acquired as an early stage start-up in 2020, has more than
met expectations over the last three years, both in
spearheading the development of our Digital Media Solutions
business line and in the revenue and profit contribution it has
delivered to the Group.

During the year we made three acquisitions: Media Path
Network, o global business based in Europe; Media
Management LLC {'MMi"} in the USA and our external partner
in Canada, Forde and Semple. The integration of these
acquisitions is progressing well. They are already helping to
transform our business and have increased our global scale
and client coverage in key markets, as well as enhancing our
earnings. As set out in our strategy, we will continue to explore
opportunities to build further capability in key media markets.
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Chair’s statement ontinved

The divestment of our sharehelcing in the Russian business,
as previously anncunced, is in process, although it remains
subject to Russian government approval.

As aleading global provider of media investment analysis,
Ebiquity continues to ensure that it supports the needs of
advertisers in novigating the fast-changing media landscape.
Ebiquity's core strengths includs cur media expertise,
independence and akility to develop innovative products as
new media channels emerge. W2 deploy these through cur
international network, now present in 18 countries and our
tearn of media specialists located across it, both of which are
unmatched in our sector. We recagnise thot our growth also
depends on our ability to deepen relationships with existing
chents and to win new mandates on the strength of our
offering. Our teom's focus on improving the manogement of
key client relationships has cont-ibuted to our successful
growth in the post year.

During the year, we have continued on ocur ESG journey.

We have measured our Scope 1-3 consumption across cur top
six markets (81% of our business) and from this we identified
the major areas to address. As expected for o professional
services company, our consumption is dominated by Scopz 3
emissions, which account for over $0% of cur total emissions.
The key categories are purchased goods and services, fuel and
energy related activities, waste generation and travel. Actions
being taken to reduce our consumption include having a
hybrid working policy, guidence for business travel and
analysis of our supply chain, During 2023 we will begin
planning our pathway te net zero and prepare to report
under the new UK regulations on climate-related disclosure in
2024,

Corporate governance Financial statements

Ebiquity's market oppertunity within the glebal advertising
market is huge as digital advertising continues to develop fast
and our clients face increasingly complex challenges in
managing their advertising investments. We have a clear
strateqy for capitalising on this opportunity and enhancing
our leadership position. Qur results this year demonstrate our
management team's ability to deliver growth and to improve
profrtability. They have a comprehensive plan for further
improving margins over the medium term through process
efficiency, use of our technology platforms and deployment of
resources in line with cur global scale. While ensuring we
deliver organic growth, we will also consider opportunities to
make further acquisitions thot benefit our business.

The Board and | remain confident that Ebiquity is well placed
to deliver growth and value to our shareholders.

Rob Woodward
Chair

30 March 2023
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Chief Executive
Officer's review

Unique market position

Ebiquity's purpose is simple. We exist to
help brand owners increase returns from
their media investments and so improve
business performance. We do this by
analysing billions of dollars of advertising
spend globally, as well as trillions of
advertising impressions, Using this
intelligence, we provide independent,
fact-based advice which enables brands to
drive efficiency and increase effectiveness.
Our work helps to eliminate wasteful
advertising spend and to create value,

Strategic report

00
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We have delivered a strong
performance in 2022 and

made significant progress
against our strategic objectives
and target operating metrics.”

As the world leader in medio investment analysis, we count
aver 70 of the world's top 100 advertisers as cur clients.

We are entirely independent of the media supply chain, which
enables us to provide clients with objective, unbiased advice.
We do this through our global network of aver 600 media
specialists based in 18 countries, which covers some 80% of
the world's advertising spend.

We operate in a very large global advertising market, which

is worth over US$230 billion per year (Source: eMarketer). We
analyse ¢.US$100 billion of global media investment and
contract value annually, including mere than o trillion digital
media impressions. Some two-thirds of this is spent thraugh
digrtal media channels.

A year of delivery

| am very pleased with our performance during the year.

We are delivering effectively against our four key strategic
objectives which are to: develep higher value strategic
relationships with more clients; develop productised solutions
for the digital market; improve operating efficiency; and
increase scale in the USA and Asia Pacific. As a result, we
have delivered g strong revenue performance up 20% to

£76 millien, and vp organically by 9%, with adjusted operating
profit almost doubled to £9.3 million. It is porticularly pleasing
that we have also seen a strong adjusted profit margin
improvement from 7% in FY21 10 12% in FY22, especially as
this wos achieved within a challenging economic environment.

Cur performance reflected a good contribution from our
largest Service Line, Media Performance, where revenue grew
by 33%, benefiting from our three acquisitions during the year
and the growth of Digital Media Sclutions within it. Contract
Compliance wos the standout organic performer with 25%
revenue growth. Marketing Effectivenass was flat yeor on
year but its profitability improved, reflecting strong discipline
in declining several large but unprofitable renewals.
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Chief Executive Officer's review contined

A year of delivery continuad

Media Managzement had a more challenging year with
revenue decl ning by 6%, reflecting lower agency selection
activity in the market compared to the post-pandemic
“surge” year of 2021, During the year, Tech Advisory, cur
smallest Service Line, became part of Media Management
within which it is @ mare naturcl fit.

Acquisitions driving growth

We made two transformative acquisitions in 2022: Media
Management LLC ('MMi} in thz USA and Medio Path
Network AB ('Media Path") in Europe. The US acquisition has
enabled us to more than doubls cur size in the world's biggest
advertising market and significantly increased our
penetration of large US advertisers. With the acquisition of
Media Path we have a globally distributed business managed
from Sweden, operating a high quality technology platform,
which is providing us with an effective base from which to
drive greater efficiency in the delivery of our services

Group wide. We have made gcod progress in integrating
these businesses, having successfully started the process of
transitioning client work to the GMP365 technology platform.
We also del vered synergy ben=fits in the vear in line with our
stated goal of achieving £5 mil ion annualised benefits by
2025 Importantly, beth acquisitions have contributed
positively to these results. In addition, we also made the
small, tactizal acquisition of Ford & Semple {(now renamed
Ebiquity Ccnoda) to provide us with further scale in North
America. As part of accelerating cur growth we will continue
to identify svitable acquisitior opportunities.

Product innovation driving growth

One of the key drivers of our growth has been the
development of innovative Digital Media Solutions that meet
client needs. We now have seven preductised Digital Media
Solutions in the market, with the global Digital Governance
programme representing the core soluticn to which other
products are often added. The demand for these products
has enabled us to increase DMS revenue by 76% to £6.5
million (2027: £3.7 million) and to deliver a margin of over
50%. Underpinning this performance are the major strides we
have made against the target operational metrics we set
ourselves (see table below). 55 clients now buy ane or more
Digitol Media Solutions, up from 28 last year, and we are
ahead of expectations in terms of the deep pool of data we
are able to analyse. This now covers 1.4 trillion digital media
impressions worth US$6.6 billion annually. The number o°
markets to which cur analysis extends now stands at 91, up
from B7 last yeor, further demonstrating our ability to provide
visibility and advice to the largest global advertisers acress
the entire geographical breadth of their cperations. Cur most
recent new product development is a solution for Advanced
Television, which is in o pilot stage in the USA and we also
have ¢ Retail Media solution under development.

Corporate governance Financial statements

One of the main products that we developed during the year
was a Responsible Media Investment solution which supports
advertisers in their efforts to improve governance of their
media investments. It provides clients with visibility on
whether their media spend is funding bad actors, namely
publishers guilty of distributing disinformation or intellectual
property theft, promoting hate speech, or aiding "Made for
Advertising” websites that siphon off media investment
without providing any value to the brand owner. This is not
only an important landscape for our clients to navigate
carefully, but also one where we want to play an active role in
providing o solution. We have therefore become a signatory
to the EU Code of Practice on Disinformation and are
supporting the EU ond its member states in reducing funding
of disinformation.

In this spirit, we have also continued to lead our market in
thought leadership, shaping industry debate on major topics
and responding to market events. One of the major initiatives
we undertock was to produce our first study using Scope3
dato to measure the CO, impact of digital advertising.

In "The Hidden Cost of Digital Advertising” we found that a
sample of 116 billion impressions from U5$375 miltion spend
across 43 advertisers in 11 markets generated 77,826 metric
tonnes of CO, - an average of 670 grammes per 1,000
impressicns - the equivalent of flying ¢.1.35 mithon passengers
from London to Paris.
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continved

Product innovation driving growth continued

This quantum of CO, emissions would teke 3.7 million trees a year to absorb. As a result of this study, we have introduced o new metric CO,PM (grams of CO, equivalents per 1,000 impressions)
which we believe should be cdopzed immediately by the industry as a core metric to influence decision making and lead technology and media partners to optimise their practices to increase
sustainability.

Operational metrics
Underpinning this year's performance are the major strides we have made against the target operational metrics as shown in the table below.

Table 1: Operational metrics

Baoseline 20 2012

Key Performance Indicator 2020 actual actual
10 28 55

o1 0.6 14

“““ 05 30 Y

s a7 91

.................... 58 R 76 .. o.u

........................ % 9% 32%
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Chief Executive Officer's review cntinved

Performance review

With a strategic focus on accelerating growth in North America and Asia Pacific, we are
prowiding segmental reporting £y geography as o more appropriate reflection of the woy
that the Group is now managec.

The three aequisitions have addad further scale to Media Performance, our largest Service
Line. Tech Advisory, the smallest Service Line, has now been incorporated inte the Media
Management Service Line. We will therefere deliver our of fering through four Service Line -
Media Management, Media Performance, Marketing Effectiveness, and Contract Compliance
- across four geographic business units of North America, UK & Ireland, Continental Europe
and Asia Pacific. The revenue from each gecgraphic segment and Service Line is shown in the
tables below, as is the adjusted operating profit of each segment.

Revenue by segment

Revenue

Fy22 FY21 Variance Variance
Segment £m £m Em %
UK & Ireland 3.5 32.3 .8 (3%
Continental Evrope ne 74 - 2%
North America 13.3 56 77 138%
APAC ‘ 93 79 g 18%
Total 76.0 631 12.9 20%

Revenue in North America morz than doubled in 2022. This wos due to the contributians from
MMi and Canada as well as orcanic growth of 73% delivered in line with our plans, including
successful expansion of Digital Media Solutions and Contract Compliance services among US
clients. European revenue grew by 26%, including Media Path, and erganically by 6%. Within
the region the best performers were France and Spain, which grew by 46% and 14%
respectively. APAC revenue cortinued te grow well at 18%, with our Singapore unit up by 8C%,
reflecting new business wins a nong regionally based clients and China up by 11%, despite the
challenges posed by extended ock down periods. In UK & Ireland, cur largest and most mature
region, revenue from UK domestic medic work increased by 6%, although revenue from
international projects fell by 13% in part due to lower global agency pitch activity among its
clients.

Revenue by Service Line

Revenue

Fy22 Fy21 Variance Variance
Service Line £m £m £m %
Media Performance 379 12.4 33%
Medio Manogement 86 (05 %)
Wo:ﬂonn Comp .,m.:n o o 7.6 I &1 I 1.5 o 25%
Marketing Effectiveness 83 83 - -
+.mn;:o_o.m.u..v.\..%m.,.\.._.m.o® ................ 7 2.2 AOmv . Qm@mu
Total 76.0 631 12.9 20%

QOur Media Performance Service Line helps clients to assess and optimise their medio buying
performance through services such as savings tracking, benchmarking and Digital Media
Solutions. This was already our largest service and was boosted by the three acquisitions
made in 2022, most of whose revenue arises from this area. Within this, Digital Media
Solutions grew by 76%, with the core digital governance monitoring solution acceunting for
60% of the total, while rew solutions (such as Responsible Media investment and Digital Value
Index} launched over the past two years have alsc grown fast.

Revenue from Media Management services, which includes agency selection advice, fell by 6%
due largely to the reduction in agency tendering activity by advertisers comparad to 2021,
which had been a very active year. We retained a high market share of global tenders run in
the market. Contract Complience service revenue increased by 25% reflecting in particular the
success of initigtives to win new clients in North America (where revenue was up by 259%) with
China and India clsc growing well.

Our Marketing Effectiveness service uses advanced analytics to help clients to optimise their
media plans and improve returns on investment from their media spend. Revenue from this
was staotic in the year. This reflected a focus on improving margins through more robust pricing
which has led to a more profitable mix of clients, including several significant wins in the year.

Within Technology Adviscry, the 23% decrease in revenue was due in part to the integration of
the UK AdTech service within other areas and to o 7% reduction in Digital Balance, based in
Australia, which optimises website performaonce. From 2023 onwards, this will ne longer be a
separate segment.



11 Ebiquity ple Strategic report

Annua report and fingncial szatermments for the year ended 31 December 2022

Chief Executive Officer’'s review continved

Performance review conzinued
Adjusted operating profit by segment

Adjusted operating profit

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Adjusted operoting profit margin

FY22 F21 Vanance Variance

£m im Em %
UK & Ireland 6.6 Al (0.5 {6%) 21% 22%
,.D,O:::mzwo_ Europe . S S o.b NL ) Mw mwo\a wo.x.‘ 24%
NorthAmerca S o3 ©.6 s = 7% (%
APAC a S - ‘ | ._0 Om ,. ._._ wO% N“,o,\o, N%
mmnm..g_u_m u.m@ﬁym‘rn‘m‘ . Jmo ,,,,,,,,, .:b _»m ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, % u.__xu ._mQ.o
Unliocated s ®.7) 0.2 3% )% anw
Total 9.3 4.7 4.6 8% 12% 7%

UK & Irelanc remained our highest profit generating region, reflecting its size, although its operating profit and margin fell slightly reflecting its revenue performance. Continental Europe

increased both its operating profit (by 63%) and margin (by six percentage points) significantly in the year due in part to the contribution from Media Path as well as to increased profitability
in France, Spain and Italy, refle:ting revenue gains and efficiency improvements, As planned, North America successfully completed the turnaround into becoming o profitable region due in
part to the MMi acquisition anc delivery of initial synergy benefits as well as revenue growth in the existing business. APAC's 42% growth in operating profit and almost doubling of the margin
reflects its revenue performan:ze and focus an winning hrgher value clients, Central (uncllocated) costs reduced slightly in the year due in part to tight cost management and to the benefit of
realised foreign exchange gains which are accounted for centrally. The reduction in the percentage of Group revenue that these costs represent also indicates the scale benefits resuiting from

the expansion of our operations in the past year.
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Business model

Driven by: How we advise our clients: Ovur strategic focus:
Qur purpose: ]

To help brand owners ncrease of ~ Media management

returns from their media « Optimising media models, processes, data and o:m:.ﬂm

investments and so ﬂ_ﬂv-.Of.m e technology strategies to achieve business objectives

business performance.

Read more on page 15

\/\, Media performance

Qur vision: Greater transparency, governance, efficiency, N
] ] and accountability of media investments
Creating a Better Media o Product
<<_O-._n_h ._-Omm.—..—qmﬂ. .-o- Read more on page 15
Qur values: QU_DC_q
3
> U Collaboration. .
Operational
g . s -o- . e
> @ Creativity, . Marketing effectiveness efficiency

Attribute, forecast and optimise
investments to increase business
cutcomes and RO1

Read more on page 16

> A Clarity.

> @ Courage.
4

Contract Compliance Geographic
Ensure financial and service delivery Qm<m_0_0303.n

compliance as contractually agreed.
Returning value owed

EIYYI Y YY YR YY)

I
N

Read more on page 16
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mcmmsmmm —.—.—onm_ continued

Ovur assets:

The Ebiquity brand

Ebiquity has positioned itself as a trusted
Uahgmﬁw_: :cﬂmoﬂ:@ ﬂJMOjo__mjawm and UQ.”Q Q—-—Q ﬁ@ﬂ::O—OQ% m&—:n.&mm*

oppertunities of the media landscape.

The Ebiquity brang has estoblishad a strong mo vma- m—ansc_n—- BQOQ eva _CQ.ﬂmos .ﬂ—-— —..ocm—-

reputation for excellence and integrity within .
the complex and dynamic media market, nc.ﬂ.ﬂ—sm m&mm Qﬂ—.ﬂn Q:Q .ﬂmn: :o-om*
earning respect frorn both clients and
agencies alike. This is o testament to the
guality of its work, the value of its insights,
and the professionalism and eth cal
standards of its people.

We have invested heavily in our data capabilities to create ¢ state of the art infrostructure

Standardised and highly automated dato processes minimise disruption to our customers and
the media agencies, to focus on driving improvement

Timely date insights readily available to oll parties, create transparency and enable timely

Clients course corrections
Mare than 70 of the world's top 100 Full data ownership, maintained for our customers in a highly secured environment creates
advertisers choose Ebiquity as a trusted peace of mind

independent media odviser.

Data Other Ebiquity

o ] ) data points
The combination of clients and markets gives

the Company access to large quantities of

media data. The Group analysed over Digital Media Solutions

US$6.6 billion of digital media rvestment and Data partners eg
1.4 trillion impressions in 2022,

Centrally Accessible
People Media Data Vault

600 media specialists.
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mcmmsmmm BOQQ— continued

Why advertisers choose Ebiquity:

Independence

Ebiquity is one of very few partic pants in the media
market with ro vested commerc al interests in any part
of the supply chain. This ensures advertisers can depend
on our advice being fully objectiva.

Comprehensive range of products

In 2022, the Company further developed its comprehensive
range of digital solutions te help advertisers achieve

therr digital media goals with maximum efficiency

and effectiveness. Cur highly scalable, profitable, and
best-in-class digital solutions have been proven te eliminate
waste and craate value in our cliznts’ investrments.

Geographic distribution
Ebiquity is present in 18 market: globally, representing
80% of the world's media investments.

Value created for clients
In 2022, we identified 27% of va ue improvement for our
chents, wort1 more than US$1 billion in digital spend.

07z

Strategic report Corporate governance

Value generated for:

Shareholders
Deliver consistent financial performance, aligning corporate strategy with
shareholder expectations and ensuring long-term sustainability.

Customers

Provide high quality products and services that meet clients' needs and exceed
their expectations, detivering exceptional customer service and maintaining
strong custemer relationships.

Employees

Gffer a culture of learning and development thot fosters creativity, innovation,
and a sense of purpose. Promate diversity, equality and inclusion leading to
greater engagement and productivity.

Partners
Build strong relationships with local and global associations that promote
collabaration, mutual benefit, and long-term success.

Communities
Contribute to the wellbeing of the local communities in which we operate,
through social ond environmental initiatives.

Environment

Commitment to sustoinable business practices that reduce environmentol
impact. Implement green initiatives and sustainable practices to minimise
negative impact ana reduce carbon footprint,

Financial statements-
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Strategy

.
Clients

In 2022, the Group expanded the number of high value strotegic clients te
28 and achieved 20% growth from this set. This was driven by serving more
clients (+13%) and increasing the average revenue per client (+7%), with

97 clients buying two or more Service Lines, compared to 76 in 2021,

2022 progress:

}» Expanded the number of high value strategic clients to 28
} Major new assignments won including Shell, HSBC, Philips and PepsiCo

» Number of clients buying two or more Service Lines up to 97

Future objectives:
} Create a technology suppo “ted sales enablement programme

} Increase revenue growth rate from high value strategic clients

Strategic report

Corporate governance Financial staterments

2
Product

The Group further developed its comprehensive range of digital solutions to
help advertisers achieve their digital media goals with maximum efficiency
and effectiveness. 2022 marked the launch of the first-in-market Advanced
TV solution in the US market and of the Responsible Media Investment
solution, which supports advertisers in improving governance of their
medio investments,

2022 progress:
} Strong growth of high margin digital media solutions
} Deployment of first-in-market Advanced TV solution in the USA

)} US$6.6 billion digital media spend analysed - 1.4 trillicn impressions in media data
voult — 55 clients buying digital media solutions ocross 91 countries

Future objectives:
Y} Deploy two new solutions: Retail Media and Measurement of Carbon Emissions
from digital advertising
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m.—u—..Q.HmQK continved

3 4
Operational efficiency Geographic development

The Group reduced production costs in the yeor by 4%, through lower use of The Group continues to increase scale in the USA and Asia Pacific while
external partners and reduction in third party data costs. The established maintaining growth in Europe. Both priority regions delivered strong
Media Operations Centre in Madrid continued to deliver economies of scale, performances in 2022, with Asia Pacific being the fastest growing

with 20% more productive hours delivered in 2022 due to further transfer of region organically.

work from market units. As a result of the Media Path acquisitions, Media
Performance and Media Management projects have begun to migrate to the
GMP365 platform, supporting delivery of planned efficiency gains through
increased use of automation.

2022 progress: 2022 progress:
} Media Path has brought a high quality data monagement platform (GMP365) to } North America revenue up 138% (including MM acquisition) and 73% organically
the Graup, which enhances our operating efficiency ) Asia Pacific grew revenue by 18%, including 80% revenue growth in South-East
) Clarified offering through four Service Lines Asia unit
Y Increased use of automation and reduced production costs } Continental Europe revenue up by 26% (including Media Path acquisition) and 6%
organically; stand out performance in France with 46% revenue and 28% profit
growth

) UK &lrefand remains largest unit in revenye terms

Future objectives: Future objectives:
) Transizion more work ontc GMP365 platform }» Continue to accelerate growth in North America and Asia Pacific while maintaining

Y Build on success of Media Operations shared service model and develop globally market leading position in Europe

manasged delivery functios
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Strategic report

Key performance indicators

No. of clients buying one or more products
from the new digital portfolio

2021

Baseline

No. of countries served
with new digital produc:s

91

2022
2021

Baseline

Volume of digital advertising monitored
{trillions of impressions)

1.4

2022
2021

Baseline

No. of clients buying two
or more Services Lines

97

2022
2021

Baseline

Corporate governance Financial statements

Value of digital advertising monitored
(billions of spend US$bn)

6.6

2022

on

Baseline

% of revenue from
digital services

32

2022
2021

Baseline




18 Ebiquity ple
Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic report

Creating the model

00
for long-term success

Corporate governance Financial statements

Transforming to a data driven

and insight led approach.”

As previously reported, going into 2022 we expanded our
universe of high value strategic clients manoged by a named
global leader to 28 and we continued to drive growth from
this set. This was achieved by having a good understanding
of the challenges globally scaled advertisers face within the
complex and dynamic medic ecosystem and delivering
appropriate solutions. Examples include providing

contract compliance services to Vodafone, supporting JLR
in re-evaluating their media operating model and agency
partnerships to reflect their focus on the luxury automotive
sector and praviding digita! media solutions to HSBC.

Qur 20% growth across the year was
driven both by serving more clients (+13%)
and increasing the average revenue per
client (+7%}). This success was fuelled by
the continued commitmzant to strategic
management of our high value clients, the
relevance of our proposition locally and of
course the acquisitions of MMi and

Media Path. These factcrs have informed a
more developed medium-term strategy for
sales enaklement at scale across the
Ebiquity Group, which will transform us
from a technical/product led sales team to
a data driven and insight led approach.

The relevance of our offering to local as well s global
odvertisers was demonstrated by the addition of multiple
substantial new clients in each of the USA (eg
Georgia-Pacific, Best Buy), Europe (eg Philips, Bosch)

and APAC (eg Foxtel, Colgate-Palmolive). Our strategy of
actively boaking ta increase chents buying twe or more Service
Lines also drives the local revenues, given the 3.5 revenue
multiplier we see on average when clients move to a
multi-solution engagement.

The acquisitions of MMi and Media Path both brought new
clients such as ABInBev and Disney into the portfelio and
strengthened relationships with the likes of GM and
Beiersdorf who had previously purchased services from
both Ebiquity and the newly acquired entities. This further
highlighted the potential for geographic expansion with
some globally distributed clients who may not work with us
in all regions which has informed our 2023 account planning.

In 2022 we appointed our first Group Revenue and Growth
Officer with a remit to create a technology facilitated sales
enablement programme, scaling best practice with ease

and speed across all our Client Engagements globaily.

The ngour and management we have been applying to our
high value strategic clients will now be bought to bear across
the entire client base. This approach is being rolled out acress
2023 with the expectation that this will be o key driver of

our future suecess.

Mark Gay
Chief Client Officer
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Case study 01

Strategic report

Maximising media investment

returns for

Client
objectives

Te create a best in class global media
operaticn, delivering high quality media
schedules while maintaining amb tious
savings targezs. Positive management
of thewr media partners seizing tre
opportunity t> secure efficiency and

effectiveness across all investmets via:

> Identifying the right media partners
for their business

> Competitive contractual
commitments

» Governcnce to drive quality ot
trading, wnile reolising cost benefits

» Best practice ways of working

> Strong media copability to stoy
aheod of competitors

> Recognising the growing
importance of digital with a “ocus
on a transformation to
a digital-first operation.

JLR

10+ years of
partnership

Throughout aur partnership, we have
effectively impiemented a range of
expert solutions - providing:

» Hands-on consultancy and pitch
management for the gichal, regional
ond focal teams

> Design and management of best
practice productivity measurement
framework

» Structured governance to ensure the
highest quality of trading and
maximise value

> Advanced analytics to attribute
sales and drive business outcomes

> Controct complionce to increase
efficiency and recoup tongible cost
savings

> Forensic channel deep-dives to
maximise ROI

> Expert capability assessments to
strengthen media operations

Business
impact

We are o proud, long-standing
strategic partner with 10+ years
experience working as an extension of
their media team to maintain a best in
cluss operation, ensure cantinucus
improvement and maximise the
returns from media investments.
Together, we have realised:

> A bestin class media model and
operation

> Competitive commitments on cost
quality and hygiene measures — new
contract framework

> Over US$300 million in tangible
value

> Strong relationships with the media
partners

> Accelerated the digital
transformation by driving digital
exceilence in both operating model
and performance

Corporate governance Financial statements

>US$300m

tangible value realised
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Product
strategy

2022 has been another year of rapid
growth in our highly scalable and
profitable digital media solutions.

We launched further innovative solutions
such as Advanced TV assessments, to
help our clients respond to the continuing
changes in digital media which will
support future revenue growth,

Strategic report

a4
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Revenues from the portfolio of
new digital solutions have
guadrupled compared with 2020."

Qur success is due to our unwavering commitment to
innovation and customer-centricity. In Q4 2022, we launched
our first-in-market Advanced TV solution in the US market
with selected clients, which has been met with strong
support. This new solution is designed to provide our clients
with the most comprehensive and accurate data available
for Advanced TV advertising, enabling them to make better
informed decisions and optimise their advertising spend in
this critical emerging channel. We are excited about its
potential to drive further growth and profitability for

our business.

We have also continued to expand our global data
partnerships, now counting 18 in total across a wide breadth
of topics, which has helped us to uncover even more value
oppertunities for our clients. Our data partnerships have
enabled us to access unique and valucble data sets, which we
have levercged to provide our clients with deeper insights and
more accurate measurement. As aresult, our clients and their
agencies have been able to make better informed decisions,
optimise their media investments, and achieve their

business objectives.

Looking ahead to 2023, we are excited to apply cur primary
focus on two new solutions: Retail Media and Media Emissions
Measurement. Our Retail Media solution will enable our
clients to capitalise on the growing trend of retaiters
launching their own digitel media networks.

This solution will provide our clients with the tools they need
to properly measure their Retail Media investments ond the
incremental RO, enabling them to reach their target
audiences more effectively and efficiently.

In addition, we will globally deploy our Medio Emissions
Measurement solution, which will provide our clients with

a comprehensive understanding of their carbon footprint
acress media channels. This solution will enable our clients to
measure, manage, and reduce their carbon emissions, while
also providing them with o competitive advantage in an
increasingly envirenmentally conscious market.

In conciusion, 2022 has been another outstanding yeor for
Ebiquity’s Digital Media Solutions. Our continued fast growth,
the launch of owr first-in-roarket Advanced TV assessment
solution, the rapid expansion of our global data partnerships,
and the increasing amount of velue opportunities uncovered
for our clients, have all contributed to our success. We are
confident that our focus on innovation and customer-centricity
will continue to drive growth and profitability for our business
in the years to come.

Ruben Schreurs
Group Chief Product Officer
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Case study 02

Strategic report

Increasing global visibility,
while driving best practice
and value improvement locally

Client
objectives

As a globally distributed cdvertiser,
Perfetti van Melle was locking to
increase visiility of their digital media
buying across markets, increas=
transparency, and improve the quality
of media and trading by reducing
digital wastage.

The Perfetti teams set cut to crectea
structured ¢overnance prograrmme
across markets and business units -
designed to create accountabil ty, and
maximise the value of digital
investments,

Ebiquity
approach

The programme initially launched in
2021 across five key markets - now
expanded to 16 markets in 2022,

As strategic partner to Perfetti, we
support the media team through;

¥ Design, roll~out and management of
rutes-based Golden Principles for
best practice trading (value levers)
- used to structurally analyse digital
performance and identify the issue
areas that are driving woste

2> Create a robust dato and insights
infrastructure to provide timely and
independently validated visibility of
delivery and performance across
markets

> Actionable insights in digital
performance, quantified
recommendations for value
improvernent and tracking of
reglised efficiency

Business
impact

Perfetti van Melle's Governance
Programme creates transparency into
the buying proctices across markets,
and increases the returns from media
investments.

In 2022, we helped Perfetti realise up
to 53% of their 2021 value opportunity
across markets through close
collaboration and effective change
manqagement,

This year, we expanded the programme
across 16 markets to further increase
accountability and drive value,

We continue to work closely with the
Perfetti teams and agencies to
maintain ¢ robust source of truth for
their digital trading practices, helping
thern eliminate waste and drive further
value globatly.

Corporate governance

global value
opportunity in 2021

Financial statements

up to

realised across
markets in 2022
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Evurope

Ebiquity was well placed to help clients
meet the challenges posed by media
inflation. the efficiency and effectiveness
of media spends, right sizing investment
levels and finding the optimal media
partners. This involved leveraging the right
technologies and adjusting communication
strategies, enabling clients to respond
more effectively to the fragmenting media
consumption behavioLrs of consumers.

Strategic report

04
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The European and UK media
markets remained stable in 2022
despite a challenging economic
environment.”

The region performed very well, both in terms of renewals
with key clients ond wirning new business. Our client roster
continues to be impressive and diverse, working with leading
global and local brand owners. Qur top 20 clients cover
Telecommunications, Automotive, Beauty, FMCG and Retail
sectors.

Our business units in France, {taly, Spain and UK delivered
strong performances with double-digit operating profit
increases aver 2021, Improved business performance has been
bolstered by significant increases in the sales of our digital
media solutions. The sales perfermance of offline media
solutions proved resilient during the year, supported by the
lounch of Panorama in March 2022 which transformed and
updated our media auditing service into a forward facing,
strategic business tool. It integrates leading thinking in both
medio and marketing effectiveness from across the media
ecosystem.

It has also been a notewarthy year for media agency pitches.
Advertisers are requiring even greater strategic thinking,
digital and technology capabilities, in addition to cost
optimisation. As a result, Ebiguity was well positioned to
benefit from the 15% increase in the number of agency pitch
engagements across the European region during the year.

We see continued opportunities for growth in the region
during 2023, driven by the promotion of our digital suite of
services, marketing effectiveness offering and the
acceleration of operational efficiencies via automation and
streamlined processes.

Nick Pugh

Managing Director - Europe
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Case study 03

Strategic report

Increasing Marketing Effectiveness
across the Virgin Media

Client
objectives

Following tha merger of Virgin Media
and O2 in June 2021 to create the UK's
largest telecoms challenger, the
business wanted to increase marketing
effectiveness and maximise RC|
across its advertising expenditure.

The company needed a robust
measurement framewaork to help
inform and support decision-making
across the b ssiness.

Ebiquity
approach

Ebiquity's effectiveness team
established a suite of economaetric
models which were used to identify
and measure the incremental value of
each of the investment levers that
VMO2 hos ot its disposal. Ebiquity
works closely with VMO2 and operates
as an extension of their internal
Marketing performance team to
ensure that the analytics provides
clear, actionable insight to
decision-makers in the business.

O2 portfolio

Business
impact

Our analysis wos not only able to
measure the ROI of advertising
investment but also the factors that
drive ef fectiveness and efficiency of
marketing. Despite the combined
headwinds of increasing media costs
and downward pressure on margins
due to the cost of living crisis, VMO?2
were able to achieve an increcse of 21%
in brand effectiveness and 26%
improvement in RCI across the total
investment in the Virgin Media and O2
brands one year after they merged.

"We reclly value the learnings thot Ebiguity provide with their analytics and we've seen on even
greater benefit in consolidating learmings across Virgin Media O2 through one team. We can rely
on thern to deliver clear, aczionable insight which infarms our planning process and continues to
drive improvement in med a performance, even after working with them for s¢ many years.”

Ruth Pignal-Jacquard, Head of Planning, Insight & Effectiveness at Virgin Media 02

Corporate governance

%
1%
increase in brand
effectiveness

Financial statements

6%
improvement in

overall media RO}
across the portfolio
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North America

2022 was a transformative year for
Ebiquity Morth America. A combination
of strong organic growth and earnings
enhancing acquisitions delivered a +133%
revenue increase for the year across the
region. Ebiquity now works with many of
the region’s leading advertisers, including
19 of the 25 largest spending US
companies, as well as top Canadian
brands, Qur core focus remains providing
independent media investment analysis
and actionable insights across Television,
Digital and rapidly growing channels such
as Retail Media and Advanced TV,

Strategic report

04
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2022 was a transformative
year for North America."

North America is the world's largest market ranked by share
of global ad spend, reparted at 42% in 2022 (source:
eMarketer) and is a priority region for Ebiquity. Following the
January acquisition of Forde & Semple, Canada's leading
media audit firm, we increased our capability in the region
with the acquisition in March of Media Management Inc, t1e
largest independent US media quditor.

The fullintegration of Forde & Semple and MMi into Ebiguity,
and the focus on our regional growth and development
strategy, has established a market leading capability in
North America.

In the USA, the addition of the MMi team and the firm's
capabilities opened up new areas of service for Ebiquity as
well as adding further complementary core services, including
Locat Media, Digital and Search. MM{i's proprietary Circle
Audit technology has been incorporated into our portfolio,
enabling the analysis of 100% of client media buying data
from all major media buying platforms. The MMi team hcs
strengthened our media, technology, data visualisation and
chent engagement expertise. Thermas Bridge, founder and
CEO of MMi and a veteran of 30+ years in the US media
industry, joined the Ebiguity North America leadership team,
along with Lisa Niemeyer (Client Engagement), Mike Solomon
{Operations) and Steve Vache {Data & Technology), whao took
up key leadership rofes.

Patricia McGregor joined the Company to lead the newly
established Ebiquity Canada team, integrating the Forde &
Semple team, capabilities and client base. Our commitment
to the Canadion market paid dividends with organic client
growth and new client wins throughout the year.

Regionally we work across all sectors, with many of the
region's (and world's) largest gutomotive,
telecommunications, technology, retail, pharmaceutical,
entertainment, financial services ang CPG businesses
leveraging Ebiquity's services. Increosingly, we ore working
with US headquartered multinationgis, and providing
services across their international business through
Ebiquity’'s global network.

2023 and beyond will present challenges for our chients and
the broader market in navigating advertising and media
complexity. We feel well positioned to partner with marketers
in the year ahead, identifying areas of value cpportunity
across the estoblished media Jandscape, and developing
solutions for analysis of emerging and new media.

Paul Williamson
Managing Director, Americas
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Asia Pacific

The business expanded in all markets
within the region including Ching,
Australia, India and the rest of Asia
(via the Singapore office).

The China office continued its growth
trajectory despite the challenges posed by
the zero-Covid policy that impacted social
and economic activity for much of 2022,
Stewart Li, Managing Director, China
noted that our business continued to
expand with client wins such as Bosch,
Bosideng {premium apparel), Sony
Playstation and Johnson and Johnson.

Strategic report

ia
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In APAC, 2022 was another
strong year for organic revenue
growth at 18%."

As the second largest advertising market in the world, over
85% aof our revenue in China is from digital media and the
team continues to pioneer and evolve our services (eg
influencer analysis, ecommerce) to ensure market relevance in
a country dominated by unique media players such as Baidu,
ByteDance, Alibaba and Tencent. Marketing efforts in China
helped to raise the Ebiquity profile with the launch of a
WeChat Business Channel, Influencer white paper release and
the increase in Ebiquity opinion pieces within the trade media.

The India team, led by Sandeep Srivastava, started strongly
in 2022 by securing the high profile media and creative agency
selection project for PepsiCo. PepsiCo India is one of the most
respected and largest advertisers in tha market, thus
resulting in heightened market visibility for Ebiquity.

The PepsiCo Indio team were pleased with the work delivered,
which led to on additional project in Mexico. Other big wins
included multi-media benchmarking for Nestlé, PepsiCo and
Colgate-Palmolive, Amazon, Mondelez, Reckitt, Beiersdorf
and VISA.

The internal appointment of Senny Manduapessy to
Managing Director of South East Asiain 2022 underlines
Ebiquity's commitment to develop internally, senior talent into
leadership positions. Under Sanny's and Sandeep's leadership,
more multi-market projects were secured including Zespri
globally, Colgate-Palmolive, Johnson & Johnson, Suntory,
Singapore Tourism Board and Lindt.

The Singapore team also expanded its gecgraphical coverage
by offering clients advice in Taiwan and Hong Kong. GMP345
and our digital governance solution were leveraged on a
number of these projects. Greater avtomation and leveraging
of technolegy partnerships drove further improvement in
operational efficiency for Singapore.

We announced a change of monagement in Australia with
the arrival of llda Jamison. llda brings a strong track record in
digitol sales and will lead the transformation of the Australian
office in 2023,

While there was sorme growth in 2022 and significant wins
including Johnson & Johnson and Foxtel, 2023 will be a
transformative year for the office.

Asia Pacific has an excellent foundation to deliver further
organic growth in 2023,

Leela Nair
Managing Director = APAC
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Ebiquity's
Environmental,
Social and
Governance update

Overview

Awareness of and the desire to drive
improvements that ensure environmental
and social sustainability have never been
higher, We all have a responsibility to
continually adapt our lives, to address
what and how we consume and act. This
approach can help reverse effects from
yesterday, prevent further damage today
and ensure that we have healthy, inclusive
places to live for generations to come.

Strategic report

0l

Corporate governance Financial statements

Creating a Better Media
World, Together.”

While individuals must make themselves cccountable,
companies clearly have a mojor responsibility to act. After all,
corporations hove had and continue to have, a massive
impact on the environment and broader societal issues. So, by
incerporating the right ESG culture into a business, it is
possible to make a significant difference. As an organisation,
we at Ebiquity understand our responsibility, This is not at
odds with our business goals. In fact, ESG done well should
align positive business outcomes with both people and planet.

Qur ambition is to be an ESG leader for media and
professional services, respected inside and outside the
organisation. We want our pecple to work in a sustainable,
diverse, and safe environment. We clso strive to set standards
for the broader media industry and heve launched (ond
continue to launch) a series of ESG related products and
services to support ethical media investment decision making.
Qur vision statement "Creating a Better Media World,
Together” demonstrates our drive and ambition to the wider
media industry. This alsc applies to ESG.

Our ESG strategy is also designed to reinforce our

corporate values, We need to be collaborative to execute
our plan, be that internally with our team members or
externally with industry or local partners. We must be
coyrageaus and set eurselves challenging but achievable
goals. It is critical that we are creative to ensure our solutions
are innovative and sustainable, Alse, we need to provide
clarity if we are to be the voice of reason, underpinned by
both impartiality and integrity.

The following sections discuss our strategy in more detail.
They cover Environmental, Social and Governance issues
primarily from an internal perspective. This is followed by
our vision of how we intend to support the broader industry.
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Ebiquity’s Environmental, Social and Governance update cntinue

Environmental

Ebiquity continues its commitment to reducing its
consumption of the Earth's natural resources and to the safe
disposal and raduction of the waste we produce. While we
place significent emphasis on the werkplace and related work
based actwvities, we are also fostering a culture that informs
and encouragas all cur team members to become increasingly
aware of how the acticns and dezisions they take cutside of
the workplace have an impact tco.

Measure and review

We commissioned McGrady Clar<e to suppert us on our
journey in red ucing our consumgption of the Earth's resources.
The first key step was understanding our Scope 1-3
consumption across our top six markets — representing 81% of
our business. “rom there, we idetified our major areas of
production and consequently, key areas to address.

As expected, For a professional services company, cur
consumption is dominated by Scope 3 emissions — which
account for cver 0% cf our total emissions. Within Scope 3,
the relevant categaories are purckased goods and services,
fuel and energy related activities, waste generated in
operations, business travel and employee commuting.

To help minimise our Scope 3 emissions we are conducting
and/or implementing the following:

} Hybrid working policy: we provide all our employees with the
flexibility and choice as to where they perform their work
while also supporting our ambition of reducing office-based
energy consumption in addition to the emissions generated
by travelling to and from the office

Y Business travel guidance: only essential meetings qualify for

business travel. Otherwise, virtual platforms should be used.

Based on 2019, ie pre-pandemic data, business travel would
typically constitute ¢.20% of our carbon consumption and
addressing this is therefore a critical component of
Ebiquity's environmental strategy

) Supply chain analytics: working closely, where applicable,
with our suppliers and partners to better understand their
own environmental strategy and carbon reduction plans,
Sustainability criteria to be included in our decision making
on whether to partner with potential suppliers

We continued to measure our consumption in our moin
markets and we plan to extend this in 2023. During 2023,
we will also prepare our plan to achieve net zero and get
ready to report under the Companies (Strategic Report)
(Climate-related Financial Disclosure) Regulations 2022
next year.

Scope 1-3 consumption

Business traval
0.30%

Employee commuting
3.18%

Gas consumption
0.28%

Etectricity consumption
(location based)
4.53%

Purchased goods
and servicas
N.72%



28 Ebiquity pl¢

Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic report

Corporate governance

Financial staterments

Ebiquity's Environmental, Social and Governance update cntine

Environmental ...

Measure and review continued

Qur broader envireonmental policv is based on the four Rs;
Reduce, Recycle, Reuse, and Review. Internal guidance is
provided on the following areas:

Energy and water

} Use the findings from our Energy Savings Cpportunity
Scheme ('ESOS") and Stream| ned Energy & Carton
Reporting {'SECR'} assessmerts to investigate where and
how we can reduce the cmourt of energy we use, wherever
possible

} Switch off lights and electrica equipment when not in use,
including the widespread use ¢f motion-sensitive lights

)} Adjust heating and cooling with energy consumption in
mind, again using automatic s2nsers end timers

} Take the energy consumption and efficiency of new
products into account when purchasing

} Work with building management teams to offset or reduce
cur carbon emissions

} Encourage staff to reduce the amount of water they use

)} Ensure energy is sourced from 100% renewables by 2025

Paper

)
)

)
H

Reduce the amount of paper we use in the office

Create menthly usage reports to identify hot spots of paper
waste, allowing us to reduce usage further

Aim to buy 100% recycled paper products

Recycle paper products

Office supplies

)
)

}
)

Recycle equipment where appropriate

Determine the environmental impact of any new products
we intend to purchase, as well as that of all associated
manufacturing processas

Favour mare environmentally friendly and efficient products
wherever possible

Aim to source locally produced and manufactured products

Break the habit of using single-use plostic items

Transportation

)

As above, promote the adoption of travel alternatives,
including video conferencing tools such as Zoom and
Microsoft Teams

Promote our cycle-to-work scheme - already in place -
which encourages staff to use bikes to get to wark

Maintenance, cleaning and office buildings

)

Ensure that alf cleaning materials used ore
environmentally friendly

Require that materials used in office refurbishment are
environmentally friendly

Dispose of all electrical waste according to the exacting
standards of the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
("WEEE") Directive or equivalent national protocols

Donate equipment that is no longer needed to companies
that in turn pass it on to communities unable to affard their
own equipment

Select buildings with the highest levet of sustainability and
eco ratings possible - according to both availobility and
affordability criterio - when leasing new office space

Work with building management teams to ensure that only
licensed and appropriate organisations are used in the
disposal of our waste

Facilitate the recycling of waste created outside of work via
local partnerships



2% Ebiquity plc

Annuai report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic report

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Ebiquity's Environmental, Social and Governance update continues

Environmental ...

Education

Ebiguity encourages all staff to appreciate the importance of
sustainable living both inside and outside the office. To help
facilitate this and drive awareness throughout our
organisation, we have expanded the scale and remit of our
sustainability group - 'the Green Team'. The Group now
includes sustainability champiors from most of the markets
in which we operate and educat2s our staff via a calendar of
global environmentaf initiatives ‘eg microplastics reduction,
saving water).

Communications were maonthly during 2022, both Group

wide and local, using webinars, emails and town hall
meetings. The Group runs intercctive competitions and
quizzes to encourage greater ergagement. It alse provides
input into our wider environmental policy. We also talk about
our recyching and environmental policy as part of our
induction for new staff jeining Ebiquity. Changes to this policy
are communicated to alf stakeholders once implemented.

Commitment

QOur environmental strategy is designed te minimise harm to
the ervironment as much as possible and improve year on
year. As part of our commitment to enhance environmental
performance, we will of fset cur carbon footprint by
purchasing veluntary carbon credits.

04

To calculate our
environmental impact
globally, to set targets to
reduce that impact
progressively and to
measure progress against
these targets every year."
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Ebiquity's Environmental, Social and Governance update cntines

Social

Our aim, which is pivotal to our social strategy, is to foster o
culture that values people with different backgrounds,
genders, sexual preferences, caragiving status, and health.
We wart our workforce to be resresentative of society, open
and supporttve, free of discrimiration and prejudice,
promoting cur values and giving a sense of belongingtoal.
We also want to contribute actively te the communities ir
which we work and serve.

Our Secial strategy has two key dimensions; internal and
external, Below are some of the initiatives that we have run
and are running internally:

Employee Resource GroJps

We continue to support ernployze-driven change and
representation through the wor< of the Employee Resourze
Groups ('ERGs’), set up in 2020. The ERGs exchange ideas,
communicats issues and input ito policy and direction, with
the goal of roising awareness and encouraging inclusiveness
across Ebiquity to attract and ratain diverse talent.

Our networks include The Village (LGBTQ+), Ebiguity's

Black Employees, The Women'’s Group and Ebiquity
Minorities G -oup.

Creation of Ebiquiteers branding

To bring together colleagues from the recently acquired
businesses and to recognise the importance of our entire
talent ecosystem (employees, contractors, consultants and
freelancers), we created the term "Ebiguiteers”. All colleacues
are recognised as being part of Ehiquity, regardless of their
legacy brand or their employment status.

Launch of “Ask Me Anything" Platform

We launched a 24/7 G&A platform which allows individuals to
ask questions ancnymously and upvote questiens of
particular interest so that they get answers to their most
pressing questions. Responses have been given to ol of the
questions asked.

Transition to Agile Performance Management
We have recently adopted a more agile approoch ta
performance management with regular manager check-ins,
continuous goal setting and the termination of legacy
practices such as use of numerical performance ratings.

We are deploying mancgers’ time on guiding their team's
performance and addressing obstacles rather than on
retrospectively assessing historical performance; this in turn
will help reduce the risk of underperformance and of
undesired attrition.

Payment of one-off cost of living
compensation

In the markets hardest hit by rising costs, we made a one-off
cost of living compensation payment to all gualifying
employees.
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Ebiquity's Environmental, Social and Governance update continves

Social w...

We continue to invest in our local z—ommunities with an m:mnmmsm with local schoels
emphasis on giving time. Below a-¢ some of the initiatives We have just started the exciting initiative of building the
that we have run and are running externafly: ‘business awareness' of schoolchildren in areas local to sorme
of our offices. For example, some UK based team members
'Bridging the Gap' volunteering day are taking partin a 'Drogons Den' type challenge across
For the secord consecutive year, we ran our 'Bridging the several schools in early 2023, We are also looking at a variety
Gap' day which involved Ebiquitesrs working with a range of of other initiatives where we can benefit our local
charities local to our offices. The fulfilled a range of tasks communities and will report on these in due course,

including collecting 3Ckg of rubbish in Singapore, clearing
1.5 tonnes of eaf mulch in the UL, painting a nursery
building and preparing snacks fo - 100 pre-schoelers in
Portugal, delivering carloads of groceries in the USA and
sorting 27 ful carts of donated goods in Canada.

Ebiquity supported a range of ¢harities acting in social and
ecological fie ds. Ebiguiteers contributed a total of 3,500
hours to our communities across the globe. Below are just
some of the charities we are supporting:

i

To be a socially inclusive
employer that contributes
to the communities in
which we work and serve.”
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Ebiquity’s Environmental, Social and Governance update continued

Governance

Business ethics and Code of Conduct

Ebiquity sets clear standards of business conduct which are
communicatzd to all Ebiguiteers on their inducticn and on an
ongoing basis. Qur vision, purpcse and values statements
describe the behavicurs which we are all expected to
demonstrate.

The Ebiquity Awards programme was launched to help
embed the values in the business. Prizes were awarded in
various categories and there had been a good spread of
winners. This is now an annual event that builds on the
success of the inaugurol 2022 w nners wheo were drawn from
Ebiquiteers in North America, Iridia and Singapore; these
winners were recognised for their success in crecting value for
clients, colleagues and shareholders and served as role medels
for teams sezking te be similarly recognised in 2023.

Legal and regulatory compliance

) Ebiguity complies with all relevant laws and regulations and
the Board signs off on various pelicies as required. During
the year it has approved the Modern Slavery Statement and
updated policies on the handl ng of inside information and
share dealing required by the JK Market Abuse Regulation.

} The Audit & Risk Committee considers Code of Conduct
matters at each meeting, including whether there have
been any incidents raised unc 2r the whistleblowing pelicy.

) During the year, the Group Legal Team pravided training
on anti-bribery matters for staff and there was regular
cybersecurity training which was required to be undertaken
by all stoff ond Board members.

Risk management

Ebiguity continues to identify, assess and control financial,
legal, strategic and security risks to our business through a
guarterly Executive Leadership Team review of the risk
register. The risk register is considered by the Audit & Risk
Committee and the Boord tokes ultimate respensibility for
risk oversight. The register designates risk owners who ta<e
responsibility and are accountable for particular risk areas.
More details can be found on pages 49 te 51.

Ebiquity has also been accredited FSQS (Financial Services
Qualification System) status by Hellios in November 2022,
This allows businesses in the financial services sector to
ensure appropriate risk management and compliance by
their suppliers in an efficient and effective way.

Cybersecurity and data privacy
With the ever-evolving landscape of cyber threats, privacy,
and data protection regulations, we continually strive to

improve our information security and data protection pol cies.

Since accreditation to TISAX, the Trusted Information '
Exchange Security Assessment, in 2019, Ebiguity has
maintained a continuous development approach to
information security and data privacy issues.

Below are some of the steps we are taking:

) Dedicated steering group to oversee data privacy and
information security initiatives

)} Enterprise Risk Management board to review cybersecurity
risks

)} Investment in advanced technology platforms to support
enterprise security needs - reinforced with ongoing training
programmes, in which all employees have participated, as
well as all members of the Ebiquity plc Board

Y} Work with partners to refine our approach and ensure
systems are fit-for-purpose

0a

To manage the business
to the highest standards
of governance.”
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Ebiquity’s Environmental, Social and Governance update cntinved

Industry initiatives

As a significant and respected player in the media industry,
Ebigquity has an important role tc play in driving change on
ESG-related topics. We are deve oping a suite of products
and services to support advertisers in making more informed
decisions about their communications’ planning and buying.
These initiatives include:

Responsible Media Investment ('/RMI") solution
RM! aims to create end-to-end clarity and reportability of
responsible media investment at scale. in this context,
Ebiquity acts as an independent steward by bringing together
medic investment data with deep ESG metrics on the
corporate behaviour of the media and technology companies
in the medic supply chain. The irsights provided by this
solution helps advertisers to optimise channel mix based on
their partners’ responsible pract ces, establishing o baseline
that can be used to measure imorovements over time. It also
fosters meaningful conversations with partners about
responsible media.

RMI locks across five key areas:
Diversity Equality & Inclusion

Disinformation

ty

}

2}

} Environmental Sustdina
} Privacy & Data Protection
)

Made for Advertising

After a successful pilot programme in 2021, RMthas been
developed further, to include:

Y} 13 markets (USA, Canada, Mexico, Brazil, UK, Spain,
Germany, France, Italy, Denmark, South Africa, Australia,
Singapore) across six continents

Y Digital direct buys {in addition to open web programmatic)

Y CO2PM monitoring to help address environmental
sustainability of odvertising covering one of marketers’ top
priorities — see more below

Through enabling principles-driven digital medio investment
decisions, we are creating ¢ better media world, together
with our clients and their media agencies.

EU Code of Practice on Disinformation

Ebiguity has become o signatory to the EU Code of Practice
on Disinformeation (the 'Code'). The EU recognised that mass
online disinformation campaigns are being widely used by a
range of domestic and foreign actors to sow distrust and
create socletal tensions, with serious potential consequences
for our security. Furthermore, disinformation campaigns by
third countries can be part of hybrid threats to internal
security, including election processes, in porticular in
combination with cyberattacks.

It is only by having full transparency on exactly where ads
are appearing and what they are supporting that brands
can take direct action against and actively stop funding
disinformation. Ebiquity's invoivernent in this critical Code
of Practice underlines our commitment to best practice
governance in media investment.

The Code was strengthened in 2022, setting more ambitious
commitments and establishing a set of critical commitments
designed to minimise the incidence, impact and monetisation
of online disinformation targets and to counter ontine
disinformation.
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Ebiquity's Environmental, Social and Governance update cntinued

Industry initiatives ...

EU Code of Practice on Disinformation

continued
The Code sets out five commitments for signataories, covering:

Scrutiny of ad placements

v
v_uo__ﬁno_o:ammmcm.vommn_o%m&m_:@
)} Integrity of services

M

Empowaering consumers
} Empowering the research community

Disinformation undermines trust in secial, pelitical, economic,
and scientific institutions and can lead to real world harm. By
defunding disinformation, advertisers help fight other issues
such as chmate change denial, racism and discrimination.

Media agency selection: assessing

sustainability targets

Ebiquity advises advertisers in their agency partner selection.
Every year we run around 10C such projects. Innovation is at
the heart of our service, enabling our clients to assess medio
agency capabilities. Recently we have been expanding our
service to review agencies’ planning and delivery capabilities,
accounting for sustainability targets. The objective is to
assess ogencies’ credentials by investigating their Diversity,
Equality and Inclusion standards and their sustainability
efforts, to ensure they are the r ght cultural fit for brand
owners. Agencies are expected “o demonstrate how they
are engaged in both building profit and maintaining
sustainability targets

The Hidden Cost of Digital Advertising

Ebiquity ond Scope3 have conducted o joint study which
demonstrates the cost of excessive supply chain waste In
digital advertising and its impaoct on the environment. More
than US$375 million of digital advertising spend was analysed
across 116 billion display ad impressicns from 43 brand
advertisers and this showed that 15.3% of their advertising
spend was wasted on inventory which generated no valve to
their business but did generate excessive amounts of CO,
emissions.

Key findings from the study include:

} Carbon emissions of websites varies dramatically with
CO2PM per website ranging from 55.2g to 4,782.8g. This
confirms @ major opportunity for brands to pricritise media
partners with optimised emissions,

} The global weighted average of digital ad emissions is 670g
CO2PM based on 116 billion ad impressions. According to
Scope3 data, this is the equivalent of flying 1.35 million
passengers from London to Paris — it would take 3.7 mill on
fully-grown trees one year to absorb this amount of carbon.

L

‘Made for Advertising' (‘(MFA") websites are high
contributors to carbon emissions while providing no value to
brands. Of all US spend analysed by Ebiquity, 15.3% wos
wasted on MFA inventory.

?» Redllocating investment to high quality journalism con boost
ad effectiveness and lower emissions. CO2PM on “Trusted
News Websites' is 52% lower than on MFA websites,
creating a strong case for brands to cease wasteful MFA
spend.

Ebiquity and Scope3 plan to conduct additional studies and
release benchmarks in 2023 for more advertising channels,
including connected TV and social media platforms.

The use of third party marketing cockies
('3MPC"

Ebiquity partnered with Cookiebot CMP to produce insights
into 3MPC coverage and practices on large domains, funded
by advertising. Areas of concern were highlighted, including
3MPCs being fired before users gave their consent and
large-scale transfer of data to non-EU countries. Ebiquity
then provided advice and guidance for brands to help them
prepare for ¢ “cookie free” morketplace and how to improve
their use of 3PMCs through enhanced compliance cuditing
and therefore assisting advertisers to improve their media
governance.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

Under the Cempanies (Directors' Report) and Limited
Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon) Regulations

2018, we are mandoted to disclcse cur UK energy use and
associated greenhouse gas ('GHG') emissions. As o minimum,
we are required to report the GHG emissions from fuel
combustion, purchosed energy cnd transport vehicles.
Additionally, the use of an intensity ratio and an outline of
implemented efficiency measures are reguired under the
Streamlined Energy and Corbor Reporting ('SECR")
regulations.

To ensure o high level of transparency is achieved, robust
dand recognised reporting methcds are implemented.
The reporting methodology invo ves usage of the 2022
DEFRA (Department for Environment, Food.and Rural
Affairs) emissions factors to calzulate and assess our UK
operational emissions.

Strategic report

Qur calculations are for the following scopes:

} Building-related energy - Purchased electricity
consumption (Scope 2).

) Transportation — Business travel in expensed vehicles
(Scope 3).

Company Informaticn

Ebiquity PLC is a public limited company, incorporated in
the UK, situated at Chapter House, 16 Brunswick Place,
London, England, N16D7. Subsidiary companies Ebiguity
Associates Limited and FirmDecisions Limited are also
situated at this site and therefore contribute to the
same annual overall GHG emissions and energy usage.

Reporting Period
The reporting period that this submission covers is
1January 2022 to 31 December 2022

Corporate governance Financial statements

('SECR’)

Calculation Methodology

Emissions calculated are in accordance with the ‘GHG
Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard’ and
in line with DEFRA's 'Envircnmental reporting guidelines:
including Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting
Requirements’. The DEFRA 2022 emission conversion factors
were used to quantify the emissions associated with Ebiquity
PLC's operations for the specified reporting period.

Pro-rata extrapolation has been carried out to estimate the
electricity consumption for @ full ennual pericd. An average
45 pence/mile has been assumed to estimate the mileage
relating to business travel in expensed vehicles.

Organisational Boundary
We have used the operational control approach.
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting ('SECR") continued

Resuits
TJanuary 2021 1 January 2022
- 31December - 31December
Reporting Periad 2021 2022
Area Metric UK & Offshore UK & Offshore
Emissions from purchased electricity (Scope 2) Energy (MWh) 217.58 272.47
‘ . Emissions (tC0,8) 4620 52.69
Emissions from business travel n expensed vehicles {Scope 3) Energy (MWh) 2.63 4.35

‘ o ;m:). ss o:mzﬁmommu .Q..om, 1.07 .

Intensity Ratio tCOe/sgm 0.03 0,03
Intensity Ratio tCOe/UK Employees 0.21 0.26
Total Energy Consumption (MWh) 220.20 276.82
Total Emissions {tCOe 46.84 53.76

Qur energy cansumption and emissions increased from 2021 to 2022 as pandemic restrictions were removed and there was a return to mare business travel and office based working.

Intensity Measurement

The chosen intensity ratios are tCO,e per total square metres and tCO,e per full time equivalent UK employees. The intensity ratio tCO,e per total square metres was chosen as it is the
recornmended metric for mainly office-based organisations. A second intensity metric, tCO,e per full time equivalent UK employees, has alsc been provided.

Energy Efficiency Measures

This year, the employee environmental group ‘The Green Team' had goals to significantly increase staff awareness around environmental issues. Staff behaviour and its effects on the
plonet were -aised and actions —o reduce impacts were highlighted. In February 2022, The Green Team spread globally to irclude our Sydney, New York, Paris, Madrid and Hamburg offices,

after previously only existing in ~he UK.

Regular meetings and events ware held throughout the year, with each month raising awareness about a different environmental issue. Events ranged from newsletters to presentations
to talks, comr petitions and surveys. Internationally recognised dates such as World Reef Day, World Environment Day and World Rainforest Day were promoted during events.
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Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, there is a general duty on every
director to act in a way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote
the success of the Company for the benefit of its shareholders as a whole.

In doing this, the directors must have regard, among other
matters, to the following:

} thelikely zonsequences of any decision in the long term;
)} theinterests of the compan+'s employees;

} the need tec foster the company’s business relationships
with suppliers, customers and others;

} theimpact of the company's operaticns on the community
and the environment;

} thedesirability of the company maintaining a reputation for
high standards of business conduct;

} the need to act fairly as between members of the company.

- This report sets out how the Board of Directors of Ebiguity

plc has carried out this duty. As part of this process, the
Board has identified the following as key stakeholders for
the Group:

Employees

Investors

Customers - brand owners
Agencies

Media owners

Trade bodies

W A W g N g

Suppliers

How the Board takes account of the factors

listed in section 172 in making decisions
The Board tokes account of the factors listed in section 172
when it makes decisions in two ways:

2 By having a general knowledge and understanding of the
views of key stakeholders and the other factors

)} By considering any of those staokeholders and other factors
specifically, when they may be directly relevant to a
particular Board decision

The Board hes a rolling 12 month planner detailing matters
which come to it for consideration and discussion and this is
used to ensure the Board is aware of the views of the Group's
various stakeholders and develops its knowledge and
understanding of the other section 172 factors for the Group.
The planner is regularly reviewed by the Chair, CEO and
Company Secretary and included in the Boord pack from time
to time so that all directors are aware of upcoming items and
can suggest additional topics for discussion or individuals to
meet if they wish.
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Section 172 statement continued

Section 172 factors

The following sets out how the Board ensures it has sufficient knowledge
and understanding of the section 172 factors on an ongoing basis.

Matter

The likely consequences of any decision in the
long term

The need to foster the Compary’s business
relationships with suppliers, cLstomers and others

Response

Sustainability remains one of the key matters considered by the Board on a regular basis and this affects many aspects of what
the organisation does, particularly as the focus on ESG increases, The risk manogement processes in place alsa ensure the Board
considers the longer term impact of its decisions.

The Board receives an update from the Chief People Officer at least twice a year and the CEC includes employee related matters
in his report to each Board meeting. He notes any significant issues faced by local offices, including levels of staff turnover and the
reasons for this. The Board receives presentations from each of the Executive Leadership Team members over the course of a year
which includes the oppartunity for questions and discussion. These presentations include updates on employee related issues in the
area of the business overseen by the ELT member.

Customers

One of the pillars of the business strategy is Clients and they are considered at every Board meeting as part of the CECQ's report,
which provides details of key business wins, clients retained and any business lost {or unsuccessful pitches) together with any high
level feedback, In addition, the Chief Client Officer attends a Board meeting annually to provide an update on progress.

Suppliers

As Ebiquity is a business services company, its suppliers are mostly these which provide utilities, office end IT suppies and this is
reflected in the modest levels of engagement necessary. As part of its ESG initiatives, Ebiguity will be considering sustainability
issues more as it sources these supplies and this is noted by the Board.

Other industry participants

Ebiquity produces a great deal of thought leadership which is disseminated in the form of written material, videos and webinars.
These are made available to the Board by sharing links to the videos and webinars and uploading the key white papers or other
reports to the reading room in the Board portal.
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Section 172 statement continves

Matter

The impact of the company’s operations on
the community and the environment

The desirability of the company maintaining a
reputation for high standards >f business conduet

The need to act fairly as between members of
the Company

Response

Community

As noted above, Ebiquity is a business services company and its operations do net have a material impact on the focal communities
in which it operates. However, os part of its ESG strategy, a glowal volunteering day to support local charities was held in 2021 and
repeated in 2022. The ESG report contains more information about this, including which charities have been supported. The Board
commended the progress in increasing the focus on ESG across the organisation. It was alse suggested that a longer-term
commitment to supporting particular charities would probably be beneficicl, rather than choosing new ones each year.

Environment

During the past 12 months the Board had two dedicated discussions on Ebiguity’'s approach to ESG with those in the Executive
Leadership Team whe had respensibility for the various areas. As well as these discussions, ESG matters are considered as part of
the Board's (and committees’) other deliberations, for example the Audit & Risk Committee has recently added Climate Risk to the
risk register and will be considering the implications of this over the next year and beyond.

The Board has discussed Ebiquity's impact on the environment and received updates on our measuring of Scope 1, 2and 3
emissions. It was also given an update on the work of the ‘Green Team' which raises awareness of environmental issues among
employees.

Business conduct

One of the main ways in which the Company maintdgins its reputation for high standards of business conduct 1s the way in which afi
staff behave. This flows from the culture and values of the organisation, with new values (which continue to be followed and
implemented} odepted in 2021. More details on this can be found in the Governance section of the ESG report on page 32,

A practical example of this was the decision of the Board to seek to exit the Group's business in Russia because of the war in Ukrgine,

The ways in which the Board engages with investors is described more fully in the corporate governance report on page 61.

The Board engages regularly with institutional investors and continues to make efforts to provide opportunities for retall investors
to engage with the Company. The 2022 AGM was again held as a hybrid meeting, to allow shareholders to attend via
videoconference if they were not able to be there in person, Eb quity also started to use the Investor Meet Company platform, so
that retail investors have the opportunity to watch a presentation by the CEQ and CFO when the full and half year results are
announced and to ask questions.

There has recently been a review of the investor section of the Company's website and an updated version should be launched
shortly. This has been refreshed to improve access for all shareholders to key information about the Company and its business as
well as details about its listing, share price and announcements.
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Stakeholders

Employees

Why we engage

During FY22 there were a lot of changes
in the business following the three
acquisitions and the plen to move to a
new operating model. These created new
reasons and oppertunities for staff
engagement over and above the
"business as usual” ones.

Strategic report

How we engage

The CEC continues te hold menthly calls for all staff
worldwide where employees receive updates on key
business initiatives and can ask questions. There are
aiso regular local Town Hall meetings, so the CEO and
members of the senior leadership team can keep in
touch with the views of employees and ensure these
are fed back to the Board.

Various communications channels were intreduced,
such as the "Ask me anything” platform which allowed
employees to raise concerns and find out more about
planned changes.

The regional business heads as well as key individuals
from MMi and Media Path met the Board during the
year and provided updates on the varicus integration
workstreams.

Susanne Elias, the founder of Media Path, shared with
the Board her first impressions of Ebiquity and the
three year plan for the combined businesses. She
outlined how the transition period would be handled
with both clients and staff as more of th2 business
moved to using the GMP365 system.

Thomas Bridge, the founder of MM, explained the
background and history of the MMi busiress. He gave
an update on progress with integration of the
businesses, including client calls and cross selling
opportunities.

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Impact of engagement

Some employment practices have been
updated, for example staff now have regular
check ins with their line manager and there are
many more opportunities for training and career
development.

Following feedback, imternal communications
have been refreshed with greater use of
technology platforms such as Teams and
Yommer to allow more employee interaction
across the Group.

Following Susanne's presentation, the Board will
see a demaonstration of the GMP365 platform
at a meeting in the first half of FY23. A new KPI
has been introduced to track its implementation
across the business.

In the USA, a new leadership team was ¢reated
from the two businesses, There is a core team
with additional expertise which is brought in as
and when required. The changes were positive
and well receved.
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Employees continued

Investors

Why we engage

£biquity aims to provide an inclusive
workplace for all of its szaff.

The cost of living increases hit some
areas and individuals perticularly hard as
the war in Ukraine and rising inflation
continued.

Ebiquity’s shares are traded on AIM and
it aims to follow good practice in terms
of investor relations ond corporate
governance.

Strategic report

How we engage

The initiatives to track D&l within the business
continued and the term "Ebiquiteers” was intreduced
to include all talent contributing within the
organisation, regardless of their employmeant status.

There is additional information on employse initiatives
in the ESG section of the annual report.

The Board provides trading updates around the end of
the full and half year as well as providing ouuo;czgmm
for both institutional and retail investors to engage
with the Board at the AGM and results briefings.

The Board reviews investoer feedback after the full and
half year results.

The Chair also reports back to the Board on any
engagement he has with investors.

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Impact of engagement

The gender pay gap report was noted at a
Board meeting. The mean UK pay gap was
reducing — now ot 18%, down from 21% n 2021.
A calculation based on the median UK pay gap
gave an outcome of women being paid 11%
more than men.

One off cost of living payments were made in
the second half of FY22 to those on lower
incomes in places which had been particularly
hard hit by price increcses.

The CEO hos preduced a series of videos with
Edison Research to explore o number of areas of
interest such as key issues for brand advertisers
in 2023. These can be accessed ot
www.edisengroup.com/fequity/ebiquity/

The Ebiguity website has been refreshed,
including the Investor section, to provide easier
access to information for investors.
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Investors continued

Customers
(brand owners)

Why we engage

During the year investors provided new
funding via a placing te support the
acquisitions.

One of the key pillars of cur strategy is
Clients. In 2022 we exponded our focus
to growing and streng=hening our
retationships with 28 kay clients, up from
21in 2027

Qur aim is to continue to enhance our
role as a trusted advisar to many leading
global advertisers.

Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements
How we engage Impact of engagement
A roadshow was held with existing and potential The placing was successful ond well supported,
shareholders once the acquisitions were sufficiently enabling the acquisitions to go ahead.
well advanced to explain the rationale and seek their

support.

The Board uses its advisers, such as its brokers, nemad,
financial PR firm and investment research firm to
ensure effective engagement within the regulatory
framewaork in which it operates.

There s additional information on how the Board
engages with investors in the corporate governance
report on page 54,

The Chief Client Officer and Chief Product Officer The non financial KP!s set in 2021 have almost
bath provided insightful updotes to the Board during all been achieved and new ones have been set
the strategy day held in October and the Chief Client and agreed by the Board. They can be found on
Officer also attended a Board meeting to give an page 1/.

update on progress with the Client strategy. In the latest client satisfaction survey, overall

There has been further strengthening of the client NPS improved from +10 (Good) to +30 (Great).
teams with a new focus on specialisms and standard
ways of working. Following good new business wins in
India, the Board met the heads of the Indion
businesses to hear more about their achievements
and future plans.

Ebiquity is developing new products and services
with a focus on digital solutions and ESG related
products, such as Responsible Media Investment
and the Hidden Cost of Digital Advertising with
Scope3. These are described in more detad in

As the business transitions to use of the GMP345 the ESG section of this report.

platform, there is continuing digiogue with clients
to ensure their needs are met during the
changeover process.

A Digital Value Index has also been launched and
a number of other new products were very well
received at the ISBA online conference

Lessons have been learned from a few client
losses.
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Stakeholders continued

The wider
advertising
industry —ie
agencies, media
owners and
trade bodies

Suppliers

Why we engage

Ebiquity is a regular and respected
contributor to thought leadership within
the advertising industry. This enhances
our reputation and allows us to serve our
customers better.

Ebiquity's suppliers comprise those that
support our werk for clients such as
regionally based sub-contractors and
dota providers and providers of support
services such as T saftware and
hardware, office premises, utilities and
professional services.

As we moke grecter efforts to reduce
our environmental impact in future, we
expect to engage more with our
suppliers to understand what they are
doing to reduce theirs.

Strategic report

How we engage

Representatives from an agency and a media owner
attended Board meetings during the year and shared
feedback on their expectations and how Ebiguity con
continue to make an impact.

In addition, an industry commentator and editor of o
trade publication presented at the Board strotegy day
and facilitoted discussions on a range of issuves.

Ebiquity continues to provide thought teadership and
innovates products and services which are of value to
our clients in a changing marketplace.

Many of Ebiquity's key supptiers are large global
businesses and relationships are managed through
their account managers. The products team works
closely with data partners to tailor sclutions.
Relationships with sub-contractors for client work are
managed by the relevant ¢lient project teams who
commission the work.

Ebiquity pays its suppliers according to the agreed
terms of business.

Cerporate governance

Financial statements

Impact of engagement

These sessions were very useful for the Board to
understand the different perspectives in the
industry and it is planned to continue to invite a
range of stakeholders te Board meetings in
future.

The discussions enable Ebiquity to gain a
broader understanding of the advertising
industry landscape and identify areoes for
development and improvernent.

Good relations with suppliers enable us to
obtain a higher quality service from them
and where appropriate, selutions tailored to
our needs.

We anticipate that greater engagement with
our suppliers in future will help us reduce our
Scope 3 emissions.,
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Stakeholders continwes

Community

Environment

Why we engage

As a business services company,
Ebiquity's operations do not have a
material impact on focal communities.
However, as part of our ESG initiatives
we do engage with the communities in
the areas where we are based as we
wish to be a good corporate citizen and
have a pesitive impact,

Ebiquity has made a commitment to
reducing its consurnption of natural
resources and the waste it produces.
This is not simply to meet legal and
regulatory requirements but alse to
ensure we have healthy and inclusive
places to live for generations to came.

Strategic report

How we engage

A second volunteering day - ‘Bridging the Gap' - was
held in 2022 when staff from local offices gave time to
support focal charities. More details are gven in the
ESG report.

Our ESG strategy has been linked to the Group's
values and the policy and guidance was cornmunicated
to staff on an all hands call.

The 'Green Team’ provide regular briefings on
environmenta! issues, such os food and water usage
and avoiding unnecessary waoste.

Ebiquity has also launched a number of products and
services to assist its clients to understand and meet
their own ESG obligations. We have described these in
our ESG report.

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Impact of engagement

Ebiquity supported o range of charities acting in
social and ecological fields. Ebiquiteers
contributed o totol of 3,900 hours to our
communities across the globe.

Links with schools in some locations are also just
starting.

We have worked with a third party to measure
our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions.

Once these are finalised, targets will be set to
reduce our carbon footprint.

A benchmarking exercise has put Ebiguity's
emissions at 17% below the benchmark.

To reduce emissions Ebiquity has:
} Continued with a hybrid working palicy

3} Provided business travel guidance, so that onty
essential meetings are held in person

)} Used supply chain analytics to understand the
carbon reduction plans of our suppliers

EcoVadis has given the Group a bronze rating
which it 1s hoped to improve to silver.
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Financial
review

The cemmentary in this review focuses largely on alternative performance measures (APMs")
adopted by the Group. These non-GAAP measures are considered both useful and necessary in
helping to explain the performarce of the Group. These APMs are consistent with how
business performance is measurad internally by the Group. Further details of the APMs are
given on page 144,

Summary income Statement

2022 2021 Change

£m £m £m %
Revenue 76.0 631 129 20%
Project Related Costs e R (7.5) 03 @)%
Net mm<m3mm ‘ h omm , 55.6 13 w ...... mwo\m
“““ ; (48 a mwm,wv: (9 3 25%
(12.5) 10 &%
47 46 9%

Highlighted ltems ‘
(before tax) (15.2) (9.8) (54 33%
mnoncnoqv\ Operating Loss 9 ﬁmd ....... Aomv “““ Joo\a

1 Excluding highlighted items.

Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements

Group revenues for the year ended 31 December 2022 increcsed by £12.9 million (20%) to
£76.0 million, from £&3.1 million in 2027, This included revenue of £6.8 million from companies
acquired during the year. Excluding this, Group revenue grew organically by 10%.

Adjusted operating profit (statutory cperating profit excluding hightighted items) for 2022
was £9.3 million, an increase of £4.6 million or 96% compared to 2021. The adjusted operating
margin also increased significantly to 12% from 7% in the prior year.

Project-related costs (which comprise external pertner and production costs) reduced by 4%
to £7.2 million from £7.5 million, as these costs are much tower for Digital Media Solutions and
the acquired businesses. Total adjusted operating expenses increased by 17% te £59.5 million,
reflecting in part the expanses of the acquired businesses. Within this, staff costs increased by
25% to £48.C million and other operating expenses reduced by 8% to £11.5 million.

Adjusted profit before tax increased by 5% to £8.0 million in 2022 (2027: profit of £4.1 million).
Net finance costs increazed to £1.3 million in 2022 frem £0.6 million in 20271, due to higher
interest rates and an increase in bank borrowings of £3.5 million due to the acguisitions.

Highlighted items before tax, including the post-dcte remuneration relating to the acguisition
of Digital Decisions BV, increased to £15.2 million cost from £9.8 million in 2021, as detaited
below. As a result, there was a statutory operating loss (after highlighted items) of £5.9 million
compared to aloss of £51m in 2021, Reflecting this, the statutory loss before taxation
increased to £7.2 million “rom £5.7 million.
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Taxation
There was a tax charge of £0.3 million in the year (2021: £1.2 millien) of which £2.1 million
related to the adjusted profit before taxation (2021: £1.7 million) and a £1.8 million credit
(2021: £0.5 m llion credit) to the highlighted items. The effective tox rate on adjusted profit
before tax was 21%, (excluding rovements on prior year provisions) compared to 42% in 2021
The reduction in this rate is large y due to the utilisation of tax losses in USA in the current year
and recegnition of US and UK tax [osses as a deferred tax asset. The adjusted profit after
taxation increased by 149% to £5.9 million (2027 £2.4 million). The statutory loss after taxation
increased to £7.5 million frem £6 ¢ million.

Earnings per share

Adjusted basic earnings per sharz doubled to 5.4p from 2.7p in 2021, reflecting the increase
in adjusted profit after taxation, offset by the increase in the number of shares in issue due
to the equity alacing in the year. The statutory basic loss per share reduced to 69p from
8.5p in 2021,

Highlighted items

Highlighted items comprise charges and credits which are highlighted in the income
statement because separate diszlosure is considered relevant in understanding the underlying
performance of the business. Highlighted items after tax in the year totalled a charge of
£13.4 million (2021: £9.3 million} and include the following:

}» £79 million chorge to accrue for post-date remuneration payable in 2023 relating to the
acquisitior of Digital Decisions BV, acquired in January 2020 (2021: £79 m

} £2.7 millien charge for amortisation of purchased intangibles (2027: £11 million)

b4

£1.9 million charge for profess onal costs relating to acquisitions and bank facility agreements
(2021: £0.3 millior)

£1.2 million charge relating to onerous lease provisions
£0.6 million charge relating tc severance and reorganisation costs (2027 £0.1 million)
£0.5 million charge relating tc share-based poyrments (2021 £0.5 million)

£0.3 million charge for the im >cirment of the assets of the Russion subsidiary

L A

£1.8 millio~ tox credit on highl ghted items (2021: £0.5 million cradit)

Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements

The contingent consideration payable in 2023 relating to the ccquisition of Digital Decisions
BV has been accounted for os post-date remuneration as payment is dependent upon the
principal vendor remaining in employment with the Group. The total deferred consideration
payable is estimated at £15.8 million and is calculated as six times the average profit
generated in the two years ended 31 December 2022 from Digital Media Solutions developed
by the Digital Innovation Centre, less the initial consideration of £0.4 million paid in January
2020. It is payable in a mixture of cash and/or Ebiquity shares which the Company will
detarmine at the time of payment, having regard to its overall capital structure, debt facilities
and the vendor's option to request that a certain amount be paid in cash.

Amortisation of purchased intangibles increased te £2.7 million due to the acquisitions
whose intangible assets have been included ot fair value. The charge in the year relating to
Media Path and MMiwas £2.1 million.

The acquisition, integration, and strategic costs of £1.9 million relote to professional fees
incurred for the three acgqussitions in the year, the associated equity capital raise in April 2022,
and the revised bank loan facility agreed in March 2G22.

The onerous lease provision charge of £1.2 million relates to of fice space in three cities which

is surplus to requirements. During the year, it wos decided to vocate the New York office and
part of the London office and to seek sub-tenants in the market. A charge in the year of

£1.7 million has been made for these offices to reflect the impairment of the right-of-use
asset. This is offset by a credit of £0.5 million relating to the Chicago office which was vacated
and sub-let in 2019 and for which the heodlease has now been terminated with effect from
September 2023,
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Financial review continved

Dividend

No dividend has been declared cr recommended for either of the twelve months ended
31 December 2022 or 2021,

Cash conversion

Year ended Year ended

31December 31 December

2022 20
Reported cash from operations 3,812
Adjusted cash from operations 6,188
Adjusted operating profit 9,270

Adjusted cash conversion ratio 67% 278%

Adjusted coch from operations represents the cash flows from operations excluding the
impact of highlighted items. The adjusted net cash inflow from operations during 2022 was
£6.2 million (20271: £13.2 milhon) which represents a cash conversion ratio of 67% of adjusted
operating profit.

Equity

During the yaar, the issued sharz capital increased by 14% to 120,241,187 shares (2021:
82,728,890 <hares) as o result of the issue of 36,958,789 shares in connection with the
acquisitions made in the year a~d 553,502 shares issued foilowing the exercise of
share options.

Strategic report Corporate governance Financial statements

Net debt and banking facilities

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
Net cash' 12,360 13134
Bank debt (21,500) (18,000)
Net bank debt (9,140) @.868)

1 Includes restricted cash of £3 2 million beld n Chiquity Russia.

All bank borrowings are held jointly with Barclays and NotWest. The current revolving

credit facility (RCF") facility was agreed in March 2022 and runs for a period of three years to
March 2025, extendable for up to a further two vears with a total commitment of £3C million.
£21.5 millien had been drawn as at 31 December 2022 (2021: £18 million). Under this
agreement, annual reductions in the facility of £1.25 million will apply from June 2023.

The remoinder of any drawings is repayable on the maturity of the facikty. The facility may

be used for deferred consideration payments on past acquisitions, to fund future potential
acquisitions, and for general working capital requirements. The quarterly covenants applied
from June 2022 onwards are: interest cover >4.0x; adjusted leverage <2.5x and adjusted
deferred consideration leverage < 3.5x. There is no longer a minimum lending covenont.
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Statement of financial position and net assets
A non-statutory summary of the Group's balance sheet as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021 is set out below:

31 December 31December

2022 2021
Goodwill and intangible assets 56,8568 32700
m_mjﬁ mwcrn.m ommmm S m.wow bmbm
Other non-current assets S 3,488 3,053
_.,z..m,ﬁ <<o..r,_,.3,@ capital’ o o m.umo,. 3,362
ease habili (5,983) 6,390)
Other non-current liabilities nm.omcv - (0,477
.U_m,._ﬂo_ Dmm_,m._u;m post-date ﬂmB..SmB.n_oa ,, Gm.qmqv ‘ G._o.m.mV
Dm*m_.._.ma consideration (MM ov.a muo:,n.u,,acv R . nnumwv o
Net bonk debt I (9,140) | 4.868)
Net ossets 36,262 23,004

1 Net working capital comprises tiade ar d other receivables, lease recevables, trade and cther payables, acceruals and
contraet habilties {less the Digital Dec sions post-date remuneration) and current tax assets ond habilities.

Net assets as at 31 December 2C22 increased by £13.3 million due largely to the acguisitions

made in the year and the relatec share capital increase of fset by the statutory loss after
taxation.

Working capital increased to £9.5 million from £3.4 million, a net outflow of £6.0C million with
trade receivables increasing by £11 million, of fset by an increase in trade and other payables
of £5 miflion. The increose in receivables was due in part to the acquisitions and to the phasing
of billings to clients towards the 2and of the year. Debtor days increased slightly to 67 days
from &1 days.
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Corporate Development Activities

On 29 Januery 2022, the Group acquired Forde and Semple Media Works, the leading media
performance consultancy in Canada, for o total consideration of CAD$1.3 million

(£0.8 million), of which CAD$1.2 million (£0.7 million) was paid on completion and CAD$01
million (£0.06 million) was deferred for one year. Forde and Semple had revenues of

CAD$1.1 million in the financial year ended 31 January 2021 and net assets of CAD$0.4 million
(£0.2 million) on completion.

On 4 April 2022, the Group acquired Medio Management, LLC (MM}, a US-based media audit
specialist, for an nitial consideration of US$8.0 million (£6.1 million) with a deferred contingent
consideration element payable in 2025, 84% of the initial consideration (US$A 7 mithon/£5.1
miltion) was paid in cash and 16% (US$1.3 million/£1.0 million), was applied by the vendors to
subscribe for 1,737,261 Ebiquity ordinary shares. The contingent consideration will be based on
1.0 times adjusted earnings before interest and tax of the combined Ebiquity US and MMi
businesses reported for the year ending 31 December 2024. This has been estimated to be
US%$4.0 million/E£3.0 millicn. 80% of this will be payable directly in cash to the vendors and
20% will be applied by the vendors to subscribe for Ebiquity ordinary shares.

On 22 April 2022, the Group acquired Media Path Network AB ('Media Path'), a Swedish-based
rmulti-national media consultancy, for o considerotion of £15.5 million. 75% (£11,625,000) was
paid in cash and 25% (£3,375,000) was paid by the issue of 6,919,642 new Ordinary Shares to
the Media Path vendors. An additional cash payment of £485,000 was made in June 2022,
representing working cap tal in the completion accounts as at 31 March 2022 in excess of the
contractuclly agreed target amount.

Alan Newman
Chief Financial and Operating Officer

30 March 2023
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Risks

Strategic report

The Board has overall responsibility for risk

management. Our approach aims to identify and
evaluate key risks and mitigate these effectively.

The Board of Directors recognises that various risks are
inherent in the business. Therefore, there needs to be
effective management of these risks to meet the Group's
strategic objectives and creote shareholder value. The Board
has put in place an organisationcl structure with defined lines
of responsibility and has adoptec an enterprise risk
management framework as set cut opposite:

The risk assessment process is bcttom-up/top-down, with
the resuiting corporate risk register regularly monitored by
the Enterprise Risk Management Board, the Executive
Leadership Team ond the Audit £ Risk Committee,

This register includes details of the risks, the potential
impacts on the Group, and upda=es on the mitigating actions
required to bring the risk to an acceptable level. Significant
findings from the Audit & Risk Ccmmittee are reported to the
Board of Directors, including those orising from the enterprise
risk assessment process.

Furthermore, whistleblowing prccedures are in place for
individuals to report suspected breaches of laws or
regulations or other malpractice The Group also has an
anti-bribery policy which applies to all Group companies.

The risk management framework

Board of Directors:

>

>
>
>

Leadership ond oversight of risk management

Determines the strotegic objectives, risk appetite cnd risk toleronce

Monitors performance

Corporate governance

Accountable for the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management processes

Audit & Risk Committee:

>

Delegated responsibility from
the Beard to oversee risk
management and internal
controls, including the
effectiveness of risk
ED:D@mamDﬂ processes

Reviews risk register including
assessment of key risks and
cdequacy of proposed
mitigations

Executive Leadership Team:

» Communicates and
dissemirates risk policies
across the Group

) Supports the business in
assessing risk

> Individually accountable for
managing specific risks.

¥ Embeds risk management in
unit management processes
and business activities

Enterprise Risk Management
Board:

>

Defines risk monagement
roles at operational and
project levels

Oversees detailed assessment
of risks and their mitigation
across the business

Continucusly reviews and
updates risk register

Embeds nsk management
culture in ench business areo

Make recommendations to
£LT for key risk mitigations

Financial staterments
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Key risks impacting the Group

Change to risk

The mdacro environment during 2222 has increased certain

risks such as economic uncertainty, the impact of the conflict:

in Ukraine and cyber security thraats. Ebiquity adopts a

proactive and rigorous approack to ossessing and mitigating

these risks. Also, Ebiquity engages with key clients to explain
its approach and initiatives on Environmental, Social and
Governance ('ESG') to maintain long-term alignment cn
sconomic activitios.

Strategic report

Corporate governance
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The key risks impacting the business, and the mitigating octions, are as follows,

.
Access to Media data

Description

Ebiquity relies on clients and media agencies to provide it
with data in order te carry out its work. Restrictions aver
access to this data could lead to significant loss of revenue
if it prevents delivery of Ebiquity’s services.

Mitigating actions;
Ebiguity continues to develop good and tronsparent
working relationships with the media agencies.

Ebiquity engoges with media associations (eg ISBA and
ANA) to influence media owners on terms and conditions
applied to media data usage.

Change since 2021: §)

2
Cybersecurity

Description

The Company centinues to face increasing threats of
cyber attacks on its information systems, which could
cause loss or corruption of data and impair ability to
deliver services to clients.

Mitigating actions:

There is continued investment in enhancing endpoint
security, patch management automation, and multi-layer
authentication for all users.

The Group's Information Security function moniters and
drives the improvement of the Group's cybersecurity in
light of the continually evolving threat.

All employees must undergo regular cybersecurity training
to help thermn understand the threots and what they can do
to protect the Group's information systems and data.
Regular tests of our defences against cyber threats are
undertaken by a third-party specialist.

Change since 2021 o
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Key risks impacting the Group continued

3
Client loss

Description

Clients may reduce their business engagements with us,
or mave elsewhere due to our own performance or to
events beyond our control, including changes in client
budgets anc media investment plans.

The loss of major clients could Fave a material impact
on resourcing and revenue.

Mitigating actions:

The Chief Client Officer and Chief Product Officer and
their teams specifically focus on meeting client demands
and aim to broaden the portfel o of products and services
available to, and taken up by, our clients,

Consistently providing high quality work and getting
regular feednack from clients hzlps maintain strong client
relationships.

Diversification of the client por=folio including
identification of new clients thraugh active marketing
and business development activities.

In 2022, no single client wos responsible for a material share
(i.e. more than 5%) of the Groug's total revenue stream.

Change since 2021: §@

Strategic report

A
Macro economic and
political environment

Description

Group performance could be adversely affected by foctors
beyond its control such as economic conditions or political
uncertainty in key markets as well gs the impact of climaze
change on sectors that Ebiquity serves.

Certain factors such as higher cost inflation could directly
impact the Group's business. Reductions or changes in the
nature and level of media investments among existing and
potential clients could also materially impact demand for
Ebiquity's services,

Mitigating actions:
The Group monitors macre economic developments
to assess how it should respond to these.

Cur geographic diversity and spread of clients among
many sectors mitigates the impact of political and
economic challenges in any individual country or region
or of significant changes in activity in individual industry
sectors.

New services are being developed to help advertisers
to measure the environmental impact of their media
investment activities.

Change since 2021: e
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5
Liguidity

Description

Failure to manage liquidity could lead to breaches of
banking covenants. This would impact the ability of the
Group to maintain its banking facilities and to satisfy its
obligations to pay staff and suppliers as they fall due.

Mitigating actions:
Weekly cash flow reperting at Group level and regular
management review of cash flow forecasts.

Day to day cash flow managed within individual units.

Credit controllers within units are given collection targets
and regular debtor meetings are held.

Regular information provision to bank lenders and
dialogue with them.

Change since 2021: e
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Board of Directors

Rob Woodward

Non-Executive Chair and
Chair of the Nomination Committee

About

Rob jeined the Board as @ Non-Execative Director
inMarch 2018 and was appointed Cair in May of
the same yecr. He 1s a member of the Audit & Risk
Committee, ~he Remuneration Cormittee and
the Nominat on Committee.

Experience

Rob was CEQ of STV Group plc frem 2007 to
2017, where he led their successful

transformat on into a pre-eminent digital medio
group and oversaw a dramatic Incraase in
sharehelder volue. Prior to STV, Rob was
Commerciol Director ot Channet 4 Television

for four years and was previously a Managing
Director wath UBS Corporate Finorece and the
lead partner for Deloitte’'s TMT Inc Jstry Group
in Furope. He 1s currently Chair of the AIM-listed
data services provider Blancco Tecinology Group
plc and Choi- of the Met Office

Nick Waters

Chief Executive Officer

About
Nick joined the Board as Chief Executive Officer
in July 2020.

Experience

Nick hos more than 20 years' experience in senior
executive roles at leading international media,
digital cnd advertising businesses. Prior to
Ebiquity, Nick had worked for 10 years at

Dentsu Aegrs Network {formerly Aegis Group), @
multinationat media and digital marketing group.
Immediately prior to joning Ebiguity, Nick was
Executive Chair, UK and Iretand, having previcusly
been CEQ for Asia Pacific for mne years. Prior to
Dentsu Aegis Network, Nick held a number of
senior roles at global media agency Mindshare
aver more than 10 years, which he joined from
international advertising and marketing agency
Ogilvy & Mother, At Mindshare he progressed to
becomne CEQ of EMEA having been CEO Asia
Pacific and previcusly CEQ of Southeast Asia,
He has worked with some of the world's largest
advertisers and best known brands including
Ferd Motor Ce, Unilever, General Motors,
Microscft, HSBC and PepsiCo.
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Alan Newman
Chief Financial & Operating Officer

About

Alan joined the Board as Chief Finonciol &
Operating Officer in Janucry 2019. He was
interim CEOQ from November 2019 to July 2020,
after which he returned to his original rale.

Experience

Alan was previously CFO o YouGov ple, the AlM
listed global market resecrch and data analytics
group, between 2008 and 2017 He 15 currently
aNen-Executive Director ¢f Future plc and a
former Chair of Freud Musaum London. Prior

to YouGov ple, Alan was a partner at EY and
previously at KPMG, whaere he provided Board
level advisory and consulting services specialising
in the medig, technology and telecoms sectors.
He 15 a chartered accountant and has an MAin
Madern Languages (French and Spanish) from
Cambridge University.

Julie Baddeley

Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

About

Juhe joined the Board in November 2014,

She is a member of the Audit & Risk Committee,
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Experience

Julie has served in both executive ana
non-executive capacities on the boards of
leading companies inthe FTSE 100 and FTSE
250, as well as a number of major public sector
organisations. She has chaired the remunerction
committees of several company boards ond
served as Chair of Harvey Nash ple from 2013 to
2018, She is currently a Non-Executive Director
at FTSE 250 company Tl Fluid Systems, Senior
ingependent Director of Marshall of Cambridge
and Chair of Chapter Zero, a board climate
forum. Julie has broad experience of businesses
in professional services such as Ebiguity, and of
those in the consurmer industry and finance
sectors, Including BOC Group, Camelot,
Yorkshire Building Scaiety and Greggs.
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Lara lzlan
Non-Executive Director

About

Lerd joined the Beard in June 2021 She 1sa
member of the Audit & Risk Commit:ee, the
Remuneration Committee and the
Normination Committee.

Experience

Lara is currently the Director of Data Strategy
at [TV plc whe e she 1s responsible fer data and
Al strategy and product develepmert. Prior to
this, Larg led ITV's advanced advertising data
strategy, delivering cddressable procucts ond
measurement sclutions for connected TV
advertising. Lcra brings extensive exerience
from across the media industry with a particular
expertise in advertising and marketing
technology, having held senicr strotegic and
commercial pcsitions ot leading mecia brands,
including Aute Trader Group Ple, Telegraph Media
Group Ltd ana AOL. During her early career, Lara
was based in the US, undertaking va-ious analyst
and research rales, including with Disney and
OmniSky, o mobile internet start-up Lora holds
degrees from Harvard, LSE and London

Business Schoal.

Richard Nichols

Non-Executive Director and
Charr of the Audit & Risk Committee

About

Richard jcined the Board in Novernber 2008.
He is a member of the Audit & Risk Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committae.

Experience

Richard was CEQ of Instinctif Partners, the
internaticnal business communications
consultarcy, from 2006 to 20718, He then held
the role of Deputy Chair until September 2019
Richard is currently an adviser to various media
and entrepreneurial businesses ond 1s also Charr
of the Harpenden Trust. Prior to joining Instinctif
Partners, Richard was Chief Executive of
Huntsworth ple, following the merger with
In¢cepts Group pic, where he was the Chief
Executive and formerly Group Finance Birector.
An Economics graduate from Cambridge
Unwversity, Richard qualfied os o chortered
accountant with Price Waterhouse in Lendon.
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Lorraine Young
Company Secretary

About

Lorraine joined Ebiguity as Company Secretary
in January 2021

Experience

Lorraine is a chartered governance professional
and accredited medictor, who provides board
advisory and related consultancy services. Sheisa
Non-Executive Director of PHSC plc and 6 former
Neon-Executive Director of City of London Group
plc, both AM tisted companies. Lorraine is g Past
Presilent and Fellow of the Chartered
Governance Institute. She has held senior
governance roles at a numbe- of FTSE 350
companies. She ran her own company secretarial
and corperate governance advisory practice for 13
years, which in 2016 she merced with the cosec
team ot a UK top 50 law firm, where she was a
partner. Since February 2019, Lorraine has been

pursuing her own consultancy interests once more.

Financial statements
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Corporate
governance report

| am pleased to present the corporate
governance report for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Ebiquity applies the Quoted Companies
Alliance Corporate Governance Code
(the ‘QCA Code’) when zonsidering its
corporate governance practices because
this provides a robust yet sufficiently
flexible framework. The Board believes the
Company complies with all the principles
of the QCA Code, but this is an ongoing
process, requiring regular review and
action to ensure we continue to follow
appropriate standards as the business
develops and changes. A copy of the QCA
Code is available from www.theqca.com.

04

Corporate governance Financial statements

As Chair | am responsible for the
governance of the Board and its
committees and ensuring that
they continue to be effective.”

As Chair | cm responsible for the governance of the Board
and its committees and ensuring that they continue to be
effaective. This includes having a diverse combination of people
with the skills, knowledge and experience required to oversee
the Group; ensuring that the Board considers and discusses a
range of topics over the course of the year and receives
feedback from its key stakeholders. Direct engagement is
alwoys useful and over the past year we have continued to
invite various stokeholders to boord meetings to share their
feedback and experiences. This provides valuable third party
input to the Board.

This corporate governance report describes how the Board and
committees operate, the things we have done during the year,
including our Board ef factiveness review and how the Board
interacts with shareholders. There are more detailed reports
from the Audit & Risk Committee (on pages 62 and 43) and
from the Remuneration Committee (on pages 64 to 69). The
section 172 report (on pages 37 to 44) describes how the Board
engages with stakeholders and considers their views {and
other factors) when making decisions.

Rob Woodward
Chair

30 March 2023
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QCA Code compliance
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The main principles of the QCA Code are set out below,
together with references to where more details about
Ebiquity's compliance with them can be found.

Deliver growth

Principle 1 Establish a strategy and business model which promote long-~term value
for shareholders

Principle 2 Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs and expectations

Principle 3 Take inte account wider stakeholder and social responsibilities and their
implications for long-term success

Principle 4 Embed effective risk management, considering both opportunities and
thrects, throughout the organisation

Further details of the Company's business model and strategy are set out on
pages 12 to 14,

There is regular contact between the Company's shareholders and the Board.
Further details are set cut on page &1,

The Company’s key stakeholders (in addition to shareholders) are employees,
clients, suppliers ond trade bodies.

Details of the Company's stakeholder engagement can be found in the section 172
statement on pages 37 o 44,

The Board retains ultimote control and responsibitity for the risk management
of the Group. The risk management approcch adopted by the Boord is set cut
on pages 49 to 51
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QCA Code compliance continued

Principle 5

Principle &

Principle 7

Principle 8

Principle 9

Principle 10

Maintain a dynamic management framework

Maintain the Ecard as o well-functioning, balanced team led by the Chair
Ensure that between them the Directors have the necessary up-to-date
experience, skils and capabilities

Evaluate Board performance based on clear and relevant objectives,
seeking continucus improvement

Promote a corporate culture that is based on ethical values and behaviours

Maintain governance structures and processes that are fit for purpose
and support good decision-making by the Beard

Build trust

Cemmunicate how the Company is governed and is performing by
maintaining a dialogue with shareholders and other relevant stakeholders

Read more cbout the Boord on pages 57 and 58.

Biographies for each of the Directors are set out on poges 52 and 53 See also
the section on Board evaluation on pages 58 and 59.

A description of the most recent Board evaluation can be found on page 58.
Reod more about Ebiguity's overall governance on page 32 and in the section 172
statement on pages 37 to 44.

Read more throughout this corporcte governance report.

Read more on poge 41 and in the section 172 statement on pages 37 to 44.
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The Board of Directors

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for the ctrategic direction of the
Group and the appropriate management of its resources.
The Directors are also collectivel~ responsible for acting in
the way which they consider, in good faith, is most likely to
promote the success of the Comaany for the benefit of its
shareholders as a whole. In doing 50, the Directors have
regard to the interests of emplo:ees and the need to foster
business relationships with supp iers, customers, and othe-
stakeholders, in oddition to othe - relevant considerations.
Further information an how the Jirectors fulfil their
responsibilities and how the Boa-d engages with the
Company's key stakeholders car be found in the section 172
report on pages 37 to 44 A stotement of the Directors’
responsibilities in relation ts the annual report and financial
statements is set out on page 7L

The principal matters considered by the Board include:

)
)

L

o

The development and execution of strategy

The setting and implementation of the Group's vision,
mission, values and standards

Ongoing performance against approved budgets and
business plans, including KPls

Risk management ond internal controls

Financial results for the full and half year and dividend policy
Changes to the corporate, management or capital structure
Major capital projects

Board composition, Board and executive succession
planning

Stokeholder engagernent and feedbock

Ervironmental, social and governance matters beth
internally and as port of Ebiquity’s client offering

Corporate governance matters including approval of
the remuneration policy and QCA Code compliance

Corperate governance Financial statements

As part of good corporate governance there are certain
metters which are not appropriate to be delegated to
management and which are reserved for consideration by the
Board as a whole. The full list of such matters is availoble on
the Compony's website (www.ebiquity.com},

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises an independent Non-Executive
Chair, three other independent Non-Executive Directors and
two full-time Executive Directors. After seven years on the
Board, Tom Alexcnder stepped down from the Beard at the
conclusion of the AGM in 2022,

The Chair's principal role is te lead the Boord in determining
the Group's future direction and strategy and monitering
the achievement of its ogreed goals and objectives.

With assistance from the Company Secretary, the Chair is
responsible for setting the agenda for, and erganising the
business of, the Board as well as ensuring its effectiveness.
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The Board of Directors contirued

Composition of the Board continued

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for mmwﬁ:m
long-term strategy. developing appropriate business plans,
agreeing management KPls and leading the Executive
Directors and senior leadership team in the day to day
running of the Group's business He is respensible for primary
shareholder communications and ongoing relotionships with
investors and the Chair is also actively involved in maintaining
communications with investors, The Chief Executive Cfficer
and the Chief Financial Officer % Chief Operating Officer
regularly meet with investors and analysts to discuss the
performance of the business and its strategy. In addition,
once a year, the Chair and Comoany Secretary invite investors
to meet them to discuss corporate governance matters.

Biographical details of the Directors, inciuding the
committees on which they serve, are on pages 52 and 53.

Board evaluation

As part of this year's Board effectiveness review, the Beard
reviewed the skills analysis it undertook lest year, as a result
of which it is satisfied that, between them, the Directors have
the required skills, knowledge and experience to enable it to
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, Particular
strengths are expertise in client engagement, the advertising
and media sector, international susinesses, strategy and
stakeholder manogement. Areas where there was less
expertise {such as ESG and cybersecurity) are being
addressed bv Board updates and training and the use of
appropriate advisers when and if required.

The evaluation process consisted of the Directors completing
online questicnnaoires, which covered the following ospects of
Board effectiveness:

The role of the Board

Board meetings

Beoard reporting

Board support and development

Stakeholders

W gt Nty N N

Working together

In addition, there were questions on the effectiveness of
Board committees, the Chair, the Executive Directors
collectively, and the Non-Executive Directors collectively.

The results of the questionnaires were collated and analysed
by the Company Secretary. All of the Directors and the
Company Secretary also met with the Chair on o 1:1 basis to
provide any more detailed feedback. The Chair of the Audit &
Risk Committee undertock an evaluation of the Chair with
the rest of the Board and the Company Secretary. The Beard
review output was considered at the next Board meeting
where a number of recommendations were agreed. Overall,
the feedback was positive and indiccted that the board
continues to work well.

Feedback on the strategy day during the year was
particularly positive, directars appreciated a greater
opportunity to contribute and the involvement of external
stakeholders in a number of the day's sessions, The quality of
Board debate was rated as excellent, with Board members
feeling that their contributions were valued and that they
could easily raise concerns if they had any.

Corporate governance Financial statements

The recommendations from this year's review included:

} Continue to develop the repeorting on risk management and
mitigaticn at the Board and Audit & Risk Committee. This
has improved but there is an cim to have more focused
discussions on key risks and mitigations, with greater
monitering of trends aver time.

)} Keep in mind the skills analysis as and when new Board
members are soucht, possibly finding someone with
relevant marketing experience.

)} Review the format of some of the boord reports, so that
they are clearer when being viewed on electronic devices via
the board portal.

} Following other feedback, during 2023 it is intended that:

) the Board will be given a demonstration of the GMP365
olatform

} more customers will be invited to meet the Board and
provide feedback

) there will be more opportunities to meet and spend time
with executives below Board level

The recommendations from 2021 had included:

) Re-evcluating how the Board and Audit & Risk Committee
oversee risk, toking account of the new ERM system being
implemented within the business

This is continuing. Risk reporting has been reviewed and
continues to evolve to be more meaningful. Key risks are
emphasised and trends will be cbserved and monitored.

)} Discussing Board and executive team succession and
diversity and inclusion

The board considered this topic at a meeting during the
year and this is a reguiar annual board agenda item,
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Board evaluation continued
) Organising opportunities for the Board to meet and get to
know emerging talent

This hos begun with more people attending board
mestings throughout the year te present on various
aspects of the business. As trcvel restrictions have eased
considerably, a board site wisit is planned during 2023, at
which the board wilf meet some of the locaf team.

)} Sorme additional topics for Board discussions

The board agenda ptanner is regularly reviewed and new
topics added. For example, du-ing the strategy day there
were presentations and discuzsions on industry
perspectives with a range of stakeholders including an
industry analyst and on edito- from a trode publication.

} Some suggestions for improvements to Board popers

Board reporting continues to be developed and feedback
on board reparts was sought again as part of the 2022
board review process.

Appointment, election and re-election

of Directors

The Company's articles of association provide that each
Director shall retire from office cnd be eligible far
reappointment at the third annual general meeting after the
one at which they were appointed or last reappointed. At this
yeor's AGM, Rob Woodward and Richard Nichols will retire
and offer themselves for re-election by shareholders. The
Board is satisfied that the contributions of Rob and Richard
continue to bz effective and that they demonstrate sufficient
time commitment to their reles. The Board clse believes that
all of the Nen-Executive Directors are independent. The
Board acknowledges that Richard Nichols reached 14 years’
tenure as a Non-Executive Direczor in November 2022. After
careful review and consideration, the Beard hes determined
thot Richard remains independe st in character and
judgement in his role as o Non-Executive Director.

All Non-Executive Directors have letters of cppointment
which state their time commitment. Non-Executive Directors
ore required to commit an average of 12 days per year,
including attending Beard and committee meetings, the AGM
and any other shareholder meetings. The Chair commits te
four days per month carrying out his role. Further details
about the number of Board and committee meetings held
during the year and attendonce ot those meetings are set out
on page 60,

Board meetings
During the year the Board met formally on eight occasions.

The Board receives monthly management accounts and other
relevant information os appropriate in advance of each Board
meeting. This information is made available electronically via
an online Board portal. Directors are able to access this
information at any time, including after Board meetings.
There are o number of standing agenda items reviewed by the
Board at each regular Board meeting, including updates from
the Chair, CEQ, CFO and Company Secretary. Members of
the Executive Leadership Team and other employees are
invited to present to the Beard from time to time. During the
year the Board has received presentations from the regioral
business heads, the heads of the business in India, the CEO of
FirmDecisions, the Chief Client Officer, the Chief Product
Officer ond the Chief People Officer as well as the senior
executives who joined from MMi and Media Path. Detailed
minutes are token of all Board meetings, which are circuloted
to the Board and approved at the following Board meeting.
The following matters were among those considered by the
Board during the last year.

Corporate governance

Financial staternents

Gender diversity

Tenure

Wormen

Men

Up to 3 years
4to b years
6to 9 years

9+ years
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Board meetings continued

Strategy

During the year the Boord spent o full day discussing strategy. It received a number of
presentations from both internc and external stakeholders which led to consideration of a
number of topics. The CEQ gives regular updates on progress against the strategy and further
strategy sessions are pianned during 2023

Corporate culture

During the year, the Company s=t a new vision - "Creating a Better Media World, Together.”
This ties in with our purpose statement and velues. Work on these will be refreshed in 2023,
now that the acquisitions from 2022 are bedded in.

The Board ersures that policies and procedures are in place to cover matters such as
anti-bribery and corruption, business ethics, and modern slavery. The Company has
established crrangements by which individuals may, in confidence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting ard other matters. The Group has ¢
code of conduct which extends o cll of its business dealings and transccticns everywhere thot
it operates.

The Compary has a number of diversity working groups to ensure it functions as a diverse and
inclusive organisation. There are regular 'all staff’ webina-s at which members of the senior
management team update employees on plans and prog -ess in the business. They alsc provide
the opportunity for employees to ask questions on the tosics under discussion

Directors' conflicts of interest

Directors have a statutory duty to avoid conflicts of interest with the Company. The Company
Secretary keeps a register of the Directors’ other interests and potential conflicts which is
regularly rev ewed and updoted as necessary. At the beginning of each Board meeting the
Directors confirm they have no conflicts of interest in relation te the matters being considered.

Risk management
The Cempony's approach to risk is set out on pages 49 to 51.

Advisers to the Board and committees

All Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary, who attends all Board and
committee meetings. The Board consults external advisers on various matters as and when
appropriate. These include the Company's nornad and broker, Financial PR, legal, tax, and
remuneration advisers. The Company's cuditors attend meetings of the Audit & Risk
Committee. Directors may take independent professional advice at the Company's expense as
and when necessary to support the performance of their duties as directors of the Company.

Attendance at Board and committee meetings in 2022
{figures denote the numker of meetings attended and the number of meetings the Director
was eligible to attend)

Audit & Risk Remuneration Nomination

Board member Board Committee Committee Committee
Rob Weodward 8/8 3/3 44 1
Nick Waters 88 03 . » T
+.03,..D,,._mx,o nder? w\w .ﬂ) ‘ ‘ J\M ‘ 4:3
Julie Baddeley 8/8 33 4/h 1
Lara lzlan u\m 3/3 b\w. - ,_\,_
Richard Nichols s 3/3 4/t 11
1 Attended by invitation,
2 Resigned on 19 May 2022,
Board committees
Committee membership

Audit & Risk Nomination Remuneration

Committee Committee Committee

Richard Nichols {Chair)
Julie Baddeley

Rob Woodward (Chair}
Julie Baddeley

Julie Baddeley (Chair)

Lora lzlan

Lara Izlan Lara lzlen Richard Nichols

Rob <<on.ua.<<.,u rd m_mjo ﬁa:z_nro_m ‘ mov Woodward
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Board committees continued

Committee membership cortinued

The Board has established several committees to suppart it in the performance of its
functions, The principal committees are the Audit & Risk Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, and the Nominatic » Committee. The Compony Secretary acts as secretary
to the committees and their terms of reference are ovoilable on the Group's website
www.ebiquity.com.

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for the overall financial reparting of the Company
and Group and its report is on pages 62 and 63. The Board considers Richard Nichols te have
recent and relevant financial experience as he is a qualified chartered accountant and has
served as the Finonce Director and Chief Executive Officer of listed and private companies.
The Chief Financicl Officer & Chief Operating Officer also ottends these meetings ot the
invitation of the Committee Chair.

The purpose of the Audit & Risk Committee is to ensure good financial practices are in ploce
throughout the Group, to monitor that controls are in force to ensure the integrity of financial
information, to review the interim and annual financial statements, to assess the adeguacy
and effectiveness of the Company's risk management systems, and to provide a line of
communication between the Board and the external auditors. The Committee has access to
the external auditors as well as those responsible for preparing financial information within
the Group.

Remvuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsitle for the Executive Directors' remuneration and
other benefits and terms of employment, including performance-related benuses and share
options, as well as providing general guidance on wider aspects of remuneration. The report of
the Remuneration Committee 1s on pages 64 to 69. The Executive Directors may attend part
of the meetings at the invitation of the Committee Chair but are not present for any
discussions regarding their own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Normination Committee meets as necessary and has responsibility for nominating
candidates to the Board for appeintment as directors, bearing in mind the benefits of
diversity and a broad represertation of skills acress the Board. It also considers Board
composition and Board and ccmmittee succession planning, including any relevant output
from the Board evaluation,

Shareholder engagement

The Company communicates with shorehaolders through its annual report and accounts,

the Annual General Meeting, face-to-face meetings with major shareholders and results
presentations. A range of corporate information (including alk regulatory announcements and
annual reports and accounts) is available on the Company's website at www,ebigquity.com,
The website contains details of all votes cast by shareholders at its Annual General Meeting
and this is also announced after the meeting.

As set out in this corporcte governance report, the Directors actively seek to build
refationships with sharehelders. The CEO and CFQO are responsible for shareholder liaison
and present to the major shareholders and analysts after the publication of both the full and
half-year results. As well as a presentation of the results, the meetings give shareholders the
opportunity to ask any questions and discuss their needs and expectations, Once a year, the
Chalr invites major shareholders to meet to discuss corporate governance or other matters
with him and the Company Secretary and they are both available at other times to deal with
any shareholder enquiries.

The Remuneration Committee Chair consults with major sharehelders before material
changes are mode to Exacutive Directors’ remuneration. The AGM is an opportunity for ali
shareholders to meet the Board and ask any questions.

Reteil investors can submit routine enguiries about their sharehaldings te the Company's
registrars, whose contact details are on page 142 and send any other questions via the
Company Secretary (CompanySecretary@ebiguity.com). They can sign up to receive email
notification of regulatory announcements at www.ebiquity.com. A live share price chart is
also available.

During 2022 the Company offered current and potential investors the opportunity to attend
presentations given by the CEQ and CFO ot the time of the full and holf yeor results
announcements via the Investor Meet Company platform. This initiative was well received
and it is ptanned to continue with these presentations during 2023.
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Committee report

Introduction

| am pleased to present the report of the
Audit & Risk Committee (the ‘Committee”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022,
This report details the Committee's role
and respensibilities and key activities
during the year. Although the Board has
ultimate responsibility for the Group's
system of internal controls and for
managing the Group's risks, the Board has
delegated to the Audit & Risk Committee
oversight of the Group's financial
reporting and the Grouo's risk
management process which aims to
identify and mitigate significant risks.

Composition of the Audit & Risk Committee
All of the members of the Committee are independent
Non-Executive Directors with a combination of occounting,
financial and commercial experience. The Board considers
Richard Nichols, who chairs the Committee, to have recent

and relevant financial experience. His biography is on page 53.

The Committee met three times during the year,

The attendonce of its members is set out in the table on
page 60. Meetings of the Committee are also nerrmally
attended by the Group Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Financial & Operating Officer, the Company Secretary

and other members of senior management, together with
representatives from the external auditors Deloitte LLP
('Deloitte’), which ensures the Committee and the external
auditors have access to all relevant financial ond aperational
knowledge.

The Committee also meets with the external auditors
without the Executive Directors and other senior
management present to ensure it maintains an independent
view and the Committee also meets alone when required.

no_.ﬂo_.ﬂ.no governance

Financial statements

Role and responsibilities of the Audit & Risk
Committee

The Committee's terms of reference can be found on

the Company's website. The principal responsibilities of
the Committee include:

)}

monitoring the integrity of the Group's financial
statements, inciuding a review of significant financial
reporting issues and judgements;

considering the Group's accounting policies and practices
and the application of accounting standards;

overseeing the refationship with the Group's externaf
auditers and reviewing their independence and objectivity,
the effectiveness of the external audit process and the
appeintment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditars;

reviewing the Group's financial controls and other internal
reporting systems;

reviewing progress on implementing control improvements;
and

keeping under review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management systems. Further information on
the Group's approach to risk is on pages 49 to 51
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Activities during the year
The key motters that the Committea considered during
the year are isted below,

Financial statements
In relation to the full and half year financial statements,
the Committee's principal activities were:

) the assessment of the carrying valve of goodwill and
intangible assets: the Committee reviews annually
the impairment test undertaken by management of the
carrying value of any cash-generating umnt and also assesses
at each half year whether there are any indicotors of
impairment. In its test, the Committee reviews the key
assumptions in the assessment of goodwill and the
sensitivity of these assumptions and impact on the carrying
value of goodwill and intangizle essets. On this basis the
Committ=e makes recommendations to the Board in
this regard

} revenve racoghnition: the Cor-mittee reviewed the
Judgement applied by management in recognising revenue
including the calculation of revenue cut-off at the year end

) presentation ond disclosure of highlighted items: the
Committze reviewed the nature and quantum of the items
proposed by management to be classified as highlighted,
to ensure they were consistent with the Group's accounting
policies and to ensure appropriate and balanced disclosure
had been made in the financial statements

)} acquisitions: the Committee reviewed the assumptions
made and calculations of fair value of the purchased assets
and of geodwill relating to the companies acquired during
the year

} capitalisation of intangibles: the Committee reviewed the
nature and quartum of the system development costs
proposed by management to be capitalised, together with
the period over which the capitalised items will be
amortised, te ensure they are consistent with the Group's
accounting policies

)} taxation: the Committee reviewed the significant
components of the tax charge and provision and the overall
effective tax rate of the Group as a whole. it alsc approved
the release of tax provisions relating to historic US tox
liabilities and potential transfer pricing challenges

)} 9going concern: the Committee considered going concern
and details are given in the Directors’ report on page 73.
Based on this it approved and reccommended to the Board,
the making of the Going Concern statement set out in the
Directors’ Report

} segmental anclysis: the Committee reviewed and
aporoved the changes te the definition of reporting
segments to regional operaticns as reflecting better the
way that the Group is now managed. Details are set cut
in note 2 to the financiol statements

External quditors

Following an cudit tender process carried out in 2021,
Deloitte LLP were appointed as auditors to the Group in
place of PricewaterhouseCaooapers LLP (PwC") with effect
from the conclusion of the 2022 AGM.

Corporate governance Financial stotements

Otherwise, with regard to Ebiquity’'s external auditors,

the Committee's principal activities were to:

} approve the terms of engagement and fees;

} approve the annual audit plan;

)} review the oudit findings and management's response; and
}

evaluate the auditors’ independence and objectivity,

Risk
With regard to risk, the Committee's principal activities
were to:

} Consider the increased geopolitical risk {including sanctions'
compliance) fallowing the war in Ukraine and the ongoing
efforts to divest the Russian subsidiary

} Review the risk register and approve the assessment of
key risks and mitigations

Provision of non-audit services

The Committee reviews with management the engagement
of the external auditors for non-audit services and the level of
associated non-audit fees. Details of fees paid to the auditors
during the vear are outlined in note 4 to the financial
stotements.

Richard Nichols
Avudit & Risk Committee Chair

30 March 2023
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Committee report

Introduction

| am pleased to present the report of

the Remuneration Committee for the
year ended 31 December 2022. This report
details the Company’s overall approach
to pay, benefits and incentives for its
executives and the remuneration
arrangements that are in place for

the Directors.

We have recently adopted a new long-term incentive plan as
our previous one expired in 2022, As Ebiguity is ¢ smalt
company we shall (as before) be using a single plan to make
awards to Executive Directors, the Executive Leadership
Team and certain other senior managers. Therg is some
flexibility in the rules to facilitate this and we are not changing
any aspects of our remuneration policy at this time. We have
taken advice from Alvarez & Marsal, our remuneration
advisers, ta ensure the plan is in line with current market
practice and consulted with our major shareholders. The key
features of the plan are outlined in the report below.

Julie Baddeley

Remuneration Committee Chair

30 March 2023

Corporate governance Financial statements
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Remuneration framework

The Board recognises the need to have the right remunerotion
framework in place to attract and retain people with
industry-leading skills, the knowledge and the experience
needed to develop and grow the business, and to incentivise
them to deliver the Group's strategy and promote long-term
sustainable success. The Committee considers the following
when setting the remuneration framework:

) the responsibility of the executive's role, their experience
and performance;

) theremuneration arrangements in place for the wider
waorkforce,

} market practice at other companies of a similar size and
complexity, as well as at other companies in the sector;

) theneed to attract and retain executives of the right calibre
with the required skills and the need to get the right balance
of short and long-term incentives; and

) the need for the short and long-term incentives to be
aligned with the Group’s strategy.

The Committee may make use of some or all of the
remuneration components below.

Baose salary

Base salaries are set by the Remuneration Committee each
year, after taking into consideration levels of responsibility,
the performance and experience of the individucl, appropriate
market comparators and the arrangements for the wider

UK warkferce.

Benefits

Benefits in kind for the Executive Directors are in line with
general policies for the UK workforce and include private
medical insurance, life assurance and critical lness cover.
Benefits do not form part of pensionable earnings.

Pension

Executive Directors are entitled to receive employer
contributions to a personal pension plan. The maximum
contribution by the Company is 3% of base salary, which is in
line with pension arrangements for the wider UK workforce.

Annual bonus

Annual bonuses for the Executive Directors are typically
determined by reference to performance, based on Group
financial targets and individual objectives, which are relatad
to the Group's overcll strategy and set at the beginning of
the year. The maximum bonus potential for the Executive
Directors is 100% of salary.

Corporate governance  Financial stotements

Long-Term Incentive Plan ('LTIP")

The Company's 2012 LTIP expired in September 2022 and
cannot therefore be used to make any new long-term
incentive awards, On the recommendation of the
Rernuneration Committee and following consultation with
the remuneration advisers and communication with the
Company's largest investors, the board has adopted a new
LTIP ('the 2023 LTIP'). The structure is broadly similar to
the previous plan, updated for current practice.

Awards under the plan are subject to centinued employment
and (in most cases, see below) the achievernent of stretching
performance conditions. These are chosen by the
Remuneration Committee to support the delivery of the
Company's strategy and align the interests of the Executive
Directers ond other participants with those of shareholders.
The performance condition may vary each year depending on
the financial and strategic pricrities. For the time being, we
expect that we will continue to use a target based on EPS
growth over a three year period. We have considered and
taken advice on a range of alternative meosures but decided
that EPS best incentivises management and aligns
shareholders’ and executives’ interests.
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Remuneration framework continued

Long-Term Incentive Plan {"LTIP') continued
Key terms of the 2023 LTIP are a: follows:

)

Awards may be granted to e ployees of the Group and
are approvad by the Remuneration Committee.

Awards may be granted as options or conditional share
awards.

Awards will lapse on the tenth anniversary of the cate of
grant, unless they have been exercised or lapsed under the
rules of the plan beforehand.

Awards to Executive Directors and the Executive Leadership
Team will rormally be subject te perfermance conditions,
set by the Remuneration Committee. Awards to other
senior managers, below the Executive Leadership Team,
may also be subject to a threshold target, such as a
financial underpin, os determi-ed by the Remuneration
Committes.

Participants may be entitled to receive ¢ benefit equivalent
to dividends paid on any shares subject to awards that vest
if so determined by the Remuneration Committee.

Awards may be satisfied by tha issue of new shares, the
transfer of shares from Treasury or the transfer of shares
from the Employee Benefit Trist,

Awards will normaily be granted in the six weeks following
the announcement of results “or any pericd.

Awards moy not generally be cransferred (except to a
personal representative if a participant dies) and lapse
immediately if a participant becomes bankrupt.

Awards are not generally granted at the maximum level

} Inany 10 year period, the total number of shares which may
be issued or transferred from Treasury under the plan and
any other employee share plan adopted by the Company
may not exceed 10% of the issued ordinary share capital
when Awards are made.

) Theinitial value of shares over which an Award may be
granted to an individual participant in respect of any
finoncial year, shall be limited to 150% of their salary’.

) The Remuneration Committee may impose malus and
clewback conditions on any award.

)} If aparticipant is determined to be a ‘good leaver’, then,
subject to the discretion of the Remuneration Committee,
their Awards will vest on the normal vesting date (to the
extent any performance condition has been met) and the
number of shares subject to the Award will be pro rated by
reference to the time from the date of grant to their leoving
date, relative to the time from the date of grant to the date
of vesting.

} [If o participant is not determined to be a 'good leaver’,
vnvested Awards will lopse when they leave the Compary
or when they give or receive notice to leave.

)} [If the Company is the subject of a takeover then,
depending on the terms and the structure of the acquisition,
the Awards may vest and become exercisable immediately
(over a reduced number of shares) or they may be replaced
by equivalent Awards in the new controtling entity.

Corporate governance Financial statements

Executive Directors' service contracts

The CEQ and CFO both have service contracts with the
Company. These agreements each provide for six months’
netice by the Company and six months' notice by the
executive, Under the contracts, a payment instead of notice
may only be made in respect of salary and benefits.

Non-Executive Directors' fees and appointment terms
Fees for the Non-Executive Directors are determined by the
Board to reflect the time commitment and responsibility,
including chairing Board committees. The fees were reviewed
in December 2022 and it was agreed to increase the base fee
from £35,000 pa to £40,000 pa from 1 January 2023, This
fee had remained the some since at least 2016, The fee for
the Board Chair was increased from £85,000 pa to £%5,000
pa with effect from the saome date. This fee had not changed
since the appointment of the current Board Chair in 2018, The
fee for chairing o Board committee remains at £5,000 per
yvear and applies to the Audit & Risk Committee Chair and the
Remuneration Committee Chair. The fee for the Board Chair
includes chairing the Nominations Committee.

The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment
which provide for three months’ notice by the Company and
three months' netice by the Director. Fees are only paycble up
to the date of leaving. Appointments are for on initial period of
three years and may be renewed for subsequent three year
periods following review and agreement by the Board and
subject to pericdic reappeintment by shareholders at the AGM
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Toxable 2022 01
Salary/fees benefits Bonus Total Tatal
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Executive

Nick Waters 370 T 157 538 574
Alan Newman 238 4 101 343 354

Non-Executive
Rob Woodward - — 85 85
Tom Alexander” - — 15 35
Julie Baddeley 40 - - 40 37
Lara lzlan 35 - — 35 20
Richard Nichols 40 — — 40 37
822 15 258 1,096 1,142

1  Resigned on 19 May 2022

Payments to past Directors
No payments were made to past Directors during the year.

Base salary

Fellowing @ review in March 2023 the Committee agreed to increase the CEQ's salory to £391,755 pa a 5% increase which is in line with the budgeted salary increase for the wider UK

workforce. This change will take effect from 1 April 2CG23,

Pensions

No Director was a member of a Company pension scheme during the year (2021: nil). Contributions totaliing £4,000 (2021: 6,000) were mode to Nick Waters' private pension scheme during

the year. Of the payment made in 2021, £4,000 related to 2021 and £2,000 related to 2020.
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Directors’ remuneration in the year ended 31 December 2022 continued

Annual bonus

Corporate governance

Financial statements

For 2022, the annual bonus for Executive Directors was based 75% on Group operating profit and 25% on individual strategic objectives. The Executive Directors continued to make strong
contributions to the progress of the business in 2022. Nick Waters will receive a bonus of £156,702 and Alan Newman will receive a bonus of £100,737 in respect of that year. In each case,

this is 42% of <heir annucl salary.

For 2023, the annual bonus for Executive Directors will again be based on a combination of financial targets and individual strategic objectives. The maximum bonus opportunity for each

of them rema ns at 100% of base saolary.

Share optior awards

At 31 December 2022, the intereszs of the Executive Directors in share option awards under the Ebiquity 2012 Executive Share Option Plan were as follows:

Share options

Share options

outstanding at Share options Share options Share options  outstanding ot End of

31 Decernber lopsed during  exercised during  granted dur ng 31 December Exercise Date of performance

2021 the year the year the year 2022 price grant period

Nick Waters 1,796,745 - - — 1,796,745 Nil 30/4/2021 31/12/2023

Nick Waters - - - 916,257 916,257 NIl 29/9/2022  31/12/2024
Total 1,796,745 - - 916,257 2,713,002

Alan Newman 410,000 — — -— Nil 4/12/2019 31/12/2027

Alan Newman 385,017 - - - 385,017 NIl 30/6/2021  31/12/2023

Alan Newman B - - 235,609 235,609 NIl 29/9/2022  31/12/2024
Total 795,017 410,000 — 235,609 620,626

The performarnce conditions for the options granted to Alan Newman in 2019 were not met as a result of which these options lapsed.

No outstanding awards to Executive Directors were due to vest by reference to the yeor ended 31 December 2022,
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Directors’ remuneration in the year ended 31 December 2022 continued
Share option awards continved

The share options granted to Nick Waters and Alan Newman in April 2021 are subject to an
absolute EPS performance condition, which will be measured at the end of the financial year
to 31 December 2023 and will vest as follows:

EPS % vesting
4.5p 20
5.0p - __ _, _, - 30
55p . 50
6.0p _ - o - - 75
5.5p o - o 80
70p _ : 90
75p , , , ,, o 100

The share options granted to Nick Waters and Alan Newman in September 2022 are subject to
a performance condition based on EPS growth over three years, which will be measured at the
end of the financial year tc 31 December 2024. The owards will vest as follows:

= % vesting
o7t o B
B.53p 100

The awards will vest on a straight line basis in between these points.

For both the 2021 and 2022 awards, EPS is defined os the adjusted diluted earnings per share
of the Company, subject tc such adjustments as may be determined by the Board from time
te time {including any adjustments made to reflect structural changes in the Company such
as significant disposals).

Directors’ interests in the shares of Ebiquity plc

At At
31 December 31 December
2022 2027
Executive

Nick Waters 68,868 50,000
Alan Newman 397,736 360,000

Non-Executive
Rob Woodward 185,016 147280
Julie Baddeley 15,000 15,000
i Paddel S e B0
Richard Nichols 7T 20,000 200000
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022,

Strategic Report

in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2005,
o Strategic Report is set out on pages 1te 51, which
incorporates te Chair's Statement, the Chief Executive's
Review, the Financiol Review and Business Model. It includes
details of expected future develooments in the Group's
business and the key performance indicators used by
management. The Strategic Repert has been prepared to
provide the Cocmpany's shareholders with a fair review of
the Company’s business and a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing it. It should not be relied upor
by anyone, including the Compeny’s shereholders, for any
other purpose.

Results and Dividends

The audited financial statements are set out from page 84
The future plans for the business are set out in the Chief
Executive's Review. No dividend is being pcid or proposed
in respect of the yeor to 31 December 2022,

Research and development

The Group continues to invest in the development of
procucts. During the period, a total of £276,000 was
caprtalised in relation to such projects. This has resulted in the
development of a number of new products and services.

Political donations and political expenditure

It is the Company's pelicy not to make political donations and,
accordingly, no political donations were made and no political
expenditure was incurred in the period {2027 nil).

Modern Slavery Act
Ebiquity's statement regarding the Modern Slavery Act 2015
can be viewed on its website {(www.ebiquity.com).

Acquisitions

On 29 January 2022, the Group acquired Forde and Semple
Media Works, the leading media performance consultancy in
Canada. Forde and Semple had a longstonding relationshig
with the Group in support of projects covering Canadian
media. The tetal consideration was CAD$1.3 miflion

(£0.8 million), of which CAD$1.2 million {(£0.7 million} was
paid on completion and CAD$Q.1 million (£0.06 million)

wos deferred for one vear. Forde and Semple had revenues
of CAD$1.1 million in the financial year ended 31 January 2021
and net assets of CAD$0.4 million (£0.2 million) on
completion. It has now been renamed Ebiquity Canada Inc.

Corporate governance Financial statements

On 4 April 2022, the Group ccguired Media Management LLC
('MMi"), a US-based medio audit specialist, for an initiat
consideration of US$8.0 million (£6.1 million) with a deferred
contingent consideration element payable in 2025, 84% of the
initial consideration (US$6.7 million/£51 miltion) was paid in
cash and 16% (US%$1.3 million/£1.0 million), was applied by

the vendors to subscribe for 1,737,261 Ebiquity ordinary
shares. The contingent consideration will be based on

1.0 times adjusted earnings before interest and tax of the
combined Ebiquity US and MMi businesses reported for the
year ending 31 Decernber 2024. This has been estimated to be
US$4.C million/E3.0 million. 80% of this will be payable
directly in cash to the vendars and 20% will be applied by the
vendors to subscribe for Ebiquity ordinary shares,

On 22 April 2022, the Group acquired Media Path Network
AR ('Media Path"), a Swedish-based multinotional media
cansultancy, for a consideration of £15.5 million. 75%
(£711,625,000) was paid in cash and 25% {£3,875,000) was
paid by the issue of 6,919,642 new Ordinary Shares to the
Media Path venders, An additional cash payment of
£485,000 was made in June 2022 representing working
capital in the completion accounts as at 31 March 2022 in
excess of the contractually agreed target amount.
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Directors’ report continued

Directors
The Directors who served throughout the year were:

Julie Baddeley
Lara Izlan

Alan Newman
Richard Nichols
Nick Waters
Reb Woodward

Tom Alexander resigned on 19 May 2022,

The Directors’ biographies are set out on pages 52 and 53.
Further information about the Directors’ interests in Ebiquity
olc shares is grovided in the Remuneration Committee report
on page 69.

Directors’ third-party indemnity provisions
The Company purchased and maintained throughout the
period, and up to the date of this report, Directors’ and
Officers’ liabi ity insurance in respect of its Directors ond
Officers and those of its subsidiaries and deeds of indemnity
ore in place between the Company and each of the Directors.

Employees

Ebiquity is committed to the continucus development of its
employges. The Group's employees are integral to the success
of the business and as a result the Group pursues
employment practices which are designed to attract, retoin
and develop this talent to ensure the Group retoins its market
leading position with motivated and satisfied employees.
Further details of engagement with employees are set out in
the ESG report on pages 26 to 36 and in the section 172
report on poges 37 to 44.

The Group seeks to recruit, develop and employ throughout
the organisotion suitably qualified, capable and experienced
people, irrespective of sex, age, race, disability, religion or
belief, marital or civil partnership status, or sexual orientation.
The Group gives full and fair consideration to all applications
for employment made by people with disabilities, having
regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities. Where
existing employees become disabled, it is the Group's policy to
provide continuing employment wherever practicable in the
same or an alternative position and to provide oppropriate
training. It is the policy of the Group that training, career
development and promation oppertunities should be available
to allemployees.

Corporate governance  Financial statements

Financial instruments

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank
loans and cash. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to provide finance for the Group's operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations. The operations of the Group
generate cash and the planned growth of activities is cash
generative. Full details of financial instruments are included
in note 25 to the financial statements.
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Substantial shareholdings
At the date of this report, the Company's issued share capital consisted of 120,359,797 ordinary shares of 25p each and a total of 116,159,791 voting rights. The Ebiquity plc 2010 Employee

Benefit Trust <the 'EBT") held 4,200,000 issued ordinary shares to sotisfy awards under the Company's share option plan. The trustee has agreed not to vote the ordinary shares which it holds
and therefore 4,200,000 ordinary shares are treated as not carrying voting rights.

At the date of this report, the fol owing had notified the Company that they held 3% or more of the Company's ordinary share capital. Apart from the shares held by the EBT, no other person
has reported an interest of 3% or more in the Company's ordinary shares.

No of % of 1ssued % of
Mame of sharetolder shores held share copital voting rights
Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management - 22,042,198 18.31 18.98
BGF Irvestments . h o o - o 1075969 169 Cnmw
Artemis Investment Management o © mmssoss 925 959
JO Harmbro Capital Managemert S b o 9750000 810 839
....:._:<mmw3mwﬁ_:‘.mm_.‘:‘mw_ml‘a“_ S S o , &Mm#mﬂa ,.,w.ww ) mﬁ
_,u_d:x:zA.WBﬂ__m,no.y._gmmﬁBm:ww ““““““““““““ mjmooo 5.08 - ,m.mo
Herald Investment Management o S S . 58m483 483 501
Chelverton Asset Management . o o S o 5000000 415 430
CRUX Asset Management 48B3 400 4l

SEB Enskilda :u.uwm.mwm ‘ ..,,.w,go : u..,wm
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Going concern

The financial statements have be=n prepared on a going
concern basis. The Group meets izs day to day working capitcl
requirements through its cash reserves and borrowings,
described in note 19 to the financial statements. As at

31 December 2022, the Group hac cash balances of
£12,360,000 (ncluding restricted cash of £1,049,000) and
undrawn bank facilities avaiable »f £8,500,000, was cash
generative and within its banking covenants.

During the year, the Group continsed to trade within the
limits of its ba sking facility and asscciated covenants.

In Mareh 2022, this facility was increased and extended to
provide a total available of £30 mrillion, initiolly for a period
of three years to March 2025 and extendable forup to a
further two years. Annual reductians to the facility of £1.25
millien will apply from June 2023. Deteils of the facility terms
and covenants applying are set oLt in note 19 to the financiat
statements.

in assessing the going concern stetus of the Group and
Company, the Directors have conzidered the Group's
forecasts and projections, taking account of reasenably
possible changss in trading performance and the Group's
cash flows, liquidity, and bonk fac lities. The Directors have
prepared a model to forecast covenant compliance and
liquidity for the next 12 months that includes a base cose and
scenarios to form a severe but plausible downside case.

The base case assurnes growth in revenue and EBITDA based
on the Group's budget for the year ended 31 December 2023
and management projections for the year ended

31 December 2024. The severe but plausible cose assumes

a downside adjustment to revenue cf 10% throughout the
period with no reductions in operoting costs. Under both of
these cases, there is headroom on covenant compliance
throughout the going concern period.

The Directors consider that the Group and Company will

have sufficient liquidity within existing bank facilities, totall ng
£30 million, to meet their obligations during the next 12
months and hence consider it appropriate to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Independent auditers and disclosure

of information to auditors

All of the current Directors have taken all the steps that they
ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any
information needed by the Group’s auditors for the purposes
of their audit and to establish that the auditors are oware of
that information. The Directors are not aware of any relevant
audit informotion of which the auditors are unaware,

Deloitte LLP were appointed auditors of the Company at the
AGM in 2022, Deloitte LLP have indicated their willingness to
continue in office and therefore a resolution for their
reappointment will be proposed at the AGM.

Corporate governance Financial statements

Annual General Meeting

The Notice of the Company's Annual General Meeting
accompanies this document and is also available on the
Company's website ot www.ebiquity.com.

By order of the Board

Lorraine Young
Company Secretary

30 March 2023
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Statement of Directors' responsibilities

in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law end regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial stotements for each financiol year.
Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance
with international accounting stc ndards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and the Company financial statements in accordance with United
Kingdem Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 1071 'Reduced Diszlosure Framework’, and applicable law).

Under company low, Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the stote of affairs of the Group and Company
and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing the financiol statements,
the Directors are required to:

) select suitable accounting polizies and then apply them consistently;

} state whether applicable interational accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 have been followed for the Group financial
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 107, have been
followed for the Company fincncial stotements, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements;

)} make judgements and accounzing estimates thot are reosonable and prudent; and

} prepare the financial statemenits on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Group and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are also responsib € for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequete accounting recerds that are sufficient
to show and explain the Group's and Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial poesition of the Group and Company and enable them

to ensure that the financial stat 2ments comply with the Companies Act 2006,

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company's website.
Legislation in the United Kingdon governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from leg slation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations
In the case of each Director in office at the date the Directors’ report is approved:

Y sofarasthe Director is aware, there is no relevant qudit informaotion of which the
Group's and Company’s auditors are unoaware; and

} they have taken all the steps that they cught to have taken as a director in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's and
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
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Independent auditors’ report

to the members of Ebiquity plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion

In our opinion:

) the financial statements of Ekiguity plc (the ‘parent company”} and its subsidiaries {the
'Group’) give o true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s
affairs os ct 31 December 2022 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

} the Group “inancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdem cdopted international accounting standards;

} the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting
Standord 121 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' and

} thefinancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financicl statements which comprise:

) the consolidated income statement;

} the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

} the consolidated and Company statements of financial position;
)} the consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity;
} the consolidated statement of cash flows; and

Y} thereloted notes 1to 32,

The finencial reporting framewo -k that has been applied in the preparation of the Group
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting
standards. Tha financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Strategic report

Corporate governance Financial statements

2, Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in occordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (1SAs
(UK and appliceble law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the auditors' respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the
Financial Reperting Council's {the 'FRC's") Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsib

ies in accordance with these requirements,

We beheve that the audit svidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key cudit matters that we identified in the current year were:

} Imparment of goadwill

} Revenue recognition

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

D Newly identified @  Similar level of risk

D Increased level of risk @ Decreased level of risk
Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements

was £750,000 which was determined on the basis of revenue.
Scoping We focused our audit work on eight components, six of which were

subject te full audit scope, and two were subject to specified audit
procedures. Components in scope account for 72% of Group
revenue,

Significant changes
in our approach

This is our first year audit. In undertaking our risk assessment, we
did not determine the impairment risk in Ebiguity olc (parent
company) to be a key audit motter.
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Independent auditors’ report cntinves

to the members of Ebiquity ple

Report on the audit of the financial statements continved
4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements s apprepriate.

Qur evaluation of the Birectors’ assessment of the Group's and parent company’s ability to
continue to acopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

¥} Evoluating management's methed and testing the arithmetic accuracy and integrity of the
modet;

) Assessing the reasonableness of the key cssumptions adopted in preparing the forecasts and
assessed whether the underlying data is consistent with our understanding of the entity and
audit work;

Y Performing a retrospective analysis of management assumptions to assess managament
forecastinc accuracy;

Y Evalucting consistency of the “srecasts used for the going concern model with the forecasts
used in the goodwill model;

) Considering the sensitivity scenarios and the impact on the liquidity and covenants over the
period;

} Cvaluating the likelihood of the downside scenarios transpiring and feas
actions; and

y of mitigating

)} Assessing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the financial statements,

Based on the work we have perfarmed, we have not identified any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on
the Group's and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at
least 12 montns fram when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going cencern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters thot, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the
most significent assessed risks of moterial misstotement {whether or not due to fraud) that
we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect en: the overall
audit strateqy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our qudit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

5.1. Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ©

Key audit matter The Group has goodwill (FY22: E44m, FY21: £28m) ond intangible

description assets (FY22: £12m, FY21: £5m) for a totol of £56m (FY21: £33m).
No impairment was recognised in the year (FY21: ni). There are 14
CGUs in total {(FY21: 13 CGUs).

Management’s assessment of the carrying value of goodwiil and
intangibles involves significant judgement around the future
results of the business. The most judgementel area within
monogement's goodwill impairment ossessment is the forecast
cash flow, specifically the EBITDA growth. We specifically focused
our work on two cash-generating units ('CGUs") which had
relatively lower headroom and had historically underperformed
against budgets. These were Narth America {(goodwill and
intangible assets of £10m, FY21: £2.4m} and China (goodwill and
intangible assets of £2.8m, FY21: £2.9m). In particular, we focused
our work on the appropriateness of monagement's assumptions
around the EBITDA forecasts, the discount rate and the long-term
growth rates included in the velue-in-use ('ViU') calculation.

The relevant accounting policy for the Group s presented in note 1
and further details, including sensitivity analysis required by IAS 34,
15 in note 10 to the financial statements.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements continued 5.2, Revenue recognition &
5. Key audit matters continued
5.1, Impairmant of goodwill ard intangible assets @ continued

How the scope of our
audit responded to the
key audit matter

We obtained an understanding of the refevant controls over the
Vil calzulation performed by management,

We have challenged the key assumptions utilised in the cash flow
forecosts with reference to historical trading performance,
impacts of the current economic environment on future cash
flows, narket expectations and our understanding of the Group's
strategic initiatives. In particular, the North America CGU has o
history of losses but has made ¢ profit in 2022 and we challenged
the growth assumpticns in this CGU.

With tne assistance of cur valuation specialists, we independently
recalculated o range of discount and growth rates based on
market duta ot 31 December 2022 ond assessed this against the
values adopted in the impairment model. In addition we compared
the long-term growth rate against various sources of long-term
real CDP forecasts,

We have qssessed the disclosures made in the financial
staterients against the requirements of IAS 36. We have
challenged the adequacy of management’s sensitivity analysis in
relaticn to key ossumptions to consider the extent of change in
those assumptions that either individually or collectively would be
requirad for the assets te be impaired.

Key observations

We concluded that the assumptions applied in arriving at the Vil
are reasonable and the voluation method adopted by
management is appropriate. We concur with management's
concl.sion that no impairment is required.

Key audit matter
description

Revenue is made up of five different products across the Group
and is recognised over time for the majority of contracts. Revenue
for the vaar is £76.0m (FY21: £63.1m).

In line with IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers,
management’s policy is te use an input or output method to
measure progress of perfarmance obligations. Input methods are
typically based on costs incurred to date based on time, relative to
the total expected costs. Output methods are based on
assignment of amounts to the performance obligations set out in
the contract.

We focused our work on the contracts where the determinotion of
the actual percentage of completion is deemed more complex ang
judgemental and there is therefore a risk of management
manipulation or bigs. In particular, we focused on contracts open at
year end where there is still @ significant partion of revenus to earn,

The Group's accounting policy is presented in note 1.
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Report an the audit of the financial statements continved
5. Key audit matters contived
5.2. Revenue recognition & continued

How the scope of our
auvdit responded to the
key avdit matter

We abtained an understanding of relevant controls in respect of
revenue recognition.

We prcfiled all contracts in the year and selected a sample of
projects which we determined to be the most susceptible to
managament bias, We focused our testing on controcts which
were open at year end and, in particular, those which had a
significant portion of revenue still to earn.

For each of these projects we performed the following procedures:

} Obtained the contract and understood the services provided to
evaluate whether IFRS 15 eriteria was met in respect of
reccgnising revenue over time;

} Performed inquiries of project managers and management to
und=rstand the effort incurred across the project to date and
chalenged assumptions taken by management where effort was
deerned to be censistent across the pericd. We corroborated
these inquiries by obtoining evidence of the work performed to
date, including reviewing deliverables and assessing time sheet
data, where available;

} Recalculoted revenue based on the contract value and our
assessment of the stage of completion and compared against
managernent’s figures,

We dic not identify any significant issues in our work and are
satisfied that the recorded revenue is appropriate.

Key observations

Strategic report

Corporate governance

6. Our application of materiality

6.1, Materiality

Financial statements

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that
makes it provable that the economic decisions of o reascnably knowledgeable person would
be changed or influenced. ‘We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and
in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determinaed materiality for the financial statements

as d whole as follows:

Materiality

Basis for
determining
materiality

Rationale for the
benchmaork applied

Group financial statements

£750,000 (2021 £600,000)

"% of revenue

This is consistent with the prior
year,

Revenue is a key focus of
manogement as it reflects the
growth of the Group through
expansion of productions and
SErvices.

Parent company
financial statements

£206,000 (2021 £570,000)

1% of net assets

In the pricr year, the
predecessor auditors used 1%
of totaol assets.

The Parent company is a
holding company, and net
assets is indicative of the
Company's abllity to support
its subsidiaries.
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Independent auditors' report cntinued

to the members of Ebiquity plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements continued  é-2- Performance materiafity o -
6.0ur n_uﬁ_mnnﬂos of 30#&10:&% continued We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability
e that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the
6. Materiality financial statements as a whole.
Group materniahty £750,000
Parent company

Group financial statements  financial statements
Cemponent matenalty

Revenue range {excluding parent
£75.973.305 company) £375,000 to Performance 70% (2021: 75%) of Group 70% (2021: 75%) of parent
973, F450,000 materiality materiality company materiality
Basis and rationale In determining performance materiality, we considered the
Revenue for determining following foctors:

Group matenality

Audit Committee reporting
threshold 37,500

performance
materiality

a. We considered whether we were able to rely on controls;

b. From review of predecessor auditors' files, there was q low level
of uncorrected misstatements in the previous audit; and

c. This was a first-year audit.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit
differences in excess of £37,5C0 (2021 £30,000), as well gs differences below that threshald
that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
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Independent auditors’ report cntinues

to the members of Ebiquity plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements continved

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and sceping of components

In selecting the compeonents that are in scope each yeor, we obtained an understanding of the
Group and its envirenment, including an understanding of the Group's system of internal
controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level, The components
were also selected to provide an appropriate basis on which to undertake audit work to
address the identified risks of material misstatement.

Such audit work represents a combination of procedures, all of which are designed to target
the Group's identified risks of material misstatement in the most effective manner possible.
Based on our assessment, we focused our audit work on eight components, six of which were
subject to full audit scope, and two were subject to specified audit procedures. Cur procedures
on full audit scope components provided coverage of 9% of the Group's consolidated revenue,
with a further 3% coverage through specified procedures.

} Ovuroudit work at the components is carried out using a compenent materiality set by the
Group audit team. Two components were audited by local Deloitte offices, the rest of the
components were audited by the Group team.

} Forall remaining components, we have performed centralised analytical procedures at
compaonent materiality,

) The range of component materialities we have used are from £375,000 to £450,000.

Two components were audited by focal Deloitte offices, the rest of the components were
audited by the Group team.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

We identified one relevant IT System, which is the main accounting system. We obtained an
understanding of the relevant [T general controls as part of our assessment of the control
environment, We identified sorme deficiencies in this testing and as such did not rely on IT
controls, instead extending the scope of our substantive work in respanse to the identified
deficiencies.

We also obtained on understanding of the relevant controls associated with the revenue
process, the financiol reporting process and the process for making certain accounting
estimates. We identified some deficiencies in respect of those areas which meant we did not
rely on these controls but instead changed the nature, time and extent of the substantive
audit procedures performed.

7.3, Qur consideration of climate-related risks
As set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance update, the Group has undertaken a
number of sustainability initiatives in order to mitigate climate-related risks.

As port of our audit, we have obtained an understanding of management's process and
controls in considering the impact of climate risks and assessed whether the risks identified by
the entity are complete and consistent with our understanding of the entity.

7.4. Working with other auditors
Qur audit work in Germany and Sweden has been executed by Deloitte component auditors in
those respective countries.

The audit work on the key audit matter 'Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets’ has
been carried out by the Croup audit team. The audit work on the Revenue key audit matter
has been led by the Group team but supplemented by procedures performed at locail level by
the component auditors To test the appropriateness of the revenuve recognition. The
component auditors’ work has been directed, supervised, and reviewed remotely by the Group
team for the Swedish ond German components in the current year ond, where necessary,
component auditors carried out further testing at the Group engagement team's request.
The other components are audited directly by the Group audit team.

At the Group level we tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures
to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the
aggregated financial information,

All component oudit partners are included in our teem briefing where their risk assessment is
discussed and there is frequent two-way comrmunication between the Group and component
teams.
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Independent auditors' report cntinued

to the members of Ebiquity plc

Report on the audi: of the financial statements continved
8. Other information

The other informeation comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial statements and our aucitors’ report thereon. The Directors are respensible for the
other information contained wittin the annual report.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Qur respensibility is to read the cther information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsictent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obteined in the course of the aucit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

if we identify such matericl incor sistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves, If, basec on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other infarmation, we are reguired to report that foct,

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement, the Directors are
responsibie for the preparation cf the financial statements ond for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of finc ncial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the finoncial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
and the parent company’s abilit> to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unfess the
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic aiternative b st to do so.

10. Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
awhole gre free from moterial misstatement, whether due to froud or error, and to issue an
auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always
detect o material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered mater al if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the sconomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibitities for the audit of the financial statements is located
onthe FRC's website at: www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms port
of cur auditors’ report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations,

We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures
are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of moterial misstatement in respect of irregularities,
including fraud and non-compliance with lows and regulations, we considered the following:

) the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance,
including the design of the Group's remuneration policies, key drivers for directors'
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

) results of our enguiries of management, the Directors and the Audit Committee about their
own identification and assessment of the risks of irreqularities, including those that are
specific to the Group's sector;
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Independent auditors’ report ctine

to the members of Ebiquity plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements continved 112 Audit response to risks identified

. . . . A . we identifi i i
11. Extent to which the audit was considered nnvnv_m of mmﬁmnﬁ_zm s a result of om%o:‘;:m the above, we _Qmsﬁ_rma Revenue ﬁmnouj_n_o: as a key audit Bcﬂ.mﬂ
. wie . ) relcted to the potential risk of fraud, The key audit matters section of our report explains the
irregularities, including fraud continved

matter in more detail and also describes the specific procedures we performed in response to
11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks refated to irregularities continued that key audit matter.
} any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group's documentation of their

) In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:
policies and procedures relating to:

) reviewing the financial statement disclosures ond testing to supporting documentation to
assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and reguiations described as having a
direct effect on the financial statements;

) identifying, evaluating, and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were
aware of any instances of non-cempliance;

} amnmﬂ_n_:@ and ﬂmwnozn____jm «M Mjm ﬁ..mrm of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any ) enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counset concerning
actual, suspected or alleged fraud; actual and potential litigation and claims;

) ﬁJM_:ﬁm:_ém.no:qo_m establizhed to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws } performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relotionships that
ond regutations, may indicate risks of material misstatement due to froud;

) the .:Joﬁmﬁ u_mMCmm_.ma 0303 n_.:_w oca_.n w:@ommﬂ_jmﬂ.,n .ﬁmo?_.“.:n_c%_:o_ m_m.:_jno:ﬁ .nﬂj_uo:ms.n } reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing correspondence

audit wmo:d and relevant interna m._umn_n _mnm_._gn U _.:m SV.A_ and valuation specialists . with HMRC and IRS: and

regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential

indicators of fraud. } Inaddressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the

appropriateness of journat entries, and other adjustments; cssessing whether the
judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside
the normal course of business.

As a result of <hese procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist
within the organisation for fraud ond identified the greatest potential for fraud in the
following arecs: Revenue recogmition. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are aiso

required to perform specific procadures to respond te the risk of management override.
We clso communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all

engagement tearmn members including internal specialists and significant component audit
teams, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framewaorks that the Group
operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on
the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key
laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK Campanies Act, AIM
Listing Rules, sanctions and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and reguiations that do not have a direct
effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the
Group's ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the Group's
compliance with GDPR.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work Jndertaken in the course of the audit:

)} the information given in the strategic report and the Directors' report for the financial year
for which the financial staterments are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;
and

} the strategic report and the Diectors' report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and
their environment abtadined in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material
misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we re required to report by exception
13.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Undar the Companies Act 2006 ~ve are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

} we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

} adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been received frem branches not visited by us; or

} the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

Woe have nothing to report in resoect of these matters.
13.2, Directors' remuneratior

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain
digclosures of directors’ remuneiation have not been made.

We have nothing to report in recpect of this motter.

14. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company's members those motters we ore required to state to them inan
auditors’ report and for na other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinians we have formed.

Peter McDermott (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Stetutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

30 March 2023
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Financial statements

31 December 2027

Before Highlighted Before Highlighted
highlighted items highfighted items
items {note 3) Total tems (note 3) Total
Note £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 E'0CC £000

Revenue 2 75,973 - 75,973 63,09 - 63,091
‘ﬂ_d_.mn.,,,n.‘_‘.‘m_oﬂm.a costs Q.N,..N.ou ....... - Q.Nuov ,,,,,,, 7525y 3 o wmmu
Net revenue 68,753 - 68,753 55,566 — 55,566
Staffcosts 47977 - G791 (38312 _ (38,312)
Other operating expenses' (11,508) (15168) (26,678 (12.517) (9.815) 22,331
Operating profit/(loss) 4 9,270 (15,168) (5,898) 4,737 (9,815) (5,078)
Finance income o - 70 - 70 . mo — 20
_nionnm expenses o C ﬁ.b.mmw., - ?SNV ) .ﬁwmwuz - ﬁmmwu
Foreignexchange o 49 - .ho ‘ :MN@,_ , - Nm.o
Net finonce costs €1,303) - (1,303) (633) — {633)
Profit/(loss) before taxation 7,967 (15,168) {7,201) 4,104 (3,815} {5,711)
%mwoﬂm: ﬁnromwmv\n_“m.mﬁ . w an.omou 4.“30 nmo._,.u, Em._hmu\.u a:mw._ (1,206)
Profit/(loss) for the period 5,907 (13,369) (7,462) 2,367 (9,284) (6.917)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the porent  sa7 (13,369) (49! 2,250 (9.282) 7,032)
Zo:-no,jﬂ_.o:im _:nmqmwwm S - .ww - a7 n7 .. ...QV ._._w,,

5,907 {13,369) (7,462) 2.367 (9,284) 6917
Earnings/{loss) per share
wow_.n | - ? ,Am..mw.vu .NQMU
D.__qcnm.a - 9 a.mmvr. .,,M.oqv

1. The cost categories reported in the iIncome statement have been changed to 1eflect the Group's Internal reporting, The prior yeor comparatives have been re-classified in the sarme way and there is no change in the total costs reported. Detals of

each cost categary are set out on page 92

The notes on pages 89 to 130 are an integral port of these finoncigl statements.
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Financial statements

Yeor ended Year ended
31 December 31December
2022 2027
£'000 £'000
Loss for the year (7.462) 6,97)
On:mq compre .__a-._,m?.m income/{ rmznmv.. -
‘_‘mm:_u that wil not be qmn_nmm.ﬁmm subsequently to ,u_.o* orloss
Exchange a;m.m_.m.ﬂ.d...n.mm on ﬁmmm.w_m_ﬂ.m03 o,n. overseas mccmmo:m_.l.mm o 252 mwmﬁ.w..v
Total other comprehensive incomre/(expense) for the year 252 (B89}
Total comprehensive expense for the yeor (7,210) (7.80¢6)
Attributable ta:
Equity holders of the parent Q_Npuu: (7921
Non-controlling interests wm ...... 75
(7,210) (7.806)

The notes on pages 82 to 130 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial statements

Restated Restated
31 December 31December 31 December 31 December
2022 20 2022 2021
Note £'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets Nen-current liabilities
_ T 10 43,091 Financial fiabilities 19 (23,357) (17.901)
1 12,776 Provisions 20 (%46) %93)
Property, plant and equ w,v.?m:n ‘ o ._.Nmo ““““ | apiliies 13 (4,654)
Right-of-use assets 3308 4,562 Deferred tax liobility 21 (2,678)
,,rmawm amnm_<n_d mm ,,,,, ‘_w I o 155  Total non-current liabilities (30,935) (23,302)
Deferred tax asset 21 2,199 1,388 Total liabilities (72,910) (53,775)
Total non-current assets 62,663 40,297 Total net assets 36,262 23,004
Current assets Equity
._...m,am and other &om..?g U_mm ............. Am o ww..__ow. m.romb Ordinary shares ,. w0.0mo ,,,,,
rmowm ﬂmnm?m_o es 13 o 141 ‘ ﬁo ,wr.cﬂm UﬂmB_c,,l ao.mmw
Corporation tax Qmmmw ............... mam A_Nom Other reserves 4,826
.m.n._.wj and nom:. mnc_<o_m.3.ﬁw “““““““““ ._o: ,._N.woo ‘_w_y_wh.,, >n,nc3c_onmn_ _OmmmW ,,,,,,,,,,,, .Nw .Ao.u._muu
Total current assets 46,509 36,482  Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 35,960
Total assets 109,172 76,779 ZO-_wmr:nﬂo___:m mnno_.m,.m.,.,_.,...m R . 302
Current liabilit'es Total equity 36,262 23,004
Trade and other Uowo_u_mw - ,Q L m.._c.ou.ov ..,,n,o.o._ 5 The prior year belance sheet has been restated to correct the presentation of current tax
Accruals and contract liabilities 18 {29,399) £19,350) asset and current tax liability. See note 1 for detalls,
Financial liab . ,, . 61 B The notes on pages 89 to 120 are an integral part of these financial statements. The financial
Oc_.:w,m.ﬁ tax liabilities 7 R n,_,r._n._v , (L642) Statementsaon pages 84 to 87 were approved and autherised for issue by the Boord of
Provisions S e e e NO A._u.u e Directors on 30 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by.
Lecse liabilities 3 a2 (2.566)
Totol current liabilities (41,975) (30,473)

Alan Newman
Chief Financial and Operating Officer

Ebiquity plc. Registered No. 03967525
30 March 2023
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Equity
attributable to
Qrdinary Share Othar Retained owners of  Non-controiling Total
shares premium reservas’ earnings the parent interests equity
Note £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
31 December 2020 20,646 255 5,461 3,942 30,304 442 30,74
(Loss)/profit for the year 2021 — - - . (7,032) 15 6N7)
Onrmﬂ...no:gvﬂm.rmﬂ._.m_mm_.:noa._m — — (889) o - ®8y) — (889
Total comprehsnsive income/(expense) for the yeor - - (889) (7.032) (7921 115 (7,806)
Shares issued for cash 22 36 - — (3 33 - 33
Shoreoptions charge 3 _ - - 39 319 - 319
D_Samjamno_ag :omm.mo:?o___r.,m. interests - — — - s@mmu ....... ﬁmmmv
31 December 2021 255 4,572 (2,774) 22,735 269 23,004
ﬁrom.mu\u&mm for ?.m.q_moﬁ MO.MM “““ - I S (7,495) ,,,n..\.homv 33 a2
&ﬂrmﬂ nmyvﬁmrmx;«m.inow:m ..... - - 252 ,, - :an -
Total comprehensive income/(exgense) for the year —_ - 252 (7,495) {7,243) 33
Shares issued “or cash 22 9,240 10,608 - (3% 19,809 -
w,ro re m.m,n.,mj.m...n:o Em w ._um - - 521 mmq. -
>nn_c_m_..n._,o:w - - - - - - - -
._w__.mm,am:.am..m.m._n to Jm:-noﬂﬂo_ﬁ:m _.:nmﬂmmﬂm‘ ....... - - - l “““ - -
31Decernber 2022 30,060 10,863 4,824 (9,787) 35,960 302 36,262

1. Includes a credit of £3,667,000 (31 December 2021 £3,667,000) in the merger reserve, a gain of £2,635000 {31 December 2021 £2,383,000) recognised in the translation reserve, partially offset by a debit balance of £1,478,000 (31 Decernber 2027

£1478,G00) n -he ESOP reserve, Refer t3 note 23 for further details

The notes on pages 8% to 130 are an integral part of these finoncial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2022

31 December

31 December

31December

31 December

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note £000 £'000 Mote £'000 £'000
nnm_._ .:oim *33 o_um_.nn_:u activities nome‘_‘mim from r_..n:n_zm nnn_<mwmmm “““
Ocmj @m:mﬂoﬁma from operations 27 3,812 1,80C  Proceeds from issue of share ca
Finance expenses paid (830) (626) (net of i 1ssue cost) . ﬁ.wﬁ—.. ..wb
Finance income received 62 7 Proceeds ,ﬂ_‘on._ bank UOZOESQM ‘ 19 4,500 -
Yoo T e e T S Repa ment of bank borrowings 19 1,000
Income taxes poid (1,871 2,492y oPY rrowings ' (000}
- — Bank loan _”mmm paid 19 (300) -
Net cash uo:o..n...mn by operating activities 1,173 B6E? R e S e
o Proceeds ?03 @o<m33m1ﬁ Uo:.os._:@m — (38)
Cash m_oim frem :._.an_:m anﬂ_sn_mm - e - -
....... mmuofjm:ﬁ oﬁ _m_umm bilities 13 (2,616) (2,108)
>nn_ca n oﬁ subsidiaries, net of nom: onnc_ﬁma 28 Gu ONS — T
. Co o : S Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - (157
_uoxam:mm no nnﬂc:.m nan- nozﬁo___:m_ interest -— (1,291 - -
B : Net cash flow generated by/(used in) financing
v = 680 getivities 14,958 (3.267)
12 Subw a7 Net {decrease)/increase in cash,
Purchase of _Jn.ojm___u_m ossets 1L (175) (849) cash equivalents and bank overdrafts (1,338) 2,385
Net cash (used in) investing activities (17,469) (3,037) Cash, cash mac.<n_n=nm n:m _un:r
overdraft at wou:_:._:u Om u..nnn 16 13,134 1,921
Effects of mxnrojmm ﬂowm njo:mmm
on cash and cash equivalents 564 (372)
Group ¢ash and cash equivalents
at the end of the yeor 16 12,360 13134

The notes on pages 89 to 130 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. Accounting policies ,

General information

Ehiquity plc (tha 'Company'}y and its subsidiaries (together, the 'Group’) exists to help brands
optimise return on investment from their marketing spend, working with many of the world's
leading advertisers to improve marketing cutcomes and enhance business performance.

The Group has 20 of fices located in 18 countries across Europe, Asia and North America.

The Company is a public limited company, which is listed on .q_,_m Londen Stock Exchange's AlM
and is limited bv shares. The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of
its registered office is Chapter House, 16 Brunswick Place, London N16DZ.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards (1FRS") in conformity with the requirements of the
Campanies Act 2006 and the app.icable legal requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Prior year restatement

The prior year statement of financial position has been restated to reflect the correct
presentation of the Company’s cu-rent tax assets and current tax liabilities which relate to
tax due from/to tax authorities in various jurisdictions. The restotement has the effect of
reclassifying the 2021 current assets of £1,268,000 which was initially presented net of the
Compony's current tax Yiobilities to o separate line on the statement of financial position.

2021 2021 2021
Reported Adjustment Restated
£'000 £000 £'000
Statement of financial pesition
Current tax asset — 1,268 1,268
Current tax ligk) (374) (1,268) {1,642)

Alternative Performance Measures ('APMs")

In the reporting of financial information, the Directors have adopted various alternative
performance measures ("APMs’). The Group includes these non-GAAP measures as they
consider them to be both useful and necessary to the readers of the financial statements to
help understand the performance of the Group. The Group's meosures may not be caleulated
in the same way as similarly titlec measures reported by other companies and therefore
should be considered in addition to IFRS measures, The APMs are consistent with how
business performance is measured internclly by the Group. Details of the APMs and their
calculation are set out on page 144.

Highlighted items

Highlighted items comprise charges and credits which are highlighted in the consolidated
income statement os separate disclosure is considered by the Directors to be relevant in
understanding the adjusted performance of the business. These may be income or cost items.
Further detasls are included in note 3.

Non-cash highlighted items, which do not represent cash transactions in the year, include
share option charges, amortisation of purchased intangibles, accruals for post-date
remuneration and movements in tax and onercus lease provisions. Other items include

the costs asscciated with potential acquisitions (where formal discussion is undertaken,
completed acquisitions and disposals and their subsequent integration into the Group,
adjustments to the estimates of contingent consideration on acquired entities, asset
impairment charges and restructuring costs,

Reclassification of cost categories reported in income statement

The cost categories reported in the income statement have been changed to: project-reloted
costs, staff costs and other operating expenses to reflect the Group's internal reporting.
The prior year comparatives have been re-classified in the same way and there is no change
in the total costs reported. Details of each cost category are set out later in this note.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Going concern

The financial scatements hove bean prepared on a going concern basis. The Group meets its
day-to-day werking capital requirements through its cash reserves and borrowings, described
in note 19 to tre financicl statements, As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash balances
of £12,360,000 (including restrictzd cash of £1,049,000) and undrawn bank facilities available
of £8,500,000 and was cash gen 2rative and within its banking covenants.

During the year, the Group continued to trade within the limits of its banking facility and
ossociated covenants, In March 20022, this facility was increased and extended to provide o
total available of £30 million, initiclly for a period of three years to March 2025 and extendable
for up to a further two years. Details of the facility terms and covenants applying are set

out in note 19 celow.

In assessing th2 going concern stctus of the Group and Company, the Directors have
considered the Group's forecosts 3nd projections, taking aczount of reasenably possible
changes in trading performance cnd the Group's cash flows, liquidity, and bank facilities.
The Directors have prepared a mcdel to forecast covenant compliance and liquidity for the
next 12 months that includes a base case and scenarios to farm a severe but plausible
downside case For the purposes ¢f this model, the terms of the new facility, including its
cavenant tests, have been applied with effect from the guarter ending 30 June 2022,

The base case assumes growth in revenue and EBITDA based on the Group's budget for

the year ended 31 December 2023 and management projections for the year ended

31 December 2024, The severe but plousible case cssumes a downside adjustment to revenue
of 10% throughout the period with no reductions in operating costs. Under both of these
cases, there is headroem on covenant compliance throughout the going concern period.

The Directors consider that the Group and Company will have sufficient liguidity within
existing bank facilities, totalling £2 O million, to meet their obligations during the next 12
months and hence cansider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

Russian operation

Following the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the Group has been reviewing the future of its
subsidiary in Russia (Ebiguity Russia GOO) and has been in negotiations with a view te
divesting its 75.01% shareholding in it. Although this subsidiary remains part of the Group for
these financial statements, given the uncertainty regording this operation, an impairment
provision of £257,000 has been made against the value of its assets in the Group balonce
sheet. Its cash balances are olso deemed to be restricted cash. Details are provided in notes
3 and 1é.

The financicl statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets and financial iabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The consclidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and rounded to the
nearest thousand.

The principal accounting policies adopted in these consolidated financicl statements are set
out below. These palicies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company
and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Ceompany has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of each subsidiary are included from the
date that control is transferred to the Group until the date that control ceases.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
the accounting pelicies used in line with those used by the Group. Allintra-group transactions,
balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the results and net assets in subsidicries
that is not held by the Group.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Business combinations and goodwill

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The cost of
the acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities assumed, o 1d equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acgquiree. The cequirze's identifioble assets, ligbilities and contingent liabilities
are recognised initially at their fair value at the acquisition date. Goodwill is initially measured
at cost, being the excess of the agjregate of the consideration transferred over the fair value
of net identifiable assets acquired and Yiabilities assumed. The determination of the fair values
of acquired assets and liabilities is based on judgement, and the Directors have 12 months
from the date of the business comrbination to finalise the allocotion of the purchase price.

Goodwill s allocated to each of tha Group's cash-generating units expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. ollowing initial recegnition, goodwill is measured ot cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annuolly
or whenever there is evidence thot it may be required. Any impairment is recognised
immediately in the income statenrent and is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwilt arising on the acquisitior of the Group's interest in an asscciate, being the excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Graup's share of the fair values of the identifiable net assets of
the associate, is included within the carrying amount of the investment. The non-contrelling
shareholders' interest in the acqui-ee is initially measured at the non-contrelling interest's
proportion of the net fair value of the ossets, liabilities and contingent habilities recognised.

Where transactions with non-conzrolling parties do not result in a change in contrel, the
difference between the fair value >f the consideration paid or received and the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted, is recognised in equity.

Where the consideration for the azquisition includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
this is measured at fair velue at the acquisition date. Any subsequent changes to the fair value
of the cantingent consideration are adjusted against the cost of the acquisition if they accur
within the measurement period and cnly if the changes relote to conditiens existing at the
acguisition date. Any subsequent changes te the fair value of the contingent consideration
after the measurement period are recognised in the income statement within other operating
expenses as a highlighted item. Tt e carrying value of contingent consideration at the
statement of financial position dcte represents management’s best estimate of the future
payment at that date, bosed on hstorical results and future forecasts.

All costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred and
recorded in the income statement within highlighted items.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised in accordance with [FRS 15 'Revenue frem Contracts with Customers”.
Net revenue is the revenue after deducting external preduction costs as shown in the income
statement.

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services
are rendered. The revenue and profits recognised in the period are based on the delvery of
performance obligations and an assessrment of when control is tronsferred to the customer.
Revenue is recagnised either when the performance obligation in the contract has been
performed (thus a 'point-in-time' recognition) or over the time period during which centrol of
the performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

Far fixed-price contracts, which represent the majority of cases, revenue is recognised based
on the actual service provided during the reporting period, calculated os an appropriate
proportion of the total services to be provided under the contract. This reflects the fact that
the customer receives and uses the benefits of the service simultaneously. Aninput method or
an sutput metheod is used to measure progress of performance obligations depending on the
nature of the specific contract ond project arrangements. Input methods are typically based
on costs incurred to date, relative to the total expected costs for the project as substantially
all work performed is primarily represented by labour. Where appropriate, revenuve may be
recognised evenly in line with the value delivered to the client, based on assignment of
amounts to the project milestones set out in the contract.

Where project fees are based on the labour hours spent and other expenses incurred, revenue
is recognised in line with the labour hours spent.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward cormpletion are revised if
circumstances change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are
reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision
become known by management.

In the case of fixed-price cantracts, the customer is billed for the fixed amounts based on a
billing schedule agreed as part of the contract.
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1. Accounting policies cont nued

Deferred and accrued income

The Group's customer contracts include a diverse range of payment schedules which are
often agreed at the inception of the contracts under which it receives payments throughout
the term of the arrangement. Poyments for goods and services transferred af o peint in time
may be ot the delivery dote, in arrzars or part payment in advance.

Where paymerts made to date ar2 greater than the revenue recognised up to the reporting
date, the Group recegnises o defe-red income ‘contract liability” for this difference. Where
payments made are less than the -evenue recognised up to the reporting date, the Group
recognises an accrued income ‘cor tract asset’ for this difference.

Project-related costs

Project-related costs comprise fees payable to external sub-contractors (partners’) who may
undertake services in markets where the Group does not have its own operations; costs of
third-party data (e.g9. audience measurement data) used in projects; and, other ocut-of-pocket
expenses (e.g. billable travel) direczly incurred in performance of services,

Staff costs
Staff costs comprise salaries paychble to stoff, employer social taxes, healthcore, pension
and other benefits, holiday pay, vcriable bonus expense and freelancer costs.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses comprise all other costs incurred in operating the business including
scles and marketing, property, IT, non-client travel, audit, legal and professional, staff
recruitment and training, deprecic tion and amortisation.

Finance income and expenses

Finance income and expense represents interest recevable and payable. Finance incorme and
expense is recognised on an accruals basis, based on the interest rate applicable te each bank
or loan account.

Foreign currencies

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position
of each Group company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of
the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financicl statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’'s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of
exchonge prevaiing on the dates of transactions. At eoch year-end date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are deneminated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevaling on
the year-end date.

Far the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the year-end
date. Income and expense items are translated at the overage exchange rate for the period,
which approximates to the rate applicable ot the dates of the transactions.

The exchange differences arising from the retransletion of the year-end amounts of foreign
subsidiaries and the difference on translation of the results of those subsidiaries into the
presentotional currency of the Group are recognised in the translation reserve. All other
exchange differences are dzalt with through the consolidated incorme statement.

Taxation

The tax expense included in the consolidated income stotement comprises current and
deferred tox. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the year-end date.

The Group is subject to corporate taxes in a number of different jurisdictions and judgement is
required in determining the appropriate provision for transactions where the ultimate tox
determination is uncertain, In such circumstances, the Group recognises liabilities for
anticipoted toxes based on the best information available and where the anticipated tiability is
both probable and estimakble. Where the fincl outcome of such motters differs from the
amount recorded, any differences may impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the year in which the final determination is made.

Tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is
recognised in equity.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Taxation continued

Using the liobi ity method, deferred tax is provided on all temporery differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases,
except for differences arising on:

} the initial recegnition of goodwill;

) theinitiol recognition of an osset or liakility in a transaction which is not ¢ business
combination and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting ner taxable profit;
and

} nvestments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able te control
the timing of the reversal of the difference and it is probable that the difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the difference can be utilised. The recognition of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each year-end date.

The amount o~ the asset or liabllity is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the year-end date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax
liabilities/assets are settled/recovered.

Deferred tax c ssets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets and labilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to
taxes levied by the same tax authority on either:

} the same taxable Group company; or

) different Group entities which intend either to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis, or to “ealise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or
recoverad.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
recognised imparment loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful
economic lives. The rates applied are as foliows:

Motor vehicles Fight years straight-line

Fixtures, fittings, and equipment Three to nine years straight-line

Cemputer equipment

Right-of-use assets —
leasehold improvernents

Two te four years straight-line

Period of the lease

Other intangible assets

Internally generated intungible assets — capitalised development costs

Internally generated intangible assets relate to bespoke computer software and technology
developed by the Group's internat seftware development team.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from the Group's development expenditure is
recognised only if ali the fellowing conditions are met:

it is technically feasible to develop the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

adequate resources are cvailable to complete the development and to use or sell the asset;

the Group is able to use or sell the intangible asset;

>

¥

)} thereis anintention to complete the asset for use or sale;

)

} itis probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
v

the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis aver their useful
lives. Amortisation commences when the asset is avallable for use and useful lives range from
three to five years. The arrortisation expense is included within cther cperating expenses.
Where an internally generated intengible asset cannot be recognised, develepment
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which 1t 1s incurred.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Leases continued

Lease liabilit'es

Lease liabkilities include the net pr2sent value of the followirg compenents:

} fixed payments excluding lease incentive receivables;
) future contractually agreed fixed increases; and

} payments ralated to renewals or early termination, in case options to renew or for early
terminatior are reasonably cerzain to be exercised

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. if suchrote
cannot be determined, the lessees incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value, in
a similar econamic environment, with similar terms and corditions. The discount rate that is
used to caleulote the present value reflects the interest rat= applicable to the lease at
inception of the contract. Leose contracts entered into in o currency different to the lecal
functional currency are subjected to periodic foreign currency reveluations which are
recognised in the income stotement in net finance costs.

The lease liabilities are subsequertly increased by the interest costs on the lease liobilities and
decreased by l2ase payments made.

Where a lease is not captured by IFRS 16 'Leases’, the total rentals payable under the lease are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lecse term. The aggregate
benefit of leasz incentives is recoanised as a reduction of the rental expense over the lease
term on a stra ght-line basis. The and and buildings elemerts of property leases are
considered separately for the pur >oses of leose classification.

Subleases

The Group acts as a lessor where premises have been sublet to an external third party.
Accordingly, the right-of-use asse~ has been derecognised and instead a lease receivable
recognised determined with referznce to the net present vclue of the future lease payments
receivable from the tenant. Finanze income is then recognised over the lease term.

Onerous Leases

When an office space is considered surplus to reguirements is vocated and marketed, an
onerous lease provision is recogniced to reflect the impairment of the right-of-use asset for
the remaining seriod of the lease. Charges or credits relatirg to the provision are treated
as highlighted tems. Details of orerous lease provisions established in the year are given in
note 3.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash ond cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and short-term deposits. Cash and cash
equivalents and bank overdrafts are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset.
Restricted cash is included in cash and cash equivalent but identified separately. Where cash
balances are not available for general use by the Group, for example due to legal restrictions,
they are identified and disclosed as restricted cash.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group's statement of financial
position when the Group becomes a party te the contractual provisions of the instrument.

For financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement (that is, financial
instruments classified as amortised cost and debt financial assets classified as FVOCI),
changes to the basis for determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate
benchmark reform are reflected by adjusting their effective interest rate. No immediate gain
or loss is recognised. A similar practical expedient exists for lease liabilities.

The amendments hove no material impact on the Group's financial instruments. Comparative
amounts have not been restated, and there wos no impact on the current pericd opening
reserves amounts on adaption.

Financial assets

They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade
receivables), but also incorporate other types of controctual monetory assets. They are
imtially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to ther
acquisiticn or issve and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant
financial difficulties on the part of the counterparty or default or significant delay in

payment) that the Group will be unable te collect all of the amounts due, the amount of such
a provision being the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the
future expected cash flows asscciated with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables,
which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in ¢ separate allowance account with the
loss being recognised within other operating expenses. On confirmation that the trode
recewvable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written of f against
the associcted provision.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments continuad

Financial liabilities

Borrowings consisting of interest-bearing secured and unsecured loans and overdrafts are
initially recogrised at fair value nat of directly attributable transaction costs incurred and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The difference
between the proceeds received net of transaction costs and the redemption amount is
amortised over the period of the borrowings to which they relate. The revolving credit facility
is considered to be a long-term loan,

Trade and othar payables are initiolly recognised at their nominal value, which is usually the
original invoiced amount.

Share capital
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the amount of the proceeds received,
net of direct issuance costs.

Executive Share Option Plan ('ESCP")

As the Company is deemed to hc ve control of its ESOP trust, it is treated as o subsidiary and
consolidated for the purposes of ~he Group financial statements. The ESOP’s assets (other
than investments in the Compan's shares), liabilities, income and expenses are included on a
line-by-line basis in the Group financial statements, The ESCP's investment in the Company's
shares is deducted from sharehclders’ equity in the Group statement of financial position as if
they were treasury shares,

Share-based payments

Where equity-settled share options are awarded to emplaoyees, the fair value of the options
at the date of grant is charged tc the income statement over the vesting peried with a
corresponding increase recognised in retained earnings. Fair value is measured using an
appropriate valuation model. Non-market vesting conditions are taken inte account by
adjusting the ~urmber of equity investments expected to vest at each year-end date so that,
ultimately, the cumulative amourt recognised over the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. A charge is made irrespective of whether the market vesting
conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a
market vesting condition.

Where there are modifications to share-based poyments that are beneficial to the employee,
then as well as continuing to recognise the original share-based payment charge, the
incremental fair value of the modified share options as identified at the date of the
madification is also charged to the income statement over the remaining vesting period.
Where the Group cancels share options and identifies replacement options, this arrengement
is also accounted for as a modification.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as ¢ copital contribution.

The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the perent entity finoncial statements,

Provisions

Provisions, including provisions for onerous lecse costs, are recognised when the Group has

a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle that obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the obligation at the year-end date. If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the obligations.

Retirement benefits

For defined contribution pension schemes, the Group pays contributions to privately
administered pension plans on a voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. Contributions are charged to the income
statement in the year to which they relate.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to tke Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the consolidated fincncial statements, the Directors have made critical
accounting judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies. This year the key
judgement reloted to the identification of acquired intangible assets.

Identification of acquired intaagible assets

As part of accounting for acquisitions under IFRS 3, the Group must identify ond value the
intangible assets it has acguired such as customer relationships, intellectual property, brand
names and software. Their identi“ication of these intangibles requires judgement following an
assessment of the acquired businass. This involves reviewing the past performance of the
acquiree and f uture forecasts to ascertain the intangible assets to which the purchase price
should be allocated and their fair value. See note 28 for details.

The Directors have also made critical accounting estimates due to the need to make
assumptions about matters whic are often uncertain. Actual results may significantly differ
from those estimates. These estimates include determination of contingent consideration,
the inputs used in impairment assessments, inputs to share option accounting fair value
models and amounts te capitalise as intengible assets. They are arrived ot with reference to
historical experience, supporting detailed analysis and, in the case of impairment assessments
and share option accounting, external economic factors.

Contingent consideration

The Group has recorded liabilities for contingent consideration on acquisitions made in the
current and pr or periods. The calzulation of the contingent consideration liability requires
estimates to be made regarding the forecast future perfermance of these businesses for the
earn-out period. See note 28 for details.

Any changes to the fair value of tre contingent considerotion ofter the measurement period
are recognised in the income statament as o highlighted item.

Carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets

Impairment testing requires management to estimate the value-in-use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill and other intangible assets have been allocated. The value-in-use
calculation requires estimation of future cash flows expected to anse from the
cash-generating unit and the application of a suitable discount rote in order to calculate
present value. The sensitivity around the selection of particular assumptions including growth
forecasts and the pre-tax discount rate used in management's cash flow projections could
significantly affect the Group's impairment evaluation and therefore the Group’s reported
assets and results,

Further details, including a sensitivity analysis, are included in note 10,

Adoption of new standards and interpretations
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the
annual reparting period commencing 1 January 2022:

)} Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — amendments to IFRS ¢, IAS @ and tFRS 7 and IFRS as
issued in August 2020. In accordance with the transition provisions, the amendments have
been adopted retrospectively to hedging relaticnships and financial instruments.

The amendments listed above did not have cny impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

For financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement (thot is, financial
instruments classified as amortised cost and debt financial assets classified as FVCCH,
changes to the basis for determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate
benchmork reform are reflected by adjusting their effective interest rate. No immediate gain
ar loss is recognised. A sim lar practical expedient exists for lecse liabilities,

The amendments have no material impact on the Group's financial instruments, Comparative
cmounts have not been restated, and there wos no impact on the current period opening
reserves amounts on adoption.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Adoption of new standards ard interpretations continued
The following new standards have been published that are mandatory to the Group's future
accounting pe-iods but have not been adopted early in these financicl statements:

} Property, Plent and Equipment Proceeds before intended use — amendments to 1AS 16
} Onerous Centracts Cost of Ful=illing o Contract — amendments to IAS 37

} Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle effective on or after
1 January 2322

} Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current —Amendments to IAS 11 January 2023
(deferred from 1 January 2022)

} Disclosure of Accounting Pelicies - Amendments to lAS 1and IFRS Practice Statement 2
effective on or after 1 January 2023

) Definition cf Accounting Estimates — Amendments to IAS 8 effective on or after
1January 2023

} Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction -
Amendmerts to |AS 12 effective on or after 1 January 2023

)} Saleor contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture -
Amendmerts to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 effective on or after 1 January 2023

The oaon:o:.am the standards liszed above is not expected to significantly affect future
periods.

2, Segmental reporting

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Executive Directors have identified the operating segments
based on the reports they review as the chief operating decisien-maker (CODM") to make
strategic decisions, assess performance and allocate resources. The definition of these
segments has been changed this year and the operating segments are now deemed to be
the regional operations instead of the two glebal practices reported on in previous years.
The comparative segmental reporting for 2021 has been re-stated to reflect this change.

Certain opercting segments have been aggregated to form four reportable segments:
UK &lrelond ('UK&I"), Continental Europe, North America and Asia Pacific (APAC').

The Group's chief operating decision-makers assess the performance of the operating
segments based on revenue and operating profit before highlighted items. This measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as
restructuring costs and purchased intangible amortisation. The measure also excludes the
effects of equity-settled share-based payments. Interest income and expenditure are not
allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the central treasury function, which
mcnages the cash position of the Group.
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2. Segmental reporting continued
Year ended/as at 31 December 2022

UK & Centinental North Reportable
Ireland Europe America APAC segments Unellocated Tatal
£'000 £'000 E£'000 E£'000 £'0G00 £'000 £°G00
Revenye 31,528 21,855 13,310 2,280 75,973 - 75,973
Operating profit/(loss) before highlighted items 6,552 6,449 913 1,943 15,857 (6,587) 9,270
Total assets 32,963 43,604 12,757 1,91 106,235 2,937 109,172
Year ended/as at 31 December 2021 (re-stated)
UK & Continenta! Narth Reportable
Ireland Europe Arnerizq APAC segments Unallocated Total
£'000 £'000 £'000C £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue 32,279 17354 5,565 7.893 63,091 — 63,091
Operating pro®it/(lass) before highbghted items 7,095 4,142 (598) 836 1474 6737 4,737
Total assets 33,062 21,199 6,051 12,316 72,628 2,883 75,51
A reconciliation of segment operating profit before highlighted items to totol profit before tax is provided below:
Year ended Yeor ended
31 December 31 Cecember
2022 2021
£'000 £Q00
Reportable segment operating profit befare highlighted itams 15,857 1474
Unallocated {costs)/income”.
Staff costs {3,818} (3.805)
Propertycosts o (949) (1,457)
Exchange rate mavements 541 (22)
QOther operating expenses (2,3563) (1.453)
Gpercating profit before highlight2d items 9,270 4,737
Highhghted items (note 3 {15,168} (9,815)
Operating loss (5,898) (5,078
Net finance costs (1,303) {(633)
Loss before tax (7,201} (5.711)

1 Unallocated {costs)/income comprise central costs that are not considered attriibutable to the segments
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2. Segmental reporting ccntinued

A reconciliation of segment total gssets to total consolidated assets is provided below:

Unsatisfied lang-term contracts Year ended Year ended
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations results from long-term # Dmnmﬂ_wnmh L Omnm_,mww“
contracts: £000 £000
Year ended Year ended
21 December 3 Decernber ___-Oﬂﬂ— OM‘M‘O‘%M ﬂOﬂ ﬂOuO-.ﬂﬂf_ﬂ Mﬂﬂaﬂ_aﬂm ........ ._oostm . . NM.OM@
2022 2027 Unallocated amounts: —
£'000 E£'000 e e e e
Property, plont and equipment 3 —
)@Q_‘QQOHQ amount Oﬁ ﬁ_Jm HﬂDDMQHﬁOj Ulnm D__Oﬁo.nma to 3 Lo prmmrmerm T
tong-term contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied as Other _uwu..:@_,_n.v,_m assets 1593 187
at 31 Decembar 2022: Other receivables 542 Qbh
Within one year 21,573 21,732  Caoshand cash equivalents 799 1147
Within more than one year 1,580 1,070  Deferred tax asset - 585
Prior year figures have been restated to reflect the above categorisation. Total assets 109172 75,511
Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities The table below presents non-current assets by geographical location:
Contract assets have increased from £5172,000 to £6,464,000 and contract liabilities have Year ended Year ended
increased from £5,307,000 to £€ 083,000 from 31 Decemoer 2021 to 31 December 2022 31 December 31 December
This increase is due in part to the addition of contract assets and liabilities arising in the 2022 2021
businesses acquired during the year. Non-current Non-current
assets assets
£'000 £'000
UK & Irelan 16,511 19,922
Continental Europe 26,709 10,797
North America 11,538 2,342
Asia Pacific 5,706 5,848
60,464 38909
Deferrad tax assets 2,199 1,388
Total 62,663 40,297

No single customer {or grcup of related customers} contributes 10% or more of revenue.
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3. Highlighted items

Highlighted items comprise charges and credits which are highlighted in the income
statement because separate disclosure is considered relevant in understanding the
underlying performance of the business. These are used for the calculation of certain
Alternative Performance Measures. For further information and reconciliotion please see
page 144, Cash itemns are defined as items for which a cash transaction has occurred in the
year, All other items are defined as non-cash.

31 December 31 Decermnber

2022 2021
Total Total
£'000 £'000
Other operating expenses
Share option charge S  ss3 459
V.i.o..l._m.o.n_o: of purchosed _:.ﬁo:m_u_mm u.uwm ““““ \_‘O&w‘
Post-date rem Lzm_d:,oj .Jn,m,._.gm_ﬂn.__ _umn,‘, o:m Nmmo N,omw ,
_BU_.ij.n m._" goodwill and nc_._.m:# om,mmﬂm ) N&N. ....... o
mm,<maswm,om.a reorganisation nOm..nm - mww mw
.O.:m,SCm Lease Provision 30<‘m‘3‘m‘$ ._.uun .
>noc‘,m.ﬁ,._n,vr.mm“n_ﬁma n.,o.mwm o S 4.mom ....... 282
Total highlighted items before tax 15,168 2,815
._.an_ﬁ_.mj {credit) N R G.q.,oo.v. ) mmwd.,
Total highlighted items 13,369 9,284

The share option charge reflects the expense for the period arising from the cost of share
opticns granted at fair value, recognised over the vesting period. For the period ended
31 December 2022, a charge of £553,000 (2021 £459,000) was recorded.

The amortisation charge for purchased intangible assets increased significantly in the year
to £2,73%9,000 (2021: £1,065,000) due to the addition of intangible assets through the
acquisitions of VMi and Media Path. These assets include customer relationships of ccquired
entities, owned software (MMi's C rcle Audit system) ond Media Path’s GMP licence asset.

A finol accrual of £7,866,000 (2021: £7922,000) has been made for post-date remuneration
due to be paid in 2023 retating to the acquisition of Digital Decisions B.V. in 2020. The total
amount to be paid is estimated at £15.8 million.

An impairment charge of £257,000 has been made to reflect the planned divestment of the
Group's majority stake in Eoiquity Russia OOO fer a nominal value. This comprises a provision
of £179,000 against the Group's share (75%) of the total assets excluding cash and goodwill
impairment of £78,000 and £5,000 in respect. of other assets.

Total severonce and reorganisation costs of £584,000 (31 December 2021 £87,000) were
recognised during the year, reloting to seven senior roles across the Group which were
ehminated during the year.

The onerous lease provision charge of £1,225,000 relates to of fice space in three cities which

is surplus to requirements. During the year, it was decided to vacate the New York office and
part of the London office and to seek sub-tenants for these. A charge in the year of £1,741,000
has been made for these offices to reflect the impairment of the right-of-use asset. Thisis
offset by a credit of £516,030, which reflects the reduction in the lease liability relating te the
Chicago office which was vacated and sub-let in 2019 and for which the heod-lease has now
been terminated with effect from September 2023,

Three acquisitions were made in 2022 and an equity fundraise was arranged, the bonking
facility was increased and extended to finance these, The charge of £1,892,000 (2021
£282,000) relates to the professional and related costs incurred in undertoking these
transactions. The charge comprises the following:

£'000

ion of Media Path 489

nof MMi (Media Management LLC) 308
Equity n_cn.,_,:m S , .a_w..,
Renegotiation of Bank Facility Agreement wﬂ__...
Jnnc,m;_o: of Forde & Serrple (Canada) I 14 ,
Total 1,892
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3. Highlighted items continued

The total tax credit of £1,799,000 ¢2027: credit of £531,000) comprises o current tax credit
of £883,000 and a deferred tax cradit of £916,000. The current tax credit includes a credit
of £216,000 fo- the partial release of a provision set up in 2018 relating to an IRS enquiry into
Ebiguity Inc's tax assessments for 2015 and 2016, which was determined during the year,

It alse includes a credit of £487,0C ) for the release of g provision made in 2013 for tox risks
relating to intra-group management charges and royalties which is no longer considered
necessary, Details of other tax items are set ocut in note 7.

4. Operating loss
Qperating loss is stated after cha-ging/(crediting):

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 Decernber

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Ovmacam lease rentols 22 48
....... 6795 5104

,,,,,, 78 -

_Eon___.:._m:ﬂ o,ﬂ nc_‘_‘m:ﬂ ommmﬂw ._.uo.;. —
_3U0=3m:ﬂ 9n :@Z” o*. use nmm.mﬁ 3oﬁmw 13} h_..U_E.,_ —
Contingent no:m_amsw_o: 8<o_cn|‘_o:m (note 3} S - mb
_;me on n__mDOmo_ of fixed ommmﬁm . - 5 w
mmmmcﬂn: cosle - oxnm:mmq . . ..ao._ o .N.mm
Foreign mxnro_.@m {gain)/loss o Awoo.v.., 652

Avditors’ remuneration
During the year, the Group {including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services
from the Group's auditors ot costs as detailed below:

Year ended Yeor ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the
Uoﬂm% company oja no:mo__aoﬂmn_ j:o:n_o_ MﬁoﬁmBmzﬁm 405 330
Fees payable to gm 003_,.53 5 oca_noﬂm and its associates
ﬁoﬂ oﬁsmﬂ mch_nmm
- o_wjmq oca_ﬁ _d_oﬁmo, assurance mmj\_nmm 19 50
- other assurance mm_.<_nmm 42 8
- tax noan__c:nm services 10 23
476 4M

5. Employee information
The monthly average numker of employees employed by the Group during the year, including
Executive Directors, was os foltows:

Year ended Year ended

31December 31 December

2022 2021

Number Number

C_A & _ﬂm_csa 229 229
Oo:czm:ﬂo_ mc_.onm 269 206
Zo_znr mezno &7 33
Asig ﬂon Tn 87 76
Number of employees 652 544

At 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the Group was 659 (31 December 2021: 553).
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5. Employee information continued
Staff costs for all employees, including Executive Directors, consist of:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 201

£000 £'000

Wages and salaries’ 32,503
Social security costs 4,570
QOther pension -osts 1,015
Share opticns charge (note 24) 319
Total staff cos<s 38,407

1 Excludes payments to frealancers.

Directors' remuneration

Total Directors’ remuneration was £1,158,000, including £538,000 to the highest paid
Director (31 Dezember 2021: £1,147,000 including £574,000 to the highest paid Director).
Directors are eligible for cash bonuses as a percentage of base salary, dependent on
individual and Company performance against established financial targets. Performance
bonuses totalling £258 800 were payable during the vear (31 December 2021 £320,000) to
the Executive Cirectors, No retent on bonuses were poyabie te any Directors in 2022 or 2021.

No Directors were a member of a Company pension scheme as at 31 December 2022 or
31 December 2021, Contributions totalling £4,000 (31 Decermnber 20217: £6,000) were made
to the private pension scheme for —he highest paid Director.

No Directors exercised share options during the year or the prior year. During the year,
1,151,846 (31 December 2021: nil) share opticns were granted to Directors under the Group's
Executive Incentive Plan scheme. vesting is subject to the satisfaction of certain performance
criteria, See note 24 for further de-ails.

Further details on Directors' remuneration can be found in the Remuneration Committee
report on pages 64 to 69.

6. Finance income and expenses

Financial statements

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 202
£'000 £:000
Finance income
mm:.r _:.nm._...mm,m on w
,_.mmwm receivables interest 8 13
Finance income 70 20
Finance expenses
Bank loans and o<ma82.._,3,$8mﬂ. G.oopv ..... (603
Loan fee amortisation o (136) )
Leose liabilities interest (226) (222)
Finance expenses (1,422) {882}
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7. Taxation charge/(credit)

Year ended 31 December 2022

Year ended 31 Decemnber 2021

Financial statements

Before Before
highlighted Highlighted fighhghted Highlighted
items items Total tems 1items Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 E'DO0 £000 £'000
UK tax
Current year e e (101 13 @ @y e
Adjustment in respect of prioryears 8 - 386 B . 52
500 (101 399 22 (42) (20)
Foreigntax ) S ‘ -
Or.:,mm.n year ._.o.\w nuom‘w : ...o.nw .__wow‘ Q.Nv 1,347
.>Q_Cmﬂmm:~ in r.mmumnm.odﬂ prior xmn.w_..w ‘ ‘Nwwu, | : Q_mu nmmo.w ,,,,,,,, ﬁov - )}
1,940 (782) 1,158 1,354 22) 1332
Total current tex 2,440 (883) 1,557 1376 (64) 1,312
(380 (8 1,296 376 “67) N
Adiustment in respect of prior yeas - o - GWV “““ . Swv
Total tax chargz/{credit) 2,060 {1,79%) 261 1,737 (531) 1,206
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7. Taxation charge/(credit) continued
The difference setween tax as cherged/(credited) in the financiat statements and tax at the
nominal rate is explained below:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 3 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Loss before tar» (7,201) (5711
Corporation tax at 19% {31 December 2021: 19%) {1,368) (1,085)
1,570 3,598

Overseas tax rate differentiai 549 354
Qverseos losses not recognised 97 {1,340)
Losses utilised 1ot previously recognised (453) (349
Adjustment in respect of prior yecrs (134} 28
Total tax charge 261 1,206

Following the Finance Act 2021 (enacted as at 10 June 2027), the corporation tax rate effect
from 1 April 2023 will increase to 25% from 19%. The rate change increase refates to the
Finance Act 20217 not the latest Budget.

The table below shows a reconciliation of the current tax liability for ecch year end:

£'000
At 31 December 2020 1703
.Oo_.no_dgo: tax Umw..:_.m.gﬁw,. Qb‘_wv,.
Corporation tax refunds R P 1A
Withholding tax 47)
c;amﬂ-nﬂoammor _l‘mm;_‘mdmm‘ﬁo prior years 43
._wwm«._.ﬂor,mo_. the wmom.mmmma 1 December 2021 ,_Mo_p
Foreign exchange 97
At 31 December 2021 374
O:m‘:uoaﬂo: tax payments 3..58
Omﬂno_d. on tax refunds . 314
Withholding tox B a9
Under-provision in relation to pricr v:m.m._.m ......... .A._whu
Provision for the year ended 31 December 2022 1,691
_uo_‘m,ﬁ,m mxnrozmm .n_:a o.d.“.:.m. . uoo.
At 31 December 2022 290

1. Taxlicbility excludes £14k recoverable withholding tax.

8, Discontinued operations
No operations were discontinued in the year te 31 December 2022,



106  Ebiquity plc

Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic report Corporate governance

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continved

for the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial statements

9. Earnings per share 10. Goodwiill
The calculation of the basic and di uted earnings per share is based on the following data: £'000
Year ended Year ended nOmﬂ
N Doamm_wwu_. 31 Umnm_,mww.ﬂ_ >ﬂ LD;L‘QQ‘NON._ ............ mu_um.._,
£'000 £000  Acquisitions —

Earnings for tha purpose of basic 2arnings per share, Foreign exchange differences (&447)
being :mm,._o%w nwn_._vcﬁoﬂ_w,wm..mmc ty holders of ﬁrm,ﬁoﬂmqn .......... (7,495) i A.\.._Ommu At 31 December 2021 37,304
Adjustments: N %nm_c_m, —— . 14,561
_va.nﬁ of jﬁr_ wrﬁmm _HmBm (net cf tax)’ 13,369 9,284 _uoﬁm_ur mxnro nge Q_mma:nmm ““““““““““““““““ 1,100
Earnings for the purpose of adjusted earnings per share 5,874 2,252 At 31 December 2022 §2,965
Number of shares: S Accumulated impairment
Weighted average number of shares during the yeor VH 1 LQ:CDQ MOM._ nfmmv
-bosic . - ‘ o 108951516 82627526 Impaiwment ommmmm o B
- dilutive mlmmﬁ o* m:mﬂm options & no:::@m:.ﬁ._v\ S N ._uo..m_ma mxnjo‘gow m?ﬂm‘«m:n.mm. . 56
issuable shares 22,771,365 2,483,339 At 31 Decernber 2021 (9132}
- diluted 131,722,881 85,110,865 e Lo (78)
mcm,mm ﬁ_nmm.v U.wm‘chﬂw‘ T, . nmmmuv nm.mdn. Foreign mxnr..lmmmm.m.mmmﬁmun..m.w ................................... 3?&
Diluted (loss) per share (688)p (851P  A¢31December 2022 (9,874)
Adjusted basic earnings per share 5.39p 2.72p
>n:c..n..ﬁma dilutec moq.:m:@m per shar2 abou ..M.&MU At 31 December mOu.. 43,091

1. Highlighted items attributable to equity helders of the parent (see note 3}, stated net of their total tax iImpact

At 31 December 2021

28,172
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10. Goodwill ontinued

The Group tests goodwill annvally fer impairment or more frequently if there are indications
that goodwill may be potentially img aired. Goodwill is alocated to the Group's
cash-generating nits ('CGUs") in order to carry cut impairment tests. The Group's remaining
carrying value of goodwill by CGU at 31 December was as follows:

31 December 31 December

Reporting 2022 2021
Cash-generating unit segment £'000 E'000
UK and Ireland 9,232
Effectiveness ..C_N.QJQ __..m_.o‘ma ‘ .m_owm,,,
Digital Decisions  Euope w7
Germary Europe 4,316
Media Value Group (beria}  Europe 2994
France Europe 556
ftaly Europe 376
Central and Eastern Europe Europe 337
Media Path Network Europe -
Zcﬁnj .bh,_mm,m:nc Q._.J,n_cn_:m E_S_ and _umsoaou Zo_‘w:.bim:wm ..... 604
Australia - apac 2,304
chira Capac 2287
Dm n_smo nce R .Zu._pO wo
FirmDecisions Included in
all segments 2,981 2,981
43,091 28172

The impairment test involves comparing the carrying value of the CGU to which the goodwill
has been allocated to the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of all CGUs has been
determined based on value-in-use calculations.

Under IFRS, an impairment chorge is reguired for goodwill when the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount, defined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.

Value-in-use calculations
The key assumpticns used in management’s value-in-use calculations are budgeted operating
profit, pre-tax discount rate cnd the long-term growth rate.

Budgeted operating profit assumptions

To calkeulate future expected cash flows, management has taken the Board-approved
budgeted operating profit ('EBIT') for each of the CGUs for the 2023 financial year. For the
2024 and 2025 financicl vears, the forecast EBIT is based on management's plans and market
expectations. The forecast 2025 balances are taken to perpetuity in the model. The forecasts
for 2024 and 2025 use certain assumptions te forecast revenue and operating costs within
the Group's operating segments.

Discount rate assumptions

The Directors estimate discount rates using rates that reflect current market assessments

of the time value of money and risk specific to the CGUs. The factors considered in calculating
the discount rate include of the risk-free rate (based on government bond yields), the equity
risk premium, the Group's Beta and a smaller quoted company premium. The three-year
pre-tax cash flow forecasts have been discounted ot 13% (31 December 2021; between 10%
and 13%).

Growth rate assumptions

Far cash flows beyond the three-year period, a growth rate of 2% (2021: 2%) has been
assumed for all CGUs. This rate is based on factors such as economists’ estimates of
long-term economic growth in the markets in which the Group operates. In 2021 a rate of
2.6% was cpplied to China.

The excess of the value-in-us= to the goodwill carrying values for each CGU gives the level of
headrocm in each CGU, The estimated recoverable ameunts of the Group's operations in all
CGUs significantly exceed their carrying values, except for the China and North Americg CGUSs.
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10. Goodwill continued

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's calculations of value-in-use for its respective CGUs are sensitive to a number of key assumptions. Other than disclosed below, management does not consider a reasenable passible
change, in isolation, of any of the key assumptions to cause the carrying vaiue of any CGU to exceed its value-in-use. For North America, the 2023 budgeted revenue and cost growth reflect the
inclusion of MMi and Media Path respectively for a full year compared to a partial year in 2022. The considerations underpinning why management befieves no impairment is required in respect
of China and North America are set out below, showing the % points change in each key ossurnption that would result in an impairment. The headroom for North America is £9.2 million and for
China is £1.4 million.

China MNorth America
% point change % point change
Current % leading to Current % leading to
(2023/2024/2025) impairment (2023/2024/2025) imparment
Budgeted revenue growth 1%/ 8%/ 5% (M%7 )% /(8% 3N%/6%/5% 9%/ %/(11)%

Budgeted cost growth 1%/3%/3% 8%/9%10% 25%/3%/3% 12%/12%/14%
Pre-tax discount rate 13%/13%/13% &% 13%/13%/13% 9%
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1. Other intangible assets

Camtalised Purchased Total
development Computer wntangible intangible
COosts software assets’ assets
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 202 4,891 2,542 16,581 24,014
Additions Q70 13 — 983
Acg jons - — — -
Disposals (902} - — 902)
Foreign exchange
differences 60 (32 318) @2)
At 31 December 2021 4,899 2,521 16,263 23,683
Additions 276 1 - 287
Acquisitions (see note 28) 4,260 - 10,689 14,949
Disposals - (30) - (30)
Foreign exchange
differences 54 29 445 528
At 31 December 2022 9,489 2,53 27,397 39,4717

Financial statements

Capitalsed Purchased Total
development Computer intangible intangible
costs software assets’ assets
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Amortisation ond
impairment?
At 1 January 2021 ﬁ.__mev (2147) (13,987) (17,879)
Charge for the year® (1.218) 21 (1,065} (2,494)
Disposals Q02 — - 902
Foreign exchange
differences 39 33 244 316
At 31 December 2021 (2022 (2,325) (14,808) {19155)
Charge for the year? (1,089) (195) (2,739) (4,023)
Acquisitions (see note 16) (3,041) - - (3,041)
Impairment - 14 - 14
Disposals - 31 - N
Foreign exchange
differences (35) (27) (404} (466)
At 31 December 2022 (6,187) (2,502) (17,952) (26,640)
Net bock value
At 31 December 2022 3,302 29 9,445 12,777
At 31 December 2021 2,877 196 1,455 4,528

1. Purchased intangible assets consist principally of customer relationships with a typical useful life of three to ten years,
acquired software ond the GMP hcence osset.

2 Noimpairment charge has been recogrised in the current year {year ended 31 December 2021 £nil following

management's review of the carrying value of other intangible assets)

3. Amortisationis charged within other operating expenses so as to write of f the cost of the intangible assets over ther

estimated useful lves. The amortsation of purchased intangible assets isincluded as o highiighted expense
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures, Leasehold tand

Moter fittings and Computer and buildings
vehicles equipment equipment  mprovermnents Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost

>: LQ;C.QQ 20 - ; 0 1 Ammm :subbo “““ 4974
>Qa”§.m:w ) E ,_cu ..... Aw o 233
Disposals - e ) G e sk
moﬁm,@m exchange differences I o .;.Qu o an_u | - {65} (30} (142
At 37 December 2021 21 915 1963 2,004 4,903
Acquisitions - h - 82 186 58 326
Additions R - 101 o187 2 320
Disposals o o - e 38 wn @M
Foreign exchange differences - ‘ 1 41 ._M# 48 215

At 31 December 2022 22 1,051 2,322 2,097 5,492
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12. Property, plant and equipment continued

Financial statements

Fixtures, LLeasehold land
Motor fittings and Computer and buildings
vehicles equipment equipment  improvemnents Total
£'000 £°000 £000 £'000 £'000
Accumulated degreciation - ,
At1January2021 o as 710y (1,365) (926) 3,014
Charge for the year @ 1) (234) (303) ©55)
Disposals ._m, ,,,,, . .&w bm , 25 .‘ 149
_HO,B@: exchange differences ‘ pi . bm . N 57 , mm, 129
At 31 December 2021 M (73) (1,500) 1,177 (3,391
Acauisitons - (70) (128) @ (206)
Chargefortheyear N &7 (281) (221 (694
Disposals - 86 110 U 235
_uoqm@: exchang= n:ﬁﬁmmm.jnmw ,;A.MU nwmu .ﬁomu. Q..C n._b.\w
At 31 December 2022 (8) (822) (1,859) {1,514) (4,203)
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 w 229 463 583 1289
At 31 December 2021 20 202 464 827 1,512
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13. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets

Buidings Equipment Vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2021 9789 229 .3 10171
Additions o hLR. - - - bﬂb
D_mUOmm_m ““““““ - {210) - - — . .ﬁ.w..._ou
Foreign exchange T aen @ 3 (8N
At 31 December 2021 3,886 196 166 10,248
Additions R 2,358 - - n.wmm
_Buo:_jm:w.*o_. ujm v\moﬂ, ........... 3.0»5 B - ?,..Obhw
Foreignexchance 4129 8 Ty
At 31December 2022 8,672 205 174 9,051
Accumulated depreciation
At1Janvary2021 @sos on GO G
Charge for the yzar (8% @ w7 a9
Disposals o . oo. S — o o oo‘
_ucqmﬁ:...mwnro:.mw ) 65 o Dv 86
At 31 December 2021 (5,509) 17y (8O (5.706)
Charge for the year (1,998) 42) (39) (2,079)
Impairment for the year S 2303 = - 2,303
moa_wr mxn:o:m.m. ; ..A.quv‘ o (5) - oS nuo._v
At 31 December 2022 (5,456) (164 (123) (5,743)
Net book value
At31December2022 26 s 51 3,308
At 31 December 2021 4,377 79 86 4,542

Lease liabilities

Financial statements

Buildings Eguipment Vehicles Total
£'000 £'000 £'000C £'000

Cost

At 1January 2021 7,858 7 126 8158

Additions S 2 B - Y

me‘r‘mm.v.%;m:ﬁm in the ,V.\.mo_. . - mm_‘_mow ‘ ?3,, Q,mv (2.274)
_:ﬂmqmmn charge in the year | I TR 3 - w ...... MMN

Foreign exchange (95) @y 9 127
At 31 December 2021 5,21 87 33 6,351

Additions ._..m.hn - - 1,852

Cash payments in the year Q717 @ 40) (2,804)
_Dﬂm_.mmﬁ njo._d.m.m.s the year . 219 2 , 2 223

Toﬂmmm: mxnrmr..w,m ) ‘ wNM 4 m 3N

At 31December 2022 5,877 46 60 5,983

Current 1,304 10 14 1,328

Non-current 4573 36 4 4,655
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13. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities continued

Lease liabilities continued

The future value of the minimum lease payments are as follows:

Mirmmum lease poyments

31 December

31December

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Amounts due:
<<.n:_3 m.:m year R u.mmo o N_Um
Between one and two years 1,258 2038
Between two and Q:mm, years 774 .ﬂw
mmws._mmm ? _,mmnou four «m.o Tm , ‘omw. .. 597
mmns..mmr_ ,noS‘mmm‘_‘n._.«m xmoﬂ.m - - a E&
Loter than mc.w .vmm.o._.um L - -
5,265 6,716

Lease receivakles

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Lease receivablas 141 3N
Current 141 146

Non-current

155

In 2019 a sublease was entered into relating to the Chicago of fice, which had been vocoted.
Accordingly, the right-of-use asset was derecognised and a lease receivoble was recognised,
being the equivalent of the remaining lease receivables over the lecse term. The amount due
within one year is presented within current assets and the amount due ofter one year is
presented within non-current assets. The sublease expires in September 2023 ot the same
time as the head lease to which it relates.

Due to the reduced occupancy of the Londeon office following the pandemic, one of the
three floors is now considered surplus to requirements and tenants are being scught to take
a sublease until July 2024 whzn the main lease can be terminated. It was decided in
December 2022 to vacate the fourth floar while the space is being marketed. An onerous
lease provision has therefore been established for the remaining term of the lease from
January 2023 until July 2024, This resulted in o charge of £384,000 in the year for the
impairment of the right-of-use csset.

Following the pandemic, the New York of fice, situated at William Street, is no longer being
occupied and is being marketed. An onerous lease provision has been established for the
remaining period of the lease unti June 2G25. This resulted in o charge of £1,357,000 in the
year for the impairment of the right-of-use asset.
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14. Subsidiaries

Detalls of the Company's subsidiaries are set out below.

Proportion of
nominal value

Praportion of
norminal value

of 1ssued of 1ssued
crdinary Country of ordinary Country of

Subsidiary undertaking shares held incorporation Nature of business  Subsidiory undertaking shares held incorporation Nature of business
Adtrack F_E,Hma_ 10C% UK Non-trading  Digital Balance Australia
>z_ MO r_a_ﬁm% 100% UK Non-trading "t Limited™ 100%  Australa. ~ Anglytics
>x_o_c©< _LE_HmQ 100% UK ZO:-ﬁ_.oaSm U_m_ﬁo_ Dmn_m_o:m Bviz JOonxu ‘ Zoﬂjm‘w_;o;am ng_o no:mc_gsn,\
Barsby moém r.3;8_ 100% UK Non-trading ~ Didireels Soa\o _ : .. Non-trading
mﬂ?._O >nnc_m_ﬂu:m Limited' 100% UK Zo;-n_‘oa_sm Ebiquity bm_c Uon_rn _L::ﬁmn_ ._OOQo UK Holding company
mOZO _|_3_wm.a 100% UK IO_Q__._@ company _.m.c,_ncwq Associates EE_.ﬁmQN ;_OOo\o C_A Media consultancy
m___mﬁ.m Oo:mc_ﬂ:m _LB_ﬂm% 100% UK Zo: QQQBG Ebiquity Bulgaria Limited*? 100% mc_mo:o Media consultancy

etts International Limited: 100% UK 203 -trading Ebiquity Canadalne™ 100% Canada Media consultancy
Billetts Limited’ 100% UK Zoa-n_‘oa_zm mc.pc_q CEE Limited™ 75.05% o uk . _,.\._ma,m.mo.ﬂmc_ﬁo:nx
m:__mﬂn‘m goﬂrmn_sﬂ Investment ) ) . i m_U_QC_U\ Umj_.joln \PUmJ : o AO@,&U, B Um:go_.r ?)md,o nOch_HDDD\
Manggement Limited’ 100% UK Non-trading m_o.nc_Q 02303 OBuI: 100% Germany Z__maﬁ consultancy
Billetts Marketir g Sciences Ebiquity Io_a gs _:n 100% us Holding company
Limited” S ‘ 100% K Mon-trading  ghiguity _Um:c SL c: 100% Spain Media consuitancy
Billetts A_,q_ma.o Cansulting Ebiquity _gn 100% us Media consultancy
_._B_ﬁmu 100% UK Non-trading -~ Toemoom o me e
- T - 9 mc.nc_q _390 Pyt _r_B_de: T30% Indtics Media consultancy
_w:mdn _:«o::o.zoq r_3_wma, 100% UK Non-trading o o ’ :

- - S --=  Ebiquity _B_V\ Media >&<_moﬂ
O:mnr_;u >Q<m_\n_m_:m Services Sl 100% Italy Media consultancy
Limited 100% Non-trading L o o :
. - - R Ebiquity _sn:mj _r__.3_;nmd,.N 1C0% Ireland Media consultancy
China Media (Shanghai) . o
Management Censulting mcﬁc_c\ _Uﬁm r.39ma: 100% - m,suonoﬁm _Smn_a no:mc_ﬁo:ox
Company _L3_ﬁmu: 100% China Media consultancy coiquity Py Limited™ .60.““\0 Australia o _<_mn_ o.,mosmc_ﬁonnx
China Zma_o ﬁoﬂ wc_ﬂ_:m Oﬁocﬁ Ebiquity mc‘m‘m_o:‘OOOeM ) wm.omo\o, Russic _<_mQ_o no:mc_ﬁa:Q
Limited' 100%  Hong Keng Holding company  Ebiquity SAS" 100% France Medio consultancy
Data Zo:cmmijw mm1<_nmm Ebiquity Sweden AB'™ 100% Sweden Medic no:mc_du:nv\
) o 3 I . o TmEEE T

Group Limited 100% UK Non-trading Ebiquity US Financing _.,B_ﬁmo_ 100% UK Non-trading
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14. Subsidiaries continued

Proportion of
normunal value

Strategic report

Corporate governance

Proocrtion of
nominal value

Financial statements

of 1ssued of issued
ardinary Country of ordinary Country of
Subsidiary undertaking shares held incorporation Nature of vusiness  Subsidiary undertaking shares held incorporation Nature of business
mvﬁc_q Cw Holdings _._B_wma_ ‘_oom\o UK Holding company  Media vcﬁ: mum.: S.L! ,ﬁooa\o Spain Non-trading
m_u_nc_s\ Cm Io_aimm _._uQ ._OOa\o us Io_a_zn company Zo<c <,m6: mcqocm m E,J ._Oonvo Belgium Non-trading
Ebiguity UK Hol ings E:.:ﬂmn_ 100% UK Io_Q_:m company Po_‘é:m:ﬁ _uoomm r__j_ﬁm% 100% UK Non-trading
Ebiquity UK r_B:.m% 100% UK Non-trading  Shots _LE_.mm% Aoonvo UK Non-trading
Fairbrother Lenz Eley Limited' 100% UK Non-trading  Strotigent C.Q ,wooo\o us Non-trading
Faulkner Group vﬂ\ Limited’ 100% Australia Non-trading  Telefato 2_03_8::@ mmz_nmm
FirmDecisions >anOmﬂBQ:< Limited 100% UK Nan-trading
GmbH" 100% Germany The Billett Consultancy CB_.S% 100% UK Nen-trading
_u_ﬂBDmn_ ons Or_so _r_a_ﬁmaz 100% China The Commu
FirmDecisions _UZ_OO 2 100% UAE Company Limited' 10G% LUK Non-trading
_n__.E_umn_m_o:m Oﬂocn _1_3_nmn_ 100% UK The Press Advertising Register
- S r_B_wma 100% UK Nan-trading
_H_SJUQO_o:m >m&u E.OS 100% us Ema_o consultancy O — - .
..... s o ) 43m _umm:mﬁm_. Oﬂocu "._B_ﬁm% 100% UK Naon-trading
_u_:ij ons ?3\ E_.s_ﬂmn_: 100% Aust-alia Media consultancy :
‘_u. Deci Ly . o m ) ?._ i | <<01Q<<_Qm Media anommav:w
irm mn_m_o:m fberia S L.UM 0G% pain edia consultancy Limited" 100% UK Non-trading
2 o T, T R ’ e
THBOQO_o:m Limited 100% UK Z_ma_o €onsulEancy  yireme Information Limited 100% UK Neon-trading
o e Uy oo e R AR e R T Tl
_urm Io_a_:@m CJ..m.mQ ._OO\c . ..C_A ....... Io_a_:@ company - ytreme _:,ﬂoﬂEQﬂ_o: mm_.c_nmm
ﬂoccml“m Place Subsidiary Zo b (Australia) Pty Limited’ 100% Australia Non-trading
r_B_ﬁmQ ;_OD.\Q., Uk Non-trading Xtreme Information Services
_n_.mmrno:u _L3_ﬁm% 100% UK Non-trading _I_E_Hma 100% UK Holding company
Mediaadvantage Consulting x?m.jm Information mm?._nmw
L.g.at? 100% Portugal Ema.o noamc_ﬁosnx SPRU 100% Belgium Non-trading
Z_ma_o Zozo@mamzw _,rQ 100% us Zma_o consultancy  Xtreme _Bao:ﬁodo: ncmbv
?._mn__o Path Network AB'"2 100% Sweden Z_ma_o noawc_SJQ Limited” 106% UK Non-trading
?.._mn__D Path Network Ltd’ n_OOo\o C_A ZO:LE.QQ.J@ 1. Shares held by an intermediate hclding company

2 Principal tracding entity
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15. Trade and other receivables

31 December 31 December

17. Trade and other payables

31 December 31December

2022 2021 2022 201

£000 £000 £'C00 £'000

Trade and other receivables due within one year Trade payables 6171 3,290
me :omm:ﬂmmmiow_mm . nw.wwn ‘__FbOo. Oﬂrmﬁ mmwmwros,orm..wmn._o_ mm_uc_._Q... 2,949 2,287
Other receivables 2,177 1688 Deferredtax-current e 390
Prepayments 1190 668  Otherpayobles e o 653 948
Contractassets 6466 5172 10,049 6975
33,163 21934 The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and other payables are reasanable

Contract assets are assets from performance obligations that have been satisfied but not
yet billed.

Trade and other receivables represents management's best estimate of the amount expected
to be recovered by the Group throuch the completion accounts and expected loss model.

The Group considers there to be no material difference between the fair value of trade and
other receivobles and their carrying amount in the balonce sheet. See note 25 for details of
the analysis of trade receivables thet were not impaired ot 31 December 2022.

16. Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Cash and cash equivalents 11,31 13134
Restricted cash’ oo —
Cash and cash equivalents 12,360 13,134

Cash ond cash equivalents earn interest at between (Q.05%) and 2.5%.

1. Cash and cash equivalents of £1,04%,000 milion are held in Ebiguity Russia GO0 with restrictions on remittances to
certain countries. These balances may not be readily available to the wider Group but can be used to meet Ebiguity
Russia QQ0's obl gations within Russia as they fall due,

approximations of their fair value,

18. Accruals and contract liabilities

31 December 31 December

2022 2023
£'000 £'000
Accruals 5,526 6,120
Post-date remuneration' 15,790 7922
iest 8,083 5,308
Total accrvals and contract liabilities 29,39¢ 19,350

1. Post-date remuneration relates ta the ocquisition of Digita!l Decisions BV payable in May 2023 See note 3.

2. Contract liabilities are receipts in advance from customers prior to satisfactien of performance obligations
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19. Financial Liabilities
31December

31December

2022 2021
£000 £'000
Current

room,mmmma . - —
Deferred nommmamﬂmﬁ_osu o1 -
&1 -

Non-current
m,w,ozx borrowings .u._..,moo... Am_o.mvo
Government borrowings = -
_.omq.._.dnmm.mg.. e e I;n‘m....mvi “““ 99
Oo:ﬁ_:mmgmmo:w_a‘m“ﬂomo:u e s e u.,_uu - -
23,357 17901
Total! financial liabilities 23,418 17,901

1 Loan fees were payable on amending the banking facility and are baing recognised in the income statement on a
straight-lna basis until the maturity date et the facthty in September 2025 Non-current loan fees includes current fees.

2. Deferred consideration relates to the acqul

3 Contingent consideration relates to the accuisition of MM and is poyable in 2025

tion of Forde and Sermple and was poyable in January 2023,

Corporate governance

Financial statements

Bank Government Contingent
borrowings barrowings consideration Total
£:C00 £'0C0 £'000 £'000
At 7 January 2021 18,880 750 1,957 21,587
Paid (1,038) - (1971) (3.007)
h hei
Charged to the income 57 773 1 (625)
statement
Di ti h d to th
iscounting charged to the _ _ 45 45
income statement
Borrowings - - — —
Foreign exchange recognised _ 27 _ 07
to the income statement - - 72) o2
At 31 December 2027 17,201 - — 17,901
Paid (1,300) - - (1,300)
Recognised on acquisition - - 2,183 2,183
Ch i
crged to the income 134 _ _ 134
statement
Borrowings 4,500 -_— - 4,500
At 31 December 2022 21,235 — 2,183 23,418
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19. Financial liabilities continied
A currency analysis for the bank borrowings is shown below:

31December 3 Decernber

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Pounds sterling 21,235 17901
Total bank borrowings 21,235 17901

All bank borrowings are held jointly vsith Barclays and NatWest. The current revolving credit
facility {'RCF") facility was agreed in March 2022 and runs for a period of three years to March
2025, extendable for up to a further two years with a total commitment of £30 million,

£21.5 million had been drawn as at 31 December 2022 (2027 £18 mitlion}. Under this
agreement, annual reductions in the facility of £1.25 million will apply from June 2023.

The remainder of any drawings is repayable on the maturity of the facility. The faclity may be
used for deferred consideration payments on past acquisitions, to fund future potential
acquisitions, and *or genercal working capital reguirements. The quarterly covenants opplied
since June 2022 are: interest cover >4.0x; adjusted leverage <2.5x and adjusted deferred
consideration leverage <3.5x.

The previous facility which was in ploce up to March 2022 comprised a revolving credit facility
('RCF" of £23 millian plus £1 million available as an overdraft for working capitol purposes.
The covenants applying to it in the three months to 31 March 2022 were interest cover »4.0,
adjusted leverage covenant initially at <4.0, increasing to <4.25 and again te <4.5in

March 2022.

Lean arrangemerit fees accrued in the period of £265,000 (2021: £99,0C0) ore offset cgainst
the term loan and are being amoertised over the period of the loon.

The facility bears variable interest at Barclays Bank SONIA rate plus @ margin ranging from
2.60% to 3.00%, depending on the Group's net debt to EBITDA rotic. During the first six
months of the facility, the margin is fixed at 3.0%

The undrawn ameount of the revolving credit facility is liable to a fee of 40% of the prevailing
margin. The Group may elect to prepay all or part of the outstanding loan subject to a break
fee, by giving five business days' notice.

All amounts owing to the bank are guaranteed by way of fixed and floating charges over the
current and future assets ef the Group. As such, a composite guarantee has been given by all
significant subsidiary companies in the UK, USA, Australia, Germany, Denmark and Swedean,

20. Provisions

Dilapidations’ Total

£:000 £000

At 1 January 2021 412 432

Discounting charged to the income statement . 88 88
Utilisation of Uﬁosmim . , . . ) o N.“J

At 31 December 2021 493 493
D_mnocsﬁ_ﬁmnjoﬂmma ﬂo the _:nolm statement 17 - ._...
Utilisation of provision ‘ - (47) - (47}

At 31 December 2022 463 463

Current 17 17

Zo:-nc._...mmcﬁ ..................... S 446 o 445

1 The dilapidations provision relates to the expected costs of vacating various properties The provision is expected tobe
fully utilised by June 2024
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21. Deferred tax
Tangible Intangible Share-based Other tirming

assets assets payments Tax losses differences Total

£'000 £'000 £'0C0 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 573 (1,091) 43 444 (144) (195)
Credit/{charge} to income 32 8 338 (102) (166} ne
Recognised on acquisition (note 28) - — — — — -
At 31 December 2021 605 (1,083} 381 342 (330) (85)
Credit/{charge) to income 184 472 Kyl 490 120 1,297
Recognised on acquisition (note 28} - (1,761) - - - {1,761)
At 31 December 2022 789 (2,372) 412 832 (210) (549)

Certoin non-current deferred tax ascets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balance (after offset} for financiat reporting purposes:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Deferred tax assets ~ non-current 2,199 1,388
Deferred tax liabilities ~ nc_._wm.jﬁ S 271} (390)
Deferred tax liabrities - non-current . - ‘ (2,477 (1,083)
; (54%9) {85)

At the year end, the Group had tax losses of £3,634,000 (31 December 2021: £1,574,000) avallable for of fset against future profits. A deferred tax asset of £832,000 (31 December 2021:

£341,000) has been recognised in resnect of such losses.

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of £7,695,000 (31 December 2021: £9,413,000) and unrecognised deferred tax assets of £1,616,C000 (31 December 2021: £2,065,000) in relation to tax

losses in the US {2021 mainly in relation to tox losses in the US and UK}

Deferred tax on unremitted earnings has not been recognised as management do not intend to pay dividends from jurisdictions where a tax charge would be incurred, ond dividends received

are not taxed in the UK.
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22, Ordinary shares
Number of  Nominal value
shares £000
At 1 January 2021 - ordinary shares of 25p 82,583,254 20,646
Shares issued R o - o —
W:oﬁm ,o.,u,w,.o,:m exercised - . ﬁ,m..&wm, wo‘
At 31 December 2027 - ordinary shares of 25p 82,728,890 20,682
Shares issued - 36,958,789 9,240
Share options exercised 553502 138
At 31 December 2022 - ordinary shares of 25p 120,241,181 30,060

Crdinary shares carry voting rights and are entitled to share in the profits of the Company
(dividends). The <hare issues during ~he year were made in connection with the ccquisitions of
Media Managerrent LLC and Medic Path Network AB. 28,307,856 shares were issued as a
resultt of the placing in April 2022 and 8,656,933 shares were issued directly to the vendors.

At the year end, 7,702,515 share options were held by the ESOP (31 December 2021 7,326,129).
The Company dees not have a limited amaunt of authorised capital.

23. Reserves

Share premium

The share premium reserve of £10,853,000 (31 December 2021: £255,000) shows the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of the nominal value.

Other reserves
Other reserves consists of the mergzr reserve, ESOP reserve and translation reserve.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of £3,667,000 {z1 December 2027: £3,667,000) arose on the issuance of
shares at a prem um on a Group res ructure, where the premium on issue qualified for merger
relief. There has been no movement n the year.

ESOP reserve

The ESOP reserve of £1,478,000 debit (31 Decemnber 2021: £1,478,000 debit) represents the
cost of own shares acquired in the Company by the Employee Benefit Trust (EBT'). The
purpose of the EBT is to facilitate and encourage the ownership of shares by employees, by
acquiring shares in the Company and distributing them in accordance with employee share
schemes. The EBT may operate in conjunction with the Company's existing share option
schemes and other schemes that may apply fram time to time.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve of £2,635,000 (31 December 2021: £2,383,000) arises on the
translation into sterling of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations, offset by any
changes in fair value of finanzial instruments used to hedge this exposure. At this time there
are no hedges in place.

Retained earnings
The retained earnings reserve shows the cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

For detailed movements on each of the above reserves, refer to the consolidated stotement of
changes in equity,
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24, Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of equity-settled share incentive schemes used to award employees of the Group. A charge based on the fair value of the award on the grant date is taken to the
consolidated income statement over the vesting period to recognise the cost of these.

Options outstanding at 31 December 2022:

Weighted
average
Exercise exercise
Name of share ogtion scheme and grart date Life of option Exercise period price (pence) price (pence) Number
mxmncc<m Share Ouﬂo: n_o: - 23 May mo._m 10 years >u1_ 2016 - §o< won 250 25.0 45,788
Executive Share Option Plan - 15 May 2014 o  1oyears April 2017 - May 2024 50 250 20,651
Executive m:oﬂm Obﬂ_o: Eo: -01 Unnocm‘. 2015 - 10 wmm.ﬁm ‘ PU_.__ 2078 - Oowovm-. MOMm mmo 25.0 , @O OOO
Executive Incentive Plan - 27 ,_c:c.uQ MOS - AO years , I June Mo._o January 2026 ) 250 N 25.0 .
Executive Share Option Plon - 240uy2007 o  10years © December 2018 - July 2027 Sl
. o ‘._O w,moﬂm ““““““““ _umnm.r,d.,cm_, mONO ?_9\ MONm. , il-25.0
h 10 years o April 2023 - July 2028
.................... AO mo«..m R DmntUmj NQMA - Zo<m3cmw Momﬂ .
Executive Shore Option Plan - 30 April 2021 o 10years April 2024 - April 2031 il
Executive Share Option Plan - 16 August 2022 o 7 10vears  December 2024 - August 2032 il 870,000
Executive mro:u Option Plan - 29 September MOMM%: - o ‘ ._O,,v,\mmﬂw - :‘,..,DmntUm‘. 2024 - mm_uﬁm_.:_umﬂ mOwN m nil ._ mqm omo..

7,702,515
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24, Share-based payments continued

Executive Share Option Plan ('ESOP")

This is a discretionary scheme, comp-ised of an HMRC-approved schedule and an unapproved
schedule. The ESOP provides o lock-in incentive to Executive Directors and key management.
Vesting of these options is subject tc the satisfaction of certain performance criteria and
typically around the rate of growth of diluted adjusted ecrnings per share over a three-year
period. Rights to ESOP options lapse if the employee leaves the Company.

In 2018 options were granted in resp2ct of the years ending 31 December 2016, 2017 and 2018.
The options awarded in respect of the years ended 31 Decemnber 2016 and 31 December 2017
vest based on a sliding scale of compound growth of adjusted diluted EPS over a five-year
pericd of between 4% and 10%.

2,866,609 share options (2021: 4,030,395) were gronted to employees under the ESOP in the
year ended 31 Decernber 2022,

Movements in outstanding ordinary share cptions:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2022 31 December 2022
Weighted Weighted
average average
N, mber of exercise price Nurnber of exercise price

share options {pence) share options (pence)
Qutstanding at
heginning of year 7,327,636 23 5,006,233 28.8
Granted during the year 2,E66,609 - 4,030,395 -
Exercised during the year (553,502) 19 (145,636) 22
Lapsed during the year (1,238,226) - (943,716) -
Performance criteria not
expected to be met — - 620,000) 2?2
Qutstanding at the end
of the year 7,702,515 13 7,327,634 23
Exercisable at the end
of the year 381,439 10 1,607,571 18

During the year, 2,866,609 share opticns were granted (2021: 4,030,395) with a weighted
average fair value of 50.5p (2027 54,0p). These fair values were calculated using the
Black-Scholes model with the following inputs:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 201

£'000 £'000

Weighted average share prica - -
Exercise price nil Nil
Expected volatility’ 50.09% 50.45%
Vesting period 3 years 3years

Risk-free interest rates 3.18% 0.08% to 0.16%

1. Expected volatility 15 based on histarical volatiity of the Company over the period commensurate with the expected life
of the options

Options exercised in the period resulted in 553,502 shares (37 December 2021: 145,636 shares)
being issued at a weighted average price of 19p each (31 December 2021 22p). The weighted
average share price on the dctes of exercise for optiens exercised during the year was 57p

{31 Decermnber 20217 18p).

The options outstanding at the end of the year have o weighted average remaining
contractual life of 1.4 years (31 December 2021: 1.4 years), with a range of exercise prices being
between niland 25p.

The total charge in respect of share option schemes recognised in the consolidated income
staternent during the period amounted to a charge of £525,00C (31 December 2021 a charge
of £319,000).
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25, Capital and financial risk management

General object ves, policies and srocesses

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible
without unduly offecting the Group s competitiveness and flexibility. The Board has overall
responsibility for the determination of the Group's risk management policies and, whilst
retaining vitimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the autharity for designing and
operating the processes that ensure the effective implementation of the financial risk
management objectives and policies, to the Group's finance function. The Board receives
monthly reports from the Group's f nance function through which it moniters the
effectiveness of the processes put i1 place and the appropriateness of the policies it sets.

Capital and other reserves

The Group considers its capital to comprise of its cash and cash equivalents, borrowings,
ordinary share capital, share premit m, non-contralling interests, reserves and accumulated
retained earnings.

The Group's abjective when mainta ning capital is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue
as a going concern so that it can cotinue to invest in the growth of the business and
ultimately to provide an adequate r=turn to its shareholders. The Directors believe the Group
has sufficient capital te continue trading in the foreseeable future,

The following taole summarises the capital of the Group:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021
£'000 £°000
Financial assets:
ﬂomj,,mrn_ ,ncm: equivalents AN.woo. ....... 13,134
T:Q:n_o_ __o?__w_mm held at oEOlum.wQ cost: - ‘
Bankoverdraft - —
Bank borrowings -  (21,235) (7907
Net debt (8,875) (4.767)
Futy (36,26 (23,004)
Copital (45,137) (27,771)

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. The Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure
them are described below. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks i1s
presented throughout these financial statements.

There have been no substantive changes in the Group's exposure to financial instrument risks,
its objectives, pelicies and precesses for managing those risks or the methods used to measure
them from previcus years unless otherwise stated in this note.

The Group is exposed through its operations tc a variety of financial risks: credit risk; market
risk {including interest rate and currency risk); and liguidity risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss te the Group if a customer or a counterparty to o
financial instrument fails to meet its contractuol obligations.

Trade receivables

The Group cperates in an industry where most of its customers are reputable and
well-established multinational or large national businesses. When the creditworthiness of @
new customer is in doubt, credit limits and payment terms are established and cuthorised by
the Territory Finance Director. The Group will suspend the services provided to customers who
fail to meet the terms and conditions specified in their contract where it is deemed necessary.

There is no concentration of credit risk within the Group. The maximum credit risk exposure
relating to financial assets is represented by the carrying values as at the year end.

The credit control function of the Group monitors cutstanding debts of the Group. Debtor
reperts are reviewed and analysed on ¢ regular basis. Trade receivables are onalysed by the
cgeing and value of the debts. Customers with any overdue debts are contacted for payment
and progress is tracked on a credit ¢control report. Based on these procedures, management
assessed the credit quality of those receivables that are neither past due nor impaired as fow
risk. There have been no significant changes to the composition of receivables counterparties
within the Group that indicate this would change in the future.

The Directors consider that the carrying omounts of trode and other receivables are
reasonable approximations of their fair value.



124  Ebiquity pk Strateqic report Corporate governance

Annual report and financial staterments for the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements wntinved

for the year ended 31 December 2022

25. Capital and financial risk management continued

Credit risk continued
Trade receivables continued
The following is an analysis of the Group's trade receivables identifying the totals of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

Past due Past due

Total + 30 days + 60 days

£'000 £'000 £'000

At 31 December 2022 6,380 3,027 3,353
At 31 December 2021 2,821 1275 1,546

Financial assets past due but not impaired
The following is an analysis of the C -oup's provision against trade receivables:

31 December 2022

31 December 2021

Grass value Provision  Carrying value Gross velue Provision  Carrying value
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade receivables 23,569 (84) 23,485 14,517 1) 14,406

The Group records impairment losses on its trade receivables separately from the gross amount receivable. £153,00C impairment reported during the year. Impaired receivables are provided

against based on expected recoverability. The movements on this provision during the year are summarised below:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£'000 E£'GO0
Opening balancs m 301
Increase in provision - 13
Written off against provision 3 as<
Recovered amount reversed a7 (68)
Foreign exchange 3 )]
Closing balance 84 m
Market risk
Market risk arises from the Group's use of interest-bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial instruments. There is a risk that the fair value of future cash flows of ¢ financial instrument

will fluctuate because of changes ir interest rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates {currency risk) or other market facters (other price risk).
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25. Capital and financial risk management continued

Market risk continued

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk from bank loans and a revelving credit facility.

To illustrate the Group's exposure to nterest rate risk, a 0.5% increase/decrease in the rate
applied to the Group's borrowings would have resulted in a post-tax movermnent of £151,654
(2021: £49.957).

Currency risk

The Group is exgosed to currency risk on foreign currency trading and intercompany balances,
and also on the foreign currency baak accounts which it hotds. These risks are of fset by the
holding of certain foreign currency bank borrowings. The translation of the assets and
liabilities of the Group's overseas s. bsidiaries represents a risk to the Group's equity balances.

The Group's expasure to currency risk ot the year end can be illustroted by the following:

31 December 2022 39 Decermber 2021

Increase Increase
in profit Increase in profit Increase
tefore tax’ in equity’ before tax’ nequity’
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
10% strengthering of
US doliar {853} 1,707 (98) 1,877
10% strengthening of euro 613 1,254 592 1,335
10% strengthening of
Australian doller 50 516 (18] 532

1 Anegual weakering of any currency woulc broadly have the opposite effect.

The currency profile of the financial assets at 31 December 2022 is as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

Net trade receivables

31 December

31 December

31 December

31 December

2022 2027 2022 2021

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

2,583 4,237 9,374 4,374

o n.‘_mo . HONO, w_mu_o. N,_u..w

#.#bm. 4,782 . . m.mo».: .,m_www:

mmoi ‘ :,__mow Neo “““ ‘ w.ﬁ.

._,Mﬁm,m,._omz_wocc_m. N._o. . 30 o 51 mmw.
mm:m.cco:w dollar ,uum 50 . 144 .SN
Chinesa renminbi 951 1082 892 535
_:.n_.m.o: Eum.m 140 81 154 80
New Zealond doflar - - 90 47

ijﬁmm...w_..mc mB,_:.u,nm

dirham - - 16 M6
50 - - 68

Swiss frane - — - m..
Indonesian Rupiah - - - -
.mc_mo.._oj rm,..m ..... 27 , — ._o —
Danish Krone 51 - 170 -
Canadian Dollars 238 - 1417 -
W.,.\.,.\ma_m: ,_A._‘OD....“_ 194 ‘ — wro -
12,360 13134 23,332 14,406

Other price risks

The Group does not have any material exposure to other price risks.
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25, Capital and financial risk management continued

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group's management of working capital and the finance charges
and principal repayments on its dekis instruments, the risk being that the Group may not meet
its financial obligations as they fall cue.

The liquidity risk of each Group compony is managed centrally by the Group. All surplus cash in
the UK is held centrally to maximise the returns on deposits through econornies of scale. The
type of cash instrument used, and izs maturity date, will depend on the Group's ferecast cash
requirements. Throughout the year, the Group maintained a revolving credit facility with
Barclays end NatWest {see note 19) te manage any short-term cash requirements,

At 31 December 2022, £8,500,000 (31 December 2021: £5,000,000) of the revolving credit
facility was undrawn, The facility exaires in March 2025, extendable for up to a further twao
years, at which point drawndown ameunts will be repayable.

It is a condition of the borrowings that the Group posses various covenant tests on ¢ quarterly
basis and the Group finance team ragularly monitors the Group forecasts to ensure they are
not breached.

Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The following tasles set out the catzgories of financial instruments held by the Group. All of
the Group's financial assets and liapilities are measured at cmortised cost.

Financial assets

31 December 31 December

2022 202
£'000 £'000
0:22._4.* :n:nmn_ ossets

>3,_o_.ﬁ sed n_umn ““““““““““
.j.oam o:a otherreceivables' Mm.woc 16,094
Lease ﬂmnm_,\ou_nm (hote® I - 141 146
Oom_v._...m.na cash equivalents nzoﬁm %) ‘ ‘ ._w.wo,o.,,,.. o 13134
38,010 29,374

1 Trade and other receivables includes net t-ade recevables and other receivables and excludes prepayments and contract
assets

Financial liabilities
31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£'000 £000
o::.mzn ."__..o:n_o_ __a_u___n_am
Om_Jm_. r:o:n_o_ o_u cmm at n.,_::oﬁ:wmm cost:
.:dnm Q_Jn_ On:m_. UD%DU_mm ................... o.muh 4,238
>nn_.co_m “““““““ u._sw._o 14,043 .
Lease liabilities? 1328 2566
EoU ties at ,no:. <.n:cm nJ__.oc@r n:.o,n_n o:a _me S
Dm*m:,ma no:m_am_dn_o: : 61 —
29,529 20,847
21,235 17,90
Dm;nmlma nongzmm:ﬁ ability 2,122 -
Lease liabilities? ) b omh, w;m.m.w
28,01 21,726
Total financial liabilities 57,540 42,573

1 Trade and other payables includes trade payables and other payables and excludes other taxation and social security

and contract habilitics

2  Lease hobilities are these recognised in accerdance with IFRS 16
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25, Capital and financial risk management continued

Financial liabilizies continued

The following table illustrates the cc ntractual maturity analysis of the Group's financial

Within One to
one year five years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 December 2022
ﬂdm.m and Oﬁ:mﬂ payables R o.mna -
)nn_,co_m “““““ : ) 7316 -
Bank loons o:azo,..mmaﬂn_?m ._.mmm ,,,,,,,,, um.mmo
Deferred consideration - - 2022
Do,ﬂm:..ma contingent nO:m,_amado.m o o._ ““““ -
' o T ,. ...d.mﬁ a.cOm
Undiscounted cash flows 31,559 29,877
Less: finance charges allocated - R
to future periods (2,029 (1,867) (3,896)
Present value 29,529 28,0Mm 57,540
At 31 December 2021
Trode and other payables 4,238 — a3
>Mw+co_w ,,,,,,,,, - S F_Ob.w. ,,,,,,,,, — o \_Pobm
Bonk loans and werdrafts O se8 1844 18992
_um,omm, liabilities' . S NHR. o,mbm
21,573 43915
Less: finance charges allocated o
to future pericds (785) (557) (1,342)
Present value 20,788 21,785 42,573

1. Lease habilities are those recognised in Gecordance with IFRS 18

Fair value measurement

The following table provides an analysis of finoncial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition ot fair value, grouped intc Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to
which the fair value is ocbservable:

) Level1fairvalue measurements are those derived from guoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

)} Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1that are observable for the asset or liobility, either directly or indirectly;
and

Y} Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include
inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on cbservable market data.

Level 1 lLevel 2 Level 3 Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 December 2022
;o:n_m U ies ‘
,m..”.o.rw:.,.@..mjm:nmswimBﬁo: - - N.._,u,n . 2,122
- - 2,122 2,122

nancial liabilities

Contingent consideration — — — _

Refer to note 19 for a recenciliation of moverments during the year,

The fair value of the contingent consideration is £2,122,000 (31 December 2027 £nil).

26. Dividends
No dividends were paid or declared during the current and prier financial years. Dividends were
paid to nan-controlling interests as shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.



tion o Obbﬁ.w
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28. Acquisitions continued
An assessment o~ fair value of the acquired net assets of each company has been made as at
31 December 2022 as follows:

Forde and Semple Media Works
The fair volue of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of Forde and Semple is as
follows:

£00C

Cash 703
.U..m.m.m.:ma Consideration R - o Oh...
767

The corrying value and the provisional fair value of the net assets recognised ot the dote of
acquisition are:

Carrying value n&:u».:m_u_..,“ Fair value

£'000 £'000 £'000

Property, plant cnd equiprment 3 - 3

Trade and other receivables 285 - 245

Cash and cash mgr._._,.\o_m:ﬂm ,,,,,,, 59 - 59
Trade and mﬁ.m...,_mﬁ paycbles .. S . ..G.,am& . B 0&3,

Deferred E‘W‘_‘_c bilities . - - - -

Net assets acquired 61 - 61

Ooom.g__ arising from ﬁrm .n.u.nn_c_m_:o: S - - o 706

Total purchase consideration 767

The goodwill arising reflects Forde and Semple's market leading position in Canada and the
benefits to the Croup of retaining profits on projects previously outsourced to the Company.

Media Management LLC (‘MMi')
The fair value of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of Medio Management LLC is
as follows;

£000
Cash 5126
..mjoﬂ,mm - D ; - o oqo
Contingent Considerction 2,121
8,223

The carrying value and the provisional fair value of the net assets recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

Carrying vatve n&cunqsm_w“ Foir value

£'000 £'000 £'000

Customer contracts and relationships - 1,442 1,442

Technology ~ onnc:mawoﬁs\o re oqu - 687 o 1,660
Property, plant and equipment s - 63

ﬂ.anm and other _.mnm,_i.uc_mw I ouo - ‘ 976
Bank overdraft o (35) ‘ - (35)
Trade ond other payobles . ,nu.._m.: o - {2,131)
Deferred tax liabilities o - - , -

Net assets acquired {154) 2,129 1,975

Ooomé:_ arising on Onnc_..m OJ. ......................................... m.m#m

Tetal purchase consideration 8,223

Goodwill reflects the benefits of MMI's customer bese in USA and its Circle Audit technology
and the scale benefits expected from combining its business with Ebiquity's existing US
business.
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28. Acquisitions continued

Media Path Network AB

The fair value of the purchase consiczration for the acquisition of Media Path Network is as
follows:

£'000

Cash 12,110
m:n._.nm., S 3,875
15,985

The carrying value and the provisione! fair value of the net assets recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

Carrying value a&cuz.:n_u_..,“ Fair valve
£'000 £'000 £'000
Customer contrazts and relationships - 6,107 6,107
Enmg.mm .p@ﬁmmBm:w. S - 2
_wﬂ_u,nm_‘ﬂx U_o:m o_ma equipment : ) s -
Cash and no,mj equivalents I 824 -
ﬁ,oam and ogmr ﬁwom?.oc_mm S ..,,p_omw | -
Trade and other payables ~ (1320) - (1,320)
Deferred tox liabilities - ey (1,763
1,580 6,797 8,377

7,608

Goodwill arising cn acquisition

Total purchase consideration 15,985

Goodwill reflects Media Path's global market position and customer base as welt as its licence
over the GMP technology platform and the benefits this offers.

29. Disposals

There were no disposals in the year.

30. Contingent liabilities

The Group is subject to claime and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business and
provision is made where liabilities are considered likely to arise on the basis of current
informatien and legat advice. There were no such liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

31. Related party transactions
The Group has a releted party relationship with its subsidiaries (refer to note 14) and key
management personnet including Directors and Executive Committee members.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, or between subsidiaries, have been
eliminated on censelidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the Directors, who are considered to be the key management personnel
of the Group, is set out in note 5. There were no post-employment or other long-term benefits
other than contributions to private pension schemes.

Transactions with companies reloted to key management personnel

32. Events after the reporting period

There have been no events ofter the reporting pericd.
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Restoted”  The Company hos taken advantage of the exempticn allowed under section 408 of the

31 December 31December  Companies Act 2004 not to p-esent its own income statement in these financial statements.
2022 202t
Note £'000 £000  The movement in reserves of the Company includes a loss for the year of £4,256,000 (2021:

loss for the year of £3,724,000).

Non-current assets

meoses
.mﬁ_._ﬁ-o,némm assets R . g . N.Oows of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:
Investments in suosidiaries 9 48,854

>Eocim oé,,m.,.m..mv.,.u_.o% undertakings - . , 1 , 20,267

Umﬁm_.ﬂ.ma tax ommmw ........... JO : M,_w

Total non-current assets 94 218 74,338 Alan Newman

Current assets Chief Financial and Operating Officer
Trade and other receivables - n o ._O:M.ﬂ “““ ) m_mam Ebiquity plc. Registered Na. 03967525
Cash at Uo:rmja.,_,,: ro:a - S - ,.wmu . 1097 30 March 2023

Totol current assets o 0983 7910

mem#mqmu ngocmmu.._m.n._._._rm n._c..m , ‘ - . R

within one year 12 {356,969 (33,643)

Net current liabilizies (26,006) (25,733)

Total assets less current liabilities 68,212 48,605

Creditors: 03%33 falling due s -

after more than one year (23,309) (19916}

Net assets 44903 28,689

Equity

Called up share cepital A 30,060 20,682

m:ImE vﬁmE_cﬂ:.onnoc:ﬁ 15 ._o,mwm ......... 255

Other reserves _, R 15 g3 (73

Retained earnings S 15 4713 8485

Total shareholders’ funds 44,903 28,689

1. Refer tonote 2 for further details.
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Share Share Other Retamed
nOU;H: premium reserves egrnings Totat
Note £'000 E£'0C0 £000 £000 E£'Q00
At 1 January 2021 20,646 255 (733) 11.893 32,060
Loss for the yea _ - - - (724) (3.724)
Other nOBUﬂm:m:mZm_‘mmc_ﬁ forthevear — - - - -~
Total comprehensive income for the year - - — (3,724) (3,724)
- — 3 33
Share-bosed payments cre - - — 262 : Mom
,,O,o.n,_ﬁo_ ,oOsnw.cho: reloting to sha-e-based payments - - - 57 57
D_So_mmmw to m.rm_.m:o_am_.m N M_b ‘ I — — - —
At 31 December 2021 20,682 255 (733} 8,485 28,689
Profit for the yer - - - @256
Oﬁ:mﬂ no?ﬂﬂmrmgm?m result fortheveor T - - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (4,256) (4,256)
Proceeds from shares issued - (36) 19,950
mjo_.m._uomma Uo«‘ﬂ:m:ﬁm credit - - - m,bm ) mhm,..
.Wn._.m_,.ma_ n.o.mﬂ _uc:o: ﬁm_n:mm no mjaﬁ.m-ﬁomma.vav?mzﬁm , - - - . .nmmv
Dividends to shareholders S - - - — -
At 31 December 2022 30,060 10,863 (733) 4,713 44,903

The notes on pagas 133 to 141 are an ntegral part of the financial statements of the Company,
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1. General information

Ebiquity plc (the ‘Company') acts as 3 holding company and is incorporated and domiciled in
the UK. The Company is a public limited company and is limited by shares. The address of its
registered of fice is Chapter House, 16 Brunswick Place, London N1 6DZ.

The financial statements of the Company represent the results for the year ended
31 December 2022 whilst the comparatives represent the results for the year ended
31 December 2021.

The financial statements presant information about the Company as an individual
undertaking and not about its Group

2. Basis of preparation
This nate sets out details of the basis of preparation and accounting policies that are

applicable specifically to the Compary financial statements. The Group accounting policies set

out on pages 89 to 98 also apply to the Company financial staterments.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial

Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ ('FRS 107'), The financial statements

have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Company meets its day-to-day working
capital requirements through its cast reserves and borrowings, described in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The fingncial statements have been prepared under the histerical cost convention and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 as applicable te companies using FRS 101,

The Company has token advantage of the follewing disclosure exemptions under FRS 101

a. the requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46-52 of IFRS 2 'Shere-based Payment' {details of
the number of weighted-average exercise prices of share options, and how the fair value of
goods and services received was determined),;

b. the requirements of IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures';

c. the requirements of paragraphs 91to 89 of IFRS 73 'Fair Value Measurement' {disclosure of
valuation techniques and inputs used for “fair value measurement’ of assets and liabilities);

d. the requirement in parograph 38 of 1AS 1'Presentation of Financiol Statements’ to present
comparative information in respect of:

I paragraph 79@)(iv) of IAS 1;
Il. paragraph 73(E) of IAS 16 'Property, Plant and Equipment’;

I\, paragraph T18(E) of 1AS 38 ‘Intangible Assets' (reconciliations between the carrying
amount at the beginning and end of the period);

The following paragraphs cf IAS 1'Presentation of Financial Statements’:
. 10D (statement of cash flows);
I 16 (stotement of compliance with all IFRS);

. 38A {requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow
staternents);

IV. 38B-D (additional comparative infermation);
V. 1M1 {cash flow statement information); and
V1. 134-136 {capital management disclosures).

e. |AS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows'

f. paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies', changes in accounting estimates and
errors (requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new
IFRS that has been issued but is not yet effective);

g. paragraph 17 of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures' (key mcnagement compensation); and

h. the requirements in IAS 24 ‘Reiated Party Disclosures' to disclose related porty transactions
entered inte between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidicry which is
a party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member.
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Notes to the Company financial statements cntinves

for the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Basis of preparation continued

Prior year restatement
The prior year statement of financial position has been restated to reflect a reclassification of
balances owed by Group undertakings.

The restatement nas the effect of rezlassifying balances from current assets ond to
non-current assets based upon the expected timing of realisation of the balances owed,

2021 2021 200
Reported Adjustment Restated
£'000 £'000 £000
Statement of financial position
Non-current assets:
Amounts owed b¥ Group undertakings — 20,267 20,267
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 27,080 (20,267} 6,813

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted for the Company financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all pericds presented, unless otherwise stated.

Finance income and expenses

Finance income and expenses represznts interest receivable and payable. Finance income and
expense is recogn sed on an accruals sasis, based on the interest rate applicable to each bank
or loan account.

Foreign currency transactions

The results and financial position of the Company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is
the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency for the Company
financial statements.

Trading transactions denominated in foreign currencies are transioted into sterling at the
exchange rate ruling when the trensaction was entered into. Assets and liakilities expressed in
fareign currencies are translated inte sterling at rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
financial period.

All transactions involving foreign exckange gains and losses are dealt with through the income
statement as and when they arise.

Retirement benefits

For defined contribution pension schemes, the Company pays contributions ta privately
administered pension plans on a voluntary basis. The Company has no further payment
abligations once the contributions have been paid. Contributions are charged to the income
statement in the period to wkich they relate.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive poyment is established.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distributicn to the Company's sharehclders is recognised as a liability in the
Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are gpproved by the
Company's shareholders.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The Directors
believe the carrying value of these investments is supported by their adjusted net assets, Any
changes to the carrying value of investments after the measurement pericd are recognised in
the income statement.

Where the purchase consideration for the acquisition of an interest in a subsidiary is
contingent on one or more future events, the cost of investment includes o reasonable
estimate of the fair value of the amounts of consideration thot are expected to be payable in
the future. The cost of investment and the contingent considerotion liability 1s adjusted until
the ultimate payable is known.

Share capital
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the amount of the proceeds
received, net of direct issuance costs.
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Notes to the Company financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 Decemker 2022

3. Company results for the vear
The Company has token advantoge of the exernption allowed under section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006 not to present its own income statement in these financial statements.

The movement in reserves of the Company includes a loss for the year of £4,256,000 (2021
loss for the year ¢f £3,724,000).

4, Operating profit

Auditors' remureration

Fees for the audit of the Company were £5,000 (2021: £3,000). Fees paid to the Company's
auditors for services other than the statutory audit of the Company are disclosed in note 4 to
the consolidated “inancial stotements,

Directors’ remuneration
Fees paid to the Company's Directors are disclosed in note 5 to the consohdated financial
statements.

5. Employee information
The monthly average number of emrloyees employed by the Company during the year,
including Executive Directors, was as follows:

31 December 31 December

2022 200

£'000 £'000

Directors 7 7
Other staff 32 Y
Total 39 38

At 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the Company was 41
(31 December 2021: 38).

Staff costs for all employees, including Executive Directors, consist of:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2027
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 3,226 2,660
377 394
Cther pension costs 62 &7
Share options charge 545 262
Total staff costs 4,210 3,383
6. Tax on profit/(loss)
Yeoar ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£7000 £'000
The tox charge is made up as follows:
Current tax 25 18
Deferred tax
Qrigination and reversal of timing differences 57 (15
Taxation - -
Total tax charge 82 3

The tax assessment for the year differs (2021: differs) to the standard rate of corporation tex

in the UK of 19.00% (31 December 2021: 19.00%).
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6. Tax on profit/(loss) continLed

The differences are explained below:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2027
£'000 £000
(Loss) before taxction (4,174) (3,721)
(Loss) ot the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
of 19.00% (2021: 19.00%) {793) {707)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible/{income) nct taxable 303 (160)
Depreaciation in exzess of capital allowances (2) -
Additions to intangibles - 24
Relieved to other Group companies 820
Adjustments to tax credit in respect >f prior years 13
Withholding tox suffered {116) -
Deferred tax 57 15)
Tax charge for the year 82 3

Deferred tax on unremitted earnings has not been recognised as management does not
intend to pay dividends from jurisdictians where o tex charge would be incurred and dividends

received ore not taxed in the UK.

7. Intangible assets

Financial statements

Research and Computer
development software Totol
£'000 £'0C0 £'000

At1January 2022 3,947 1,576 5,517
Additions 248 - 248
_u.m..mnOmo_m ............ - .AB nnu
At 31 December 2022 4,189 1,574 5,763
Amortisation
At1Jenuery2022 (1.236) (1.389) (2,623)
Additions M - o)
Disposals R 2 2
Charge for theyear asn (182) (939
At 31 December 2022 (1,992) (1,569) (3,561
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 2,197 5 2,202
At 31 December 2021 2,707 187 2,89
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8. Right-of-use assets and lease liabi
Right-of-use assets

Buildings Total
£'000 £'000

Cost
At 1 Jonuary 2021 4936 4936
Disposals S . ,,..,Am@v ,,,,, , Amcu
At 31 Umnm_.:cmﬂ NOM._ 4,847 4,847
Impairment dﬂoﬂ ﬁrm year o ‘ R ‘ G.wonv n__.w..o..mu
At 31 December 2022 3,455 3,455
>nn:3c_nnmn_ nmv«mn_nn.oz
>w 1 LQ:CDJ\ NOM,_ R N ﬁ‘_ mmwv.. o A.__m.meu.
Charge for the year - . o (969) ©969)
_BUn_qﬁ:mmm“‘mOa ﬂ:uxmoﬂ S , o ) 101 .._o._..,
b& ._ Lo:coJ\ 2022 Q 750} (2,750)
O:Q.@m moﬂ the year . - o Guwu. (953)
Impaoirment for th2 year : R 917 e._u_‘
At 31 December 2022 (2,685) (2,685)
Net book value
At 31 Umnm:a_qmw Nn_nm S T - .:__O 770
At 31 December 2021 2,097 2,097

Lease liabilities

Financial statements

Buildings Total
£000 £'000
Oomﬁ
At 1 January 2021 3884 3,884
m..mm; payments in Hrm v\maw . oﬁ:& Sﬁo
_sﬁmﬂmmnnroﬁm intheyear 05 ._Om.
At m,_ _UmntUmﬂ 2021 w 045 w Obw
Oom: payments intheyear A._ Nmov, ,,,,,,, n._ umov
_:ﬁmﬂmm.ﬁ charge in the year 40 - 70
At 31December 2022 1,856 1,854
Current 313 313
Nan- nc_.:wjn .__mbw ,,,,,,, 1,543

The future value of the minimum lease payments is as follows:

Minimum iease payments

31 December

31 Decernber

2022 2021
£'000 £000

Amounts due:
S_._;_:m_‘.‘dm year .ouw ) 1574
mm?ammz oneg and two xmoqm ““““““ 453 1,259
mmﬁémm: ﬂ<<o n_:a nj_.mm years - w._m.
mmﬁémmg three 030_ moc_‘ years - -
mm.ms\mm: ,nocﬁ o:a ,n_<m years - -
roﬁma 15: r<m years - —
1,358 3148
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9. Investments in subsidiaries

£'000
Cost and net book value
At 1 January 2021 . 48807
>Qa_n_o,__,dm., ) o B . m.m..
At 31 December 27321 48,864
.DrmnOmo_m ““““ ‘ nnbv
At 31 December 2022 48,840

The Companry's principal trading subsidiaries and associated undertakings are listed in note 14
to the consolidoted financial statements.

The Directors befieve that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their adjusted
net assets, based an the impairment assessment carried out, as described in note 10 to the
consolidated financicl statements.

The disposals in the year relates to tha allocation of £24,000 of the share option credit, being
the portion ottributable to stoff employed by subsidiaries of the Company.

10. Deferred tax asset

Tangible assets Total

£'000 £'000

At 1 January 2027 201 201

Credit to income . - ) o 15 .ﬁ,m

At 31 December 2021 216 216
Debit to income sn (s7)

At 31 December 2022 159 159

The following is the anclysis of the deferred tox balonce for financial reporting purposes:

31 December

31 December

2022 201

£'Q00 £'000

Deferred tax assets - nen-current 15% 216
Umwm,ﬂﬂma taxfiabilities - current o - _
Deferred tax __o_u.,::mm - Jm_p_;..‘uclmnw - - -
159 216

Deferred tax relates to the timing differences arising on adoption of IFRS 16. A deferred tax
asset has arisen since the depreciation of the right-of-use asset exceeds the lease cash

payments made.

There are no unrecognised defarred tax assets.
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11, Trade and other receivables

Restated
31 December 31 December
2072 2021
£000 £'000
Trade and other receivables due within one year
Trade receivables . . Non 240
>30c:mm owed by Group undertakings 8,243 5,448
Other receivables s 722
Oﬁy,m.,ﬂ taxation ojn.“_ social security 499 161
._uﬂmuov:jm:ﬁm ._hmo 247
10,441 6,813
Other debtors due after more than one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 42,247 20,267

12. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

31 December

31 Decemnber

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Bank loans ana overdrafts (159) (59)
Tradecreditors 3,23 RREFVEY
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 32,561 28,712
Lease liabilities {(note 8) S 313 1,504
Other taxation and social security o - -
Accruals S . 1,008 2,363
36,9469 33,643

13. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

31 December

31December

2022 2021

£°000 E'000

21,395 17960

....... muw . b._o.

Lease ligbilities (note 8) , o - :d.mwm .fmﬂ
23,309 19,917
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14, Called up share capital

Number
of shares  Norminal value
£'000 £'000
..... 82583256 20,646
Shares issued . B - —
m:mﬂm‘m‘ndo:m..mkm..nﬁ.mm e e .Fw_owm ey
At 31 December 2021 - ordinary shares of 25p 82,728,890 20,682
Sharesissued - 36958789 9,240
Share o,n:n,v..m.w exarcised o mmw.woN o ._wm
At 31 December 2022 - ordinary sharas of 25p 120,241,181 30,060

Qrdinary shares ccrry voting rights which are entitled to share in the prefits of the Company.
No dividend was paid in the current year (2021: nil per share, a total of £nil) to shareholders.
The share issues during the year were made in conngction with the acquisitions of Media
Management LLC and Media Path Network AB. 28,301,856 shares were issued as o result of
the placmg in April 2022 and 8,656,933 shares were issved directly to the vendors.

15. Reserves

Share premium

The share premium reserve of £10,863,000 (31 December 2021; £255,000) shows the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of the nominal value.

Other reserves
Other reserves consists of the merger reserve and ESOP reserve.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arose on the issuance of shares at a premium on a Group restructure,
where the premium on 1ssue qualified for merger relief. There has been no movement i
the year.

ESOP reserve

The ESOP reserve represents the cost of own shares acquired in the Company by the Employee
Benefit Trust ('EBT'). The purpose of the EBT is to facilitate and encourage the ownership of
shares by employees, by acquiring shares in the Company and distributing them in accordance
with employee share schemes. The EBT may operate in conjunction with the Company's
existing share option schemes and other schemes that may apply from time to time.

The ESCP trusts were created to award shares to certain employees ot less than market
value. The trusts in aggregate hold unalloccted shares costing £1,471,000 (31 December 20271
E£1,471,000) funded by the Company. The sponsoring company is responsible for the
administration ond maintenance of the trust. The number of shares held by the trusts
4,201,504 (31 December 2021: £,201,504), ail of which dre under option to the employees of the
Group. As at the statement of financial position date, all of the shares in the ESCP had vested
(31 December 2027; ol had vested).

Retained earnings

The retained earnings reserve shows the cumulative net gains and losses recognised in the
incormne statement. For detailec movements on each of the above reserves, refer to the
statement of changes in equity

The distributable reserves of the Company total £4,713,000 (31 December 2027; £8,485,000).
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16, Share-based payments
Full disclosure of share-based payments is included in the consolidated financial statements
(see note 24 to the consolidated financial statements).

17. Commitments
Capital commitments contracted but not provided for by the Company amount to £nil
(21 December 2021: £nil).

18. Contingent liabilities

The Company is subject to claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business and
provision is made where liobilities are considered likely to arise ¢n the basis of current
information and legal advice.

19. Related party transactions

Under FRS101.8(k}, the Company is exempt from the requirement to disclose transactions
with entities that are part of the Ebiquity plc Group, or investees of the Group qualifying as
related parties, as all of the Company’s voting rights are contro led within the Group. The
Company has no other material related parties. Related party transactions are detailed in
note 31 to the conselidated financial statements.

Transactions with key managemert personnel
FRS 101.8{}) exempts entities from the disclosures in respect of he compensation of key
management personnel.

20. Audit exemption of subsidiaries
The following subsidiaries are exempt from the reguirements of the UK Companies Act 2006

reloting to the gudst of individual accounts in the year ending 31 December 2022 by virtue of
3479C of the Act.

Registered
Narne number
BCMG Limited 3013406
Checking >a<mr.ﬂm_:@ mm.Z_n,mw ELﬁﬁmQ wmmOuM.\
Fbiquity Asia Pacific Limited - 3528287
Ebiquity Associates Limited 3300123
Ebiquity CEE Limited 3723076

Ebiquity UK Limited 2454455
WUR._..C_Q US Financing Limited 8633401
Ebiguity US Holdings Limited | B632518
_”om_,c_,o?mq _‘.‘m‘:w‘m_mw Limited ) mmbwoqw
FLE Holdings Limited 5819100
_m,_m.?_._,u,.,wgm.”oﬂ#m ,Oﬂocv _u_Bme. o ommwowm ,
_u_,ﬂ,.:._DmoEo:m Limited owmwo.ﬁ ‘

The Register Group Limited 1658972

Xtreme Information Services Limited 4244794

The cutstanding liagilities as at 31 December 2022 of the above-named subsidiaries have been
guaranteed by Ebiquity plc (registered company number 039467525) pursuant to s479A to
s479C of the Act. In the opinion of the Directors, the possibility of the guarantee being cailed
upon is remaote.
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Advisers

Auditors
Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
London EC4A 3BZ

Nominated adviser and broker
Panmure Gordon (UK) Limited

40 Gracechurch Street

London EC3V ORT

Financial PR
Camarco

3rd Floor
Cannongate House
62-64 Cannon Street
London EC4N 6AE

Corporate governance Financial statements

Shareholder information

information and contact details

for shareholders
Ebiquity plc is registered in England and Wales with
registered number 03967525

Registered office:
Chapter House

16 Brunswick Place
Londen N16DZ

Company Secretary
Lorraine Young
companysecretary@ebiquity.com

Shareholders can sign up to receive emails when the
Company makes regulatory announcements. Details
are in the investor section of the Company's website,
www.ebiquity.com.

Investor relations queries and notifications of changes to
major shareholdings for the purposes of the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules should be sent to the
Company Secretary cs above.

Shareholders can atso contact the registrars for any
guestions about their shareholding at:

Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol

BS99 6Z7

Telephone helptine: 0370 707 1345

Or go to www.investorcentre.co.uk to use the online Investor
Centre service

Analyst coverage and research
Jehnathon Barrett - Panmure Gordon -
www.panmure.com/sclutions/research/
Roddy Davidson — Shore Capital —
www.shorecapmarkets.co.vk

Fiona Orford Williams - Edison Group -
www.edisongroup.com/company/ebiquity/

Investor Meet Company

Ebiquity shares presentations of its full and half-year results
via the Investor Meet Company platform. Anyone can register
on the platform and receive invitations tc these
presentations, which are given by the CEO and CFO. There is
the opportunity for investors and potential investors to ask
questions at the end of the presentation.

To register with Investor Meet Company please visit
www.investormeetcompany.com/
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Glossary

AIM
Board
CEQ
CFO
CGUs

Ebiquity or
the Company

EBIT
EBITDA
EBT
EPS
ESOP
FMCG
FRS 101
EVQCI
FVPL

Alternative [nvestrient Market

the Board of Direc:ors of Ebiguity plc
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financicl Officer

cash-generating units

Ebiguity plc

zarnings before int2rest and tax

2arnings before intarest, tax, depreciotion and amartisation
=mployee Benefit Trust

earnings per share

Executive Share Option Plan

fast-moving consurmer goods

Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’

fair value through ozher comprehensive income

fair value through p-ofit or loss

Strategic report

the Group
IFRS

1SBA

KPls

Lnp

Net debt
QCA Code
RCF
SONIA
TSR

Corporate governance Financial statements

Ebiquity plc and its subsidiaries

Internctional Financial Reporting Standards

Incorporated Society of British Advertisers

key performance indicators

Long-Term Incentive Pian

long-term berrowings, short-term borrowings less cosh and cash equivalents
Quoted Companies Allionce Corporate Governance Code

revolving credit facility

Sterling Overnight Index Average

total shareholder return
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Alternative performance measures

In these results we refer to ‘adjusted’ and ‘reported’ results, as well as other non-GAAP
alternative perfornance meosures.

Further details of nighlighted items oe set out within the financial statements and the notes
to the financial statements.

In the reporting of financial information, the Directars have adopted various alternative
performance measures (APMs'). The Group includes these non-GAAP measures as they
consider them to be both useful and recesscry to the readers of the fincncial statements te
help understand the performance of ~he Group. The Group's measures may not be calculated
in the same way as similarly titled measures reported by other companies and therefore
should be considerad in addition to IF RS measures. The APMs are consistent with how
business performance is measured internally by the Group.

Alternative Performance Measures uced by the Group are:
Net revenue

Organic revenue growth

Adjusted operating profit

Adjusted operating margin

Adjusted profit before tox

Adjusted effective rate of tax

Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted cash generated from operations, and

LA R L .

Adjusted operating cash flow conve -sion.

Net revenue is the revenue after deducting external production costs and is reconciled on the
face of the income statement.

Organic revenue growth is defined as revenue growth in the existing business excluding the
revenue contripution in the year from acquisitions made during i,

Adjusted operating profit, adjusted profit before taxation and adjusted profit after toxation
are reconciled to their statutory equivalents on the face of the consolidated income
statement. Adjusted earnings per share is reconciled to statutory earnings per share in note 9.

Adjusted effective tax rote is calculated by comparing the current and deferred tax charge for
the current year, excluding prior year provision movements to the adjusted profit before
taxation, The rate for the current year is calculated as follows:

£'000 £'000
Adjusted profit before taxation A 7967
C._.A..wox.nc_%m:ﬂ year - . 114
Foreign tax current year taxaton 1973
Deferred tax currentyeor (380).
Adjusted taxation . B 1,707
Effectivetaxrate (A/B) _  nm

Taxation figures are taken from note 7 to the consolidated financial stotements.



Alternative performance measures continve

Adjusted cash generated from operazions is defined as the cash generoted from cperations
excluding the cash movements relating to the highlighted items. The calculation for the yecris
set out below:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£'000 £'000

Cash generated from operations 3,812 11,800
Add: Highlighted 1tems: cash items 2,514 471
Movement in work ng capital relating to highlighted items (138} 1,872
Adjusted cash generated from operations 6,188 13,200

Adiusted operating cash flow conversion is the ratio of the adjusted cash generated from
operations divided by the adjusted operating prefit, expressed cs a percentage. The rate for
the current year is calculated as follows:

E'000
Adjusted cash generated from operations 6188
Adjusted operating profit . - 9270
ﬂm.m,:,n03<m_.m_03...ﬁ.n._.m._.o S S ouo\o;
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